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Nordea in short



Nordea is the leading financial services group in the Nordic 

and Baltic Sea region and operates through three business areas: 

Retail Banking, Corporate and Institutional Banking and 

Asset Management & Life. The Nordea Group has more than 

10 million customers and 1,240 bank  branches.  

The Nordea Group is a world leader in Internet banking, 

with 3.3 million e-customers. The Nordea share is listed in 

Stockholm, Helsinki and Copenhagen. 
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Highlights of 2002

January
• Target of 2.7 million e-banking customers

achieved, new target of 3.2 million by the end
of 2002

April
• Hans Dalborg succeeds Vesa Vainio as Chair-

man of the Board

May
• Nordea makes agreement to acquire LG Petro

Bank in Poland 
• Nordea passes the 3 million mark in e-banking

customers

July 
• Tryg i Danmark smba buys Nordea’s general

insurance business 

August
• Nordea appoints new Group CEO – Lars G

Nordström succeeds Thorleif Krarup
• Nordea streamlines Investment Management

organisation

September
• New composition of Nordea Group Executive

Management
• Nordea Securities reduces staff and costs

October
• Nordea in cooperation with both IBM and

Microsoft to provide a global infrastructure for
Internet-based payments in e-commerce

November
• Nordea Securities reassesses strategy and

closes offices in London and New York

December
• Postgirot merges with Nordea
• Nordea surpasses its target of 3.2 million 

e-banking customers achieving 3.3 million.
New target of 3.7 million by the end of 2003

Challenging market conditions in 2002
• Total income reduced by 4% and expenses

increased by 2% adjusted for Postgirot Bank

• Loan losses lower at EUR 261m or 0.19% of
loans

• Earnings per share EUR 0.30 (EUR 0.53)

• Return on equity (excl. goodwill) 11.3%
(19.2%)

• Proposed dividend of EUR 0.23 per share
– unchanged vs 2001

Improvements achieved – more to be done
• Reduced earnings volatility – lower equity

exposure & sale of general insurance

• Capital efficiency improved – maintained
financial strength despite loan growth and
high proposed dividend payout

• Stable credit quality – low loan losses & con-
centration on Nordic customers

• Some cost initiatives taken – cost improvement
is top priority in 2003



Operational income statement 
Change

EURm 2002 2001 %

Net interest income 3,451 3,465 0
Commission income 1,535 1,432 7
Trading 530 543 –2
Other 154 165 –7

Income 5,670 5,605 1

Personnel expenses –2,086 –1,878 11
Other expenses –1,659 –1,511 10

Expenses –3,745 –3,389 11

Profit before loan losses 1,925 2,216 –13

Loan losses, net –261 –373 –30
Profit from companies accounted for under the equity method 52 95 –45

Profit before investment earnings and insurance 1,716 1,938 –11

Investment earnings, banking 122 172 
Operating profit, life insurance 2 –17 
Operating profit, general insurance –122 –18 
Goodwill depreciation –171 –147 

Operating profit 1,547 1,928 –20

Allocation to Pension Foundation –255 –
Taxes –405 –360 13
Minority interests 0 0 

Net profit 887 1,568 –43

Ratios and key figures

Earnings per share, EUR 0.30 0.53
Share price1, EUR 4.20 5.97 
Shareholders’ equity per share1, EUR 4.06 4.00 
Shares outstanding1,2, million 2,928 2,965 
Return on equity3, % 7.5 13.8
Return on equity excl goodwill3, % 11.3 19.2 
Lending1, EURbn 146 138 
Deposits1, EURbn 92 86 
Shareholders’ equity1, EURbn 12 12 
Total assets1, EURbn 250 242 
Assets under management1, EURbn 96 105 
Cost/income ratio, banking4, % 64 58 
Cost/income ratio, excluding investment earnings, % 65 59
Tier 1 capital ratio1, % 7.1 7.3
Total capital ratio1, % 9.9 9.1 
Risk-weighted assets1, EURbn 135 136

1 End of period.
2 Average number of shares Jan – Dec 2002 after full dilution (until September) was 2,955 million.
3 See definitions page 26.
4 See definitions page 26.
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Key financial figures



What’s your plan?



We always try to generate added value for 

each individual customer contributing 

to make things possible.



In the present economic environment, profitability and capital efficiency come before growth,

and increased cost efficiency has top priority going forward.

The  economic downturn, the magnitude and
length of the turbulence in the equity markets
and the geopolitical uncertainty have had a sig-
nificant impact on the entire financial industry
over the last couple of years. 

Nordea has of course also been affected by both
the downturn and the increased uncertainty.   

Our unique starting point with major operations
in four Nordic countries, however, forms a solid
platform for continued realisation of synergies
and capturing revenue growth. 

While the strategic direction and our vision are
unchanged, we have taken the necessary steps to
achieve rapid and continuous improvement of
our performance with increased cost efficiency as
the top priority.

2002 result: 
Acceptable, but still room for improvement
Falling equity-related revenues and exceptionally
low interest rates and their impact on deposit
margins hit core income in 2002. Similarly, falling
equity markets have affected life insurance in-
come and investment earnings.

Our 2002 results are acceptable given the difficult
market conditions, but still not satisfactory. How-
ever, we have started to see improvements as a
consequence of the identification and focus on
our short-term priorities. We have reduced the
earnings volatility and quarterly income has been
stable throughout the year. 

Risk-weighted assets and economic capital were
down in 2002. 

Despite the fact that loan losses have increased
slightly towards the end of the year, the quality of
the credit portfolio is satisfactory. 
In the present economic environment, profitabili-
ty and capital efficiency come before growth, and
increased cost efficiency will be the main focus
area going forward.
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A year of difficult market conditions
and increased focus



Throughout the organisation ongoing integration
and continuous improvement activities are ex-
pected to ensure that costs will be unchanged in
2003 compared to 2002.   

The performance of the Nordea share price in
2002 was not satisfactory either even though
some recovery was seen by the end of the year. 

Unchanged vision
Our vision of being valued as the leading finan-
cial services group in the Nordic and Baltic finan-
cial markets with substantial growth potential re-
mains unchanged. But in the present environ-
ment, profitability and more efficient use of capi-
tal must and will come before aggressively cap-
turing market share.

Priorities to improve performance
The priorities that guide the current strategy of
our business areas are all motivated by our drive
towards improved operating efficiency.

They are:
• Reducing volatility and ensuring growth of

income
• Ensuring capital efficiency
• Maintaining credit portfolio quality
• Speeding up integration and unification
• Improving cost efficiency  

To reduce the volatility of earnings we have di-
vested the general insurance business and re-
duced the equity exposure of pension funds and
Life & Pensions units within the Group. 

The divestment of the general insurance business
and the reduced equity exposure have improved

our use of capital together with divestments of
non-core businesses such as Contant Oy and
Europay Norge AS. 

The ongoing implementation of the economic
capital and economic profit framework will
further enhance the capital efficiency.

Our ambition is to maintain a high level of divi-
dends without jeopardising our capital ratio. This
means that the size and quality of assets will be
carefully observed and our risk management
must be proactive. Hence, business cases for po-
tential acquisitions must be strong. 

We have a well balanced and diversified credit
portfolio, but in order to maintain our stable cred-
it quality we continuously monitor the portfolio
with a proactive approach.

Specific cost savings initiatives include capping
IT development costs at 80% of the 2002 level,
corresponding to a cost saving target of approxi-
mately EUR 90m in 2003.

Within Retail Banking, structural changes are be-
ing implemented in Sweden and Norway, such as
consolidating staff functions in one location to
improve efficiency and reduce costs.

Following a strategic reassessment Nordea Secu-
rities’ operations in London and New York were
closed in the fourth quarter. 

Improving cost efficiency is the most urgent issue
going forward.
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Striking the right balance
We are well on our way to integrate and unify the
organisation into cross-Nordic business areas and
Group functions.

We have varied the approach to integration
across different areas in the organisation. 

In some areas, for example in wholesale banking,
we have chosen the “full and immediate” inte-
gration approach while in other areas, especially
within Retail Banking, we have chosen the ”unifi-
cation first” or “local improvements first” as the
most appropriate approach. 

Going forward, the change processes must and
will be even more focused and speedy, based on
strict prioritisation.
That is why a new unit Group Processing and
Technology has been established to coordinate
and speed up the integration and unification
process across the entire Group.

Revised financial targets
In order to adjust to the current market condi-
tions we have revised a few of our key financial
targets:

Return on equity should be above 15% from 2004.

Cost level should be maintained at the same level
through 2004 as in 2002.

Cost/income ratio of 55% by 2005 and with pres-
ent business mix. Should the implied revenue
growth in the cost/income ratio target fail, we
will take further steps to reduce costs. All other
targets remain unchanged.                        

Focus, speed and performance  
In combination with our new priorities, we use
three internal keywords to highlight the need for
improvements and changes in the organisation:

“Focus” means concentrating on our strengths.
This implies that we will change, close down or
divest businesses and activities which are not
core business, underperforming or not profitable.

“Speed” means being quick and flexible, having
smooth and efficient operations and always ad-
justing to market conditions. 

“Performance” means increasing performance
orientation by comparing and competing and al-
ways striving for continuous improvements in
everything we do. Do better today than yester-
day. Be better than the competitors.

Committed to doing better
Every employee in the Group deserves thanks for
bringing about the 2002 results and the very
strong platform which will form our basis for
further and continuous improvements.

We have already achieved a lot and will deliver
upon our promises to customers and sharehold-
ers  – despite challenging market conditions.

The entire organisation recognises the need for
further improvements. By focusing on our
strengths, being quick and flexible in adjusting to
market conditions and continuously improving
all that we do, we will make it possible.

Best regards

Lars G Nordström
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Shareholder and dividend policy
Generating shareholder value is the overall objec-
tive of Nordea. The Group aims at creating value
for the shareholders in the top five of its peer
group of European financial services companies.
Value for the shareholders is realised through
market value growth per share and dividends. 

Nordea pursues a policy of high dividends. The
total dividend payment will normally exceed
40% of the net profit for the year. The annual level
of dividends depends on market return require-
ments and the capital needed for developing the
business activities.

Total shareholder return
Total shareholder return (TSR) during year 2002
amounted to –28.1%. The calculation of TSR is
based on the share price development during the
year, assuming the dividend of EUR 0.23 per
share is reinvested in Nordea shares. The average
TSR in the peer group was –21.0% in 2002.

Share price development in 2002
During the year the share price of Nordea depre-
ciated by 30.8% on the Stockholm Stock Exchange
from SEK 55.50 on 28 December 2001 to SEK 38.40
on 30 December 2002. The daily prices listed for
the Nordea share during 2002 at the Stockholm
Stock Exchange ranged between SEK 63.50 and
SEK 30.20. 

The SX40 Financials Index of the Stockholm Stock
Exchange depreciated during the year by 33.8%,
the Dow Jones STOXX European banks index de-
preciated by 26.7%. 

From 6 March 2000, the announcement date for
the merger of MeritaNordbanken and Uni-
danmark, to the end of 2002 the share price of
Nordea has depreciated by 16.2% while Euro-
pean banks (as measured by the Dow Jones
STOXX European banks) have depreciated by
22.3%. 

The Nordea share

Nordea ranks among the 10 largest companies in the Nordic region in terms of market

capitalisation and is one of the most liquid shares in the region. Swedish institutional owner-

ship has increased during the year. Total shareholder return amounted to –28.1% in 2002.
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The market capitalisation of Nordea at the end of
2002 was approximately EUR 12.6bn. Ranked by
market capitalisation Nordea was the 5th largest
company in the Nordic area. 

The Nordea share is listed on the stock exchanges
in Stockholm (in SEK and EUR), Helsinki (EUR)
and Copenhagen (DKK).

Liquidity
The Nordea share is very liquid. In 2002, the aver-
age daily trading volume amounted to approxi-
mately EUR 67m corresponding to approxi-
mately 12.8 million shares. Turnover during the
year on the three stock exchanges combined
totalled approximately EUR 16.7bn which corre-
sponds to 3.2 billion shares. Of the total number
of shares traded in Nordea approximately 84%
(85% in 2001) was traded on the Stockholm Stock
Exchange, 8% (9%) on the Helsinki Stock Ex-

change and 8% (6%) on the Copenhagen Stock
Exchange. In Stockholm Nordea ranked as the
4th (4th) most traded share during the year. 

The Nordea share is represented in a number of
national, European and global indexes like Dow
Jones STOXX European banks, FTSE World
Europe, S&P Europe 350 and MSCI Banks. 

Trading in derivatives
Nordea’s shares can also be traded in the form of
put and call options, futures contracts, and lend-
ing with securities at the Stockholm Stock Ex-
change and OM London Exchange. Various bro-
kers also issue long-term warrants in Nordea that
are traded on the Stockholm Stock Exchange.
Trading in derivatives supports the liquidity of
the Nordea share.

Repurchase of own shares
Following the authorisation from the Annual
General Meeting on 24 April 2002, the Board of
Directors of Nordea AB (publ) on 19 June 2002
decided to repurchase a maximum of 150 million
of its own shares (equivalent to approximately
5% of the total number of shares in the company).
Up to 20 September 2002 Nordea repurchased
40,008,000 of its own shares. The shares were pur-
chased at an average price of SEK 43.50.

In April 2001 Nordea acquired 17 million of its
own shares for the purpose of achieving a hedge
regarding the company’s incentive programme.
This repurchase of own shares followed a sepa-
rate resolution by the Board of Directors and does
not form part of the current repurchase pro-
gramme. The total holding in Nordea AB (publ)
of own shares is 57,008,000 shares. 

Earnings and shareholders’ equity per share
Net profit for the year amounted to EUR 887m
corresponding to EUR 0.30 per share. Sharehold-
ers’ equity per share amounted to EUR 4.06 at the
end of 2002.
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Market capitalisation European banks
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Proposed dividend
The Board of Directors proposes a dividend of
EUR 0.23 per share. The total dividend payment
for year 2002 would then be EUR 673m corre-
sponding to 76% of the net profit after tax. The
dividend yield calculated on the share price
30 December 2002 is 5.5%. The proposed record
date for the dividend is 29 April 2003 and divi-
dend payments are scheduled to be made on 7
May 2003. The ex-dividend date is 25 April 2003.

The dividend is denominated in EUR, however
payments are normally made in the local curren-
cy of the country where the shares are registered.

Dividend payments can be made in EUR if the
shareholder has a EUR account registered with
the securities registers. 

Share capital
As a result of the conversion of outstanding con-
vertible bonds, 2,450,137 new shares have been
issued during 2002. At the close of 2002 the share
capital comprised 2,985,116,227 shares each of
nominal value EUR 0.39632. All shares have vot-
ing rights, with each share entitled to one vote at
General Meetings. It should be noted that Nordea
AB (publ) is not entitled to vote for own shares at
General Meetings.

Change in share capital
Nominal value Nominal Share

per share Numbers of change Total number capital
Date SEK shares issued SEKm of shares SEKm

17 Dec 97 New issue 7.00 1,275,267,441 8,926.9 1,275,267,441 8,927
28 Jan 00 Reduction –3,188.2

New issue 4.50 815,800,287 3,671.1 2,091,067,728 9,4101

25 Apr 00 Reduction –2,091.1
New issue 3.50 869,776,488 3,044.2 2,960,844,216 10,363

09 Jun 00 New issue 3.50 18,348,501 64.2 2,979,192,717 10,427
29 Aug 00 New issue 2 3.50 3,006,359 10.5 2,982,199,076 10,438
11 Dec 00 New issue 2 3.50 59,764 0.2 2,982,258,840 10,438

EUR 4 EUR EURm
10 Jan 01 Conversion 3 0.40 2,982,258,840 1,182 
20 Feb 01 New issue 2 0.40 8,408 3,332.26 2,982,267,248 1,1825

15 May 01 New issue 2 0.40 2,401 951.56 2,982,269,649 1,1826

14 Dec 01 New issue 2 0.40 396,441 157,117.49 2,982,666,090 1,1827

31 May 02 New issue 2 0.40 2,405,087 953,184.08 2,985,071,177 1,1838

25 Sep 02 New issue 2 0.40 45,050 17,854.22 2,985,116,22710 1,1839

On 1 September 2002 Nordea AB (publ) prematurely redeemed the outstanding convertible bond loan amounting to EUR 96,928,426.28.  Subsequently, the company has no outstanding convert-
ible bond loans.

1 Anticipated in Balance Sheet 31 Dec, registration 28 January 2000
2 Conversion of bonds
3 From SEK to EUR
4 0,39632 EURO
5 EUR 1 181 925 126.33 
6 EUR 1 181 926 077.89
7 EUR 1 182 083 195.38
8 EUR 1 183 036 379.46
9 EUR 1 183 054 233.68
10 Number of own shares owned by Nordea AB (publ) 57,008,000

Distribution of shares, end of 2002
Number of Share- Number of

Number of shares shareholders holders, % Number of shares shares, %

1–1,000 424,911 83.31% 134,691,243 4.60%
1,001–10,000 80,147 15.71% 192,537,928 6.58%
10,001–100,000 4,153 0.81% 102,627,695 3.50%
100,001–1,000,000 592 0.12% 195,701,342 6.68%
1,000,001– 240 0.05% 2,302,550,019 78.64%

Total 510,043 100.00% 2,928,108,227 100.00%



On 1 September 2002 Nordea AB (publ) prema-
turely redeemed the outstanding convertible
bond loan amounting to EUR 96,928,426.28. Sub-
sequently, the company has no outstanding con-
vertible bond loans.

Shareholders
With approximately 510,000 registered share-
holders at 31 December 2002, Nordea has one of
largest shareholder bases of all Nordic com-
panies. The number of Nordea shareholders reg-
istered in Denmark is approximately 217,000, in
Finland 211,000 and in Sweden 82,000.

The largest among the various categories of
shareholders is Swedish institutional investors,
holding 29.6% of the shares in Nordea. The
largest individual shareholder is the Swedish
state with a holding of 18.5%. The Swedish gov-
ernment has declared that it will dispose of its
holdings in Nordea.

The 20 largest registered shareholders at the end
of 2002 are listed in the table.

Investor communication 
Nordea aims at being one of the leading Euro-
pean companies in terms of open, clear and rele-
vant information to shareholders and other inter-
ested parties. Nordea has during 2002 further im-
proved the disclosure in the Group’s financial re-
ports and presentations.
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Shareholder structure, end of 2002
Swedish inst (29.6%)

International ownership (23.7%)

Swedish state (18.5%)

Danish inst (8.6%)

Finnish inst1 (7.6%)

Finnish public (6.1%)

Danish public (4.0%)

Swedish public (1.9%)

1 Finnish state included

Largest registered1 shareholders in Nordea AB (publ), end of 2002
Share capital

Number of shares and votes, %

Swedish state 542,015,102 18.5
Alecta 118,394,426 4.0
Nordea Danmark fonden 102,529,423 3.5
Tryg i Danmark smba                                                 92,609,801 3.2
Robur fonder 87,821,555 3.0
Nordea fonder 60,962,264 2.1
Fjärde AP-fonden 52,386,590 1.8
SHB/SPP fonder 44,231,416 1.5
AMF Pension 42,805,000 1.5
SEB fonder 41,808,901 1.4
Skandia 36,261,553 1.2
Tredje AP-fonden 33,006,127 1.1
Första AP-fonden 31,047,577 1.1
Andra AP-fonden 30,713,636 1.1
Nordea Sveriges vinstandelsstiftelse 18,104,300 0.6
Solidium Oy (Finnish state) 12,474,666 0.4
Länsförsäkringar fonder 11,077,942 0.4
Öms Livförsäkringsbolaget Suomi 10,000,001 0.3
Merita Ab:s Pensionsstiftelse                                   8,938,708 0.3
Skandia Carlson fonder 8,826,549 0.3
Source: Sweden’s and Finland’s securities centres, SIS Ägarservice and Nordea Bank Denmark’s
register of shareholders

1 Excl nominee accounts.



Nordea relies increasingly on the Internet in the
communication with shareholders and investors. 
All significant financial information about the
Nordea group can be found at the Group’s home-
pages. 

The financial homepages of www.nordea.com
ranked as number 11 in the web-ranking of the
500 largest European companies made by Hall-
varsson & Halvarsson published by Financial
Times in November 2002.

During 2002 over 1.2 million visitors have en-
tered www.nordea.com and downloaded almost
400,000 financial reports and press releases. 

Annual report 
Both the annual report and the annual review are
available in English. Nordea distributes the
annual report and the annual review automatical-
ly to all shareholders holding more than 10,000
shares. A mini version of the annual report is
available in English as well as the four Nordic
languages. The full annual report, the annual re-
view and the mini version will be distributed to
shareholders on request.

The reports can be downloaded and ordered by
accessing www.nordea.com.
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Share data
2002 2001 2000 1999

Share price SEK 38.40 SEK 55.50 SEK 71.50 SEK 50.00
High/low 63.50 / 30.20 79.00 / 45.80 76.00 / 41.80 61.00 / 42.30
Market capitalisation EUR 12.6bn EUR 17.7bn EUR 24.1bn EUR 12.2bn
Dividend EUR 0.231 EUR 0.23 SEK 2.00 SEK 1.75
TSR –28.1% –19.8% 46.5% –0.5%
DJ STOXX European banks index –26.7% –10.0% 10.2% 17.2%
P/E (actual) 14 11 14 11
Price-to-book 1.03 1.49 2.16 1.70
Equity per share EUR 4.06 EUR 4.00 EUR 3.74 EUR 2.68
Earnings per share EUR 0.30 EUR 0.53 EUR 0.58 EUR 0.55
Outstanding shares2 2,928,108,227 2,965,666,090 2,982,258,840 2,091,067,728

1 Proposed
2 Excluding own shares



What’s your plan?



We will understand the wishes and needs of our customers. 

We will show respect and competence so that customers will 

see us as their natural financial partners that support 

the realisation of their objectives and dreams.



The customer base is Nordea’s main asset. With
close to 11 million customers, 45% of the popula-
tion in the Nordic countries do business with
Nordea. More than 30% of the customers are also
e-banking customers. Nordea has a significant
business potential in the customer base and also
the experience to capture this.

The geographic reach of Nordea offers significant
potential for benchmarking and transfer of best
practice and contributes to a diversified credit
portfolio with a stable quality. 

Nordea operates through three business areas,
Retail Banking, Corporate and Institutional Bank-
ing and Asset Management & Life and has top

league positions in most product and market
areas in the Nordic countries. In Nordea’s emerg-
ing home markets in the Baltic Sea region, the
Group aims at controlled and profitable growth –
organically or through acquisitions.

Strategic focus
The Nordic countries comprise Nordea’s home
market. The Group offers a broad range of finan-
cial products and services to personal, corporate
and institutional customers and the public sector
in these countries. 

The Baltic Sea region is Nordea’s emerging home
market. The Group is the preferred partner of
Nordic and international medium-sized and
large corporate and institutional customers oper-
ating in this region. Nordea provides an increas-
ing range of financial products and services to
domestic personal, corporate and institutional
customers. 

Outside the Nordic and Baltic Sea region, Nordea
operates to support core customers through own
units or partners. Nordea is a leading internation-
al shipping bank.

The Group also serves institutional investors in
Europe and North America with selected prod-
ucts and distributes investment funds into the
European market via third parties. Nordea Pri-
vate Banking maintains branches in Luxembourg
and Switzerland. 

Nordea is using a decentralised profit centre
model which facilitates the understanding of cus-
tomer needs, the quick and flexible response to
changing market conditions and the drive for
performance. 

Strategic direction and short-term priorities
Nordea has coherent Group and business area
strategies to establish a stable and broadly based
growth of income, to ensure operational excel-
lence and cost efficiency and to optimise risk tak-
ing and the use of capital.
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Vision and strategy

Nordea is the leading financial services group in the Nordic and Baltic Sea region and

among the world leaders in e-banking.

Copenhagen

Oslo
Stockholm

Helsinki

Tallin

Tartu

Riga

Vilnius

Bergen

Hamburg

Warsaw

Luxembourg
Frankfurt

Radom
Countrywide network

Branch or subsidiary 

Correspondent bank office

Gdynia
Gdansk

St Petersburg

Moscow

Finland
• Branches 415
• Employees 10,500

Norway
• Branches 146
• Employees 4,400

Sweden
• Branches 265
• Employees 8,600

Denmark
• Branches 348
• Employees 9,400

Poland and the Baltic countries
• Branches 66
• Employees 1,700

Total branches 1,240
Total employees 34,600

Comprehensive presence 
across the region

Note: Full time employees in business areas, group functions and other subsidaries. 
Total employees include employees outside the Nordic and Baltic Sea region.



In the present economic environment, profitabili-
ty and capital efficiency take precedence over
volume growth and cost efficiency has top priori-
ty. Business area strategies and short-term focus
are shown on page 20. 

Grow revenue
Income from Nordea’s core business activities is
stable and broadly based with Retail Banking be-
ing the largest business area accounting for  ap-
proximately 75% of total income.

Nordea is focusing sales efforts and advisory
capabilities on increasing the share of wallet of
existing customers and on expansion of the high-
value customer base. 

In order to maintain earnings stability Nordea’s
equity market exposure is carefully monitored
and reduced when necessary, and the general
insurance business was divested in 2002.

Ensure operational excellence
Ensuring cost control through and beyond the
economic downturn has top priority. 

Nordea always adjusts quickly and flexible to
market conditions. Significant cost reduction pro-
grammes were initiated in 2002 within Nordea
Securities and Asset Management & Life follow-
ing the equity market downturn. Similarly, inte-
gration projects were reprioritised and IT devel-
opment costs have been capped at 80% of the
2002 level in the wake of the weak income devel-
opment.

Nordea’s pan-Nordic reach and scale give the po-
tential for further improvements of operational
efficiency throughout the Group, covering also a
more efficient development of customer services
and solutions. Nordea will exploit the significant
potential for continued benchmarking and trans-
fer of best practices within the Group as the basis
for continuous improvements. 
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The Nordic idea

We share and exchange Nordic ideas.

We are Nordic in operations while personal and local in
delivering services. We think Nordic and act locally.

Our market is of a size that makes it worthwhile to
develop joint concepts, products and services.

Nordea’s vision

We will be valued as the leading financial services
group in the Nordic and Baltic financial markets with a
substantial growth potential.

We will be in the top of the league or show superior
profitable growth in every market and product area in
which we choose to compete.

We will have the leading multichannel distribution
with a top world ranking in e-based financial services
and solutions.

Market positions
Corporate and Asset

Retail Institutional Management
Banking Banking & Life

Customer lending, Life and 
customer deposits and Corporate Investment pensions

mortgage volumes Banking funds premiums

Denmark 2 1 1 3
Finland 1 1 2 1
Norway 2–3 1–2 4 4
Sweden 2–3 2–3 2 8

Large customer base with high penetration in e-banking
Baltic

Sea
DK FI NO SE Region Total

Banking customers (1,000)
Personal customers 1,600 3,000 600 4,260 240 9,700
Corporate customers 80 330 65 460 30 965
Insurance customers (1,000) 660 290 215 450 35 1,650
E-banking customers (1,000) 430 1,200 250 1,370 30 3,270
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Other / Group

• Reduce IT development costs
and projects

• Support procurement at
group level

• Shared service centres

• Further reduce economic
capital and non-core assets

• Roll-out economic profit-
driven management system to
push profitability

Asset Management 
& Life

• Capture share of expected
growth in the long-term
savings and life area

• Reduce volatility in Life

• Centralise equity and fixed
income processes

• Standardise service concepts
• Streamline support functions

• Implement new business
model in Life & Pensions

Corporate and
Institutional Banking

• Enhance position among
large corporates in Sweden

• Focus on financial institutions
• Gain market share in debt

capital markets

• Streamline international
activities

• Refocus Nordea Securities
• Reduce portfolio of develop-

ment projects

• Limit use of balance sheet
• Price according to risk
• Increase proactivity and more

strict monitoring of credit
portfolio

Retail Banking

• Increase share of wallet of
existing personal customers
and acquire new profitable
customers in a multi-channel
strategy

• Add value for small and
medium sized corporates

• Benchmark processes and
structures

• Emphasize Nordic projects
and solutions

• Drive e-banking

• Implement economic profit at
business unit level

• Refine credit granting and
controls

• Refine credit scoring models

Reduce volatility
and ensure growth
of income

Top priorities

Speed up integration
and unification and
improve cost
efficiency

Ensure capital
efficiency and main-
tain credit portfolio
quality

Top priorities firmly anchored throughout the Group

When integrating or unifying processes and ac-
tivities Nordea carefully checks every initiative in
order to strike the optimal balance between in-
vestments, risks and benefits.

Optimise use of capital
Profitability is prioritised over growth which is
reflected in the way Nordea allocates capital.
Nordea concentrates on its strengths, implying
divestment of non-core assets like General Insur-
ance and real estate and closure of non-profitable
businesses and activities.

Optimising the use of capital is also reflected in
strict credit monitoring, refining of credit scoring
models and implementing a new business model
for the Life & Pensions business. 

The rolling out of the economic profit-driven
management system will drive profitability and
focus the organisation.

Sustainable growth of economic profit

Attract, develop and retain highly motivated,
competent and empowered employees

Establish a
stable and

broadly based
growth of
income

Ensure
operational

excellence and
cost efficiency
in all processes

Optimise risk
taking and use

of capital

Strategic direction

Top priorities
• Reduce volatility and

ensure growth of income
• Speed-up integration

and unification
• Improve cost efficiency
• Ensure capital efficiency
• Maintain credit portfolio

quality



Nordea’s Planning and Performance
Management Model 
The three core elements in PPMM are Balanced
Scorecard (BSC) to drive strategy into actions,
rolling financial forecasts to have an updated
view on future financial performance and service
level agreements to create a common under-
standing about services, priorities and responsi-
bilities between internal service providers and re-
ceivers. The overall purpose of PPMM is to in-
crease groupwide focus on shareholder value cre-
ation, ensure aligned and focused strategy imple-
mentation and support the development of a
common Nordea corporate culture.

Balanced Scorecard  
The purpose of the BSC framework is to make
strategy operational. The idea is to select a num-
ber of strategic areas where change is required.
These areas are referred to as strategic focus
areas. For each of the focus areas, a key perform-
ance indicator including targets is defined. Also,
concrete measures and related initiatives which
will contribute to achieving the target are deter-
mined. The key performance indicators include
cost/income ratio, market position, customer sat-
isfaction and employee satisfaction. Business
strategy, targets and activities are thereby linked
and strategy becomes operational.

BSC has been developed and implemented for
the Group as a whole and each business area has
its own BSC. The Group’s BSC has served as a

guideline for the BSC of the business areas, the
scorecard of the business areas will provide the
guidelines for the BSC of each of their subordi-
nate units. 

Each business area is responsible for the imple-
mentation and the cascading process in its own
area. BSC has been implemented on at least two
levels in the business areas. The implementation
in Group Staffs, Group Corporate Centre and
Group Processing & Technology will be finalised
during the first half of 2003. 

Rolling financial forecasts
In order to always have an updated view of
future financial performance, quarterly rolling
financial forecasts have been implemented in
each business area. The rolling financial forecast
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Planning and performance

Balanced
scorecard

Quarterly
strategy
review

Quarterly
strategy
review

Quarterly
strategy
review

Quarterly
strategy
review

In 2001 a new Planning and Performance Management Model (PPMM) was introduced

in Nordea for the strategy and business planning process at group and business area level.

During 2002 the PPMM was cascaded down to lower levels in all business areas 

and implementation started in group functions.



has a five quarters horizon and it is updated on a
quarterly basis, adding one quarter in each up-
date. There is no element of target setting. The lat-
est available inputs regarding the major drivers
of financial result are considered in order to pro-
vide the best possible estimate of future earnings.
Management’s attention is focused on discrepan-
cies between the financial forecast and the targets
within the financial perspective in the respective
BSC. This ensures a focus on  the future and on
potential corrective actions, rather than on the
historical performance.

Service level agreements
In order to create a common understanding about
services, priorities and responsibilities between
internal service providers, such as IT, HR,
Finance, etc, and service receivers, mainly the
business areas, service level agreements have
been implemented. Service level agreements con-
sist of the following key components:

• Clear definitions of scope of services provided
• Defined measures to ensure cost control
• Defined measures in order to track quality,

content and timeliness of services delivered
• A governance structure establishing clear re-

sponsibilities
• A structured process for building and main-

taining the service level agreements.

Service level agreements ensure an increased
focus on quality and costs.

Management process aligned to PPMM
The CEO has quarterly review meetings with all
business areas and group functions in order to

follow up strategy implementation and perform-
ance.

The management process aligned to PPMM will
better support a team-based executive manage-
ment culture, increase executive accountability
with clearly defined targets to ensure actions and
increase focus on strategic direction. The quarter-
ly review meetings will improve the understand-
ing of the strategic drivers that deliver on cus-
tomer value and achieve financial performance,
and ensure the use of the framework of BSC to
communicate priorities and report on perform-
ance all over Nordea. The management process
aligned to PPMM is an ongoing process that
makes strategy a continuous pursuit and not a
yearly event. Continuous tactical performance
monitoring is part of PPMM.

Economic profit
In addition, economic profit was introduced in
2002 as the overall key performance indicator.
Economic profit will further strengthen the link
between Nordea’s internal financial objectives
and shareholder value creation. 

Economic profit measures value creation from a
shareholder perspective. Positive economic profit
means that shareholder value is growing, while a
negative value reflects a business where value is
destroyed. Economic profit may be calculated
along several dimensions, eg different organisa-
tional levels, products or customers. Economic
profit supports alignment with shareholders’ in-
terest by providing incentives for profitable
growth, focus on cost efficiency as well as related
risk throughout the organisation.
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The roll-out of economic profit started in 2002 at
business area level, and is now used as a target in
the BSC. To further drive the value from econom-
ic profit, business areas have started in 2002 to
roll out economic profit to lower levels of the or-
ganisation.    

Implementation in Corporate and Institutional
Banking has, in line with plans, reached furthest
and economic profit has been implemented as an
active management tool. Economic profit is the
key performance indicator at profit centre level.
Additionally, customer relationships and single
transactions are evaluated through economic
profit analysis. Tests of models for economic prof-
it in Costumer Profitability System were started
during 2002. 

Retail Banking, with its large number of cus-
tomers has organised a project with different
work streams to deal with rating issues, measure-
ment/methodology, and management informa-
tion systems. It is expected that economic profit
results can be tested at both customer and branch
level during 2003. 

Asset Management & Life have during 2002
focused on developing an economic profit model
that will drive value also within the traditional
life and pension products.

In all business areas a change in customer dia-
logue, customer relationship and pricing is ex-
pected and seen as a natural extension of the eco-
nomic profit model. The development in each
business area is coordinated at group level and a
full implementation in all business areas is ex-

pected before end 2004, when economic profit
will be embedded in all business decisions.

Calculation of economic profit
Economic profit is calculated as shown below.
Risk-adjusted profit is based on the actual income
and costs, expected loan losses, and standard tax.
Expected loan losses are the assumed long-term
average loan losses. In addition a standard tax
rate is used in order to normalise the profit to en-
sure an adequate comparability.

Cost of equity is the yield shareholders require to
invest in Nordea shares multiplied by economic
capital. The long-term risk-free rate, the premium
to invest in shares and the Nordea share’s volatil-
ity compared to shares in general are used to set
the percentage. 

Economic capital
Economic capital is based on a compilation of the
various risks into a total need for capital. Losses
are inevitable in the business performed by
Nordea, and thus require a cushion of capital.
The economic capital is the capital that will be re-
quired to cover unexpected losses.
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Economic profit  = 
risk adjusted profit –  cost of equity

income  –  costs  –  expected loan losses cost of capital in percent 
–  standard tax × economic capital

} }



What’s your plan?



Whether we are developing new electronic concepts, providing 

personal advice to a customer or installing a new cash manage-

ment solution, it always ultimately comes down to a matter of 

helping customers make things possible. 



Total shareholder return
Total shareholder return is measured as growth
in the value of a shareholding over a specified
period, assuming that dividends are reinvested at
the time of payment to purchase additional
shares. Internally, economic profit has been se-
lected as the best single measure for shareholder
value creation. Nordea believes that managing
for sustainable growth of economic profit will
drive and support the continuous focus on stable
revenue growth, operational excellence and cost
efficiency and optimal risk taking and use of
capital. 

Return on equity
High return on equity is an important indicator of
value creation. Nordea prioritises profitability be-
fore growth and aims to achieve a sustainable re-
turn on equity, before goodwill depreciation, of
more than 15% from 2004. 

Costs and cost/income ratio
Ensuring operational excellence and cost efficien-
cy in the current weak economic environment has
top priority. Nordea therefore aims to have the
same absolute cost level through 2003 and 2004
compared to 2002.

Nordea views the cost/income ratio primarily as
an important tool in the internal continuous im-
provement processes. At group level Nordea is
aiming at a cost/income ratio level below 55%
from 2005, assuming unchanged business mix. 

Risk exposure
Nordea prioritises earnings stability and stable
credit quality before growth. Nordea aims at lim-
ited and controlled risk exposure while constant-
ly availing itself of opportunities to increase prof-
its and return on capital within acceptable risk
limits. The average loan losses over a business
cycle should not exceed 0.40% of the loan and
guarantee portfolio. Market risks related to in-
vestment activities should not lead to an accumu-
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Financial targets

Business definitions

Return on equity
Net profit before minority interest and goodwill de-
preciation as a percentage of average sharehold-
ers’ equity (per quarter). Average shareholders’
equity includes minority interests and excludes
remaining goodwill.

Cost/income ratio
Operating expenses before loan losses and good-
will as a percentage of operating income and
share of profit/loss from companies accounted for
under the equity method as well as investment
earnings (banking), as reported in the operational
income statement. Operating profit from insur-
ance activities are excluded.

TSR
Total shareholder return measured as growth in
the value of a shareholding over a specified
period, assuming that dividends are re-invested at
the time of payment to purchase additional
shares.

Tier 1 capital ratio
Tier 1 capital as a percentage of riskweighted-
amounts.

Total capital ratio
Capital base as a percentage of riskweighted-
amounts.

Loan losses
Average loan losses over a business cycle not to
exceed 0.40% of loans and guarantees

Flat cost base
Measured against reported costs in 2002. How-
ever, should performance in 2003 improve to
such an extent that it triggers a pay-out in the cur-
rent profit-sharing and management incentive
schemes, such costs are not expected to be ab-
sorbed within the target cost base. Furthermore,
significant changes in Nordea’s structure or busi-
ness mix may cause a revision of the cost target.

Nordea has defined a peer group of 19 European financial services companies and aims at

creating value for shareholders in the top five of this peer group. Improvement of cost

efficiency has top priority. 



lated loss in investment earnings exceeding one
quarter’s normalised earnings at any time in a
calendar year. Operational risks should be kept
within manageable limits at reasonable cost.

Dividend and capital ratio
Nordea is pursuing a policy of high dividends.
The annual level depends on market return re-
quirements and the amount of capital needed for
development of activities. Dividend payment
will normally exceed 40 percent of the net profit
for the year.

Efficient use of capital will contribute to the prof-
itability target and shareholder value creation.
Nordea aims at a tier 1 capital ratio above 6.5%
and a total capital ratio not lower than 9%. Inter-
nally, economic capital is used as a measure of the
amount of capital required to cover unexpected
losses thereby reflecting the actual risks taken.
Economic capital is allocated to business areas re-
flecting all categories of risk, ie credit, market,
real estate, operational and business risks.
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Peer group Total shareholder return, %
2002 2001

Nordic banks Danske Bank –9.4 –3.1
Den norske Bank –14.9 –10.2
Sampo –10.7 –9.6
SEB –21.0 –4.0
SHB –22.4 –2.0
Swedbank –17.2 –5.5

European banks Abbey National –43.8 –15.3
ABN AMRO –9.6 –21.8
Allied Irish Bank 2.4 8.6
Bank of Ireland –3.7 1.7
Barclays –29.7 13.2
BNP Paribas –20.8 10.2
HBOS –14.1 –6.2
Commerzbank –56.4 –40.8
HypoVereinsbank –54.7 –41.9
KBC –16.4 –15.5
Lloyds TSB –36.7 10.9
Royal Bank of Scotland –8.7 8.3
Société Générale –8.8 –1.7

Nordea –28.1 –19.8

Key performance indicator
2002 2001 Target

Total shareholder return, peer group ranking 15 17 In the top five of the peer group
Return on equity excluding goodwill, % 11.3 19.2 Sustainable RoE >15% from 2004
Costs, EURm 3,745 3,389 Same cost level through 2004 as in 2002
Cost/income ratio, % 64 58 < 55% from 2005 and with present business mix
Loan losses ratio, % 0.19 0.29 < 0.4% of loans and guarantees over a business cycle
Dividend pay-out ratio, % 76 44 > 40% of net profit
Tier 1 capital ratio, % 7.1 7.3 > 6.5%
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Operational income statement

Quarterly development
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

EURm Note 2002 2002 2002 2002 2002 2001

Net interest income 885 874 855 837 3,451 3,465
Commission income 1 388 371 396 380 1,535 1,432
Trading 130 127 137 136 530 543
Other 54 34 37 29 154 165

Total income 1,457 1,406 1,425 1,382 5,670 5,605

Personnel expenses –545 –521 –514 –506 –2,086 –1,878
Other expenses –448 –404 –408 –399 –1,659 –1,511

Total expenses 2 –993 –925 –922 –905 –3,745 –3,389

Profit before loan losses 464 481 503 477 1,925 2,216

Loan losses, net –76 –66 –56 –63 –261 –373
Equity method 16 4 17 15 52 95

Profit before investment earnings and insurance 404 419 464 429 1,716 1,938

Investment earnings, banking 41 39 31 11 122 172
Operating profit, life insurance 44 –13 –26 –3 2 –17
Operating profit, general insurance 0 –4 –87 –31 –122 –18
Goodwill depreciation –43 –42 –44 –42 –171 –147

Operating profit 446 399 338 364 1,547 1,928

Allocation to pension foundation 17 –120 –152 – –255 –
Taxes –140 –86 –79 –100 –405 –360
Minority interests 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net profit 323 193 107 264 887 1,568

EPS 0.10 0.07 0.04 0.09 0.30 0.53
EPS, rolling 12 months up to period end 0.30 0.38 0.37 0.49 0.30 0.53

Note 1
Commission income, EURm

Brokerage 35 38 46 55 174 271
Asset management/Investment funds 108 101 115 126 450 448
Issue of securities 7 6 5 4 22 46
Lending 95 86 91 87 359 334
Deposits and payments 195 189 183 157 724 525
Foreign exchange 15 11 10 8 44 37
Other 39 33 35 26 133 94
Commission expenses –88 –85 –83 –77 –335 –302

Net commission income 406 379 402 386 1,573 1,453
Of which investment activities –18 –8 –6 –6 –38 –21

Commission income 388 371 396 380 1,535 1,432

Note 2
Expenses, EURm

Personnel1 547 523 515 506 2,092 1,885
Information technology2 136 111 113 103 463 379
Marketing 34 21 36 23 114 99
Postage, telephone and office expenses 62 50 52 60 224 190
Rents, premises and real estate expenses 89 79 74 71 313 314
Other 131 146 134 145 554 535

Expenses 999 930 924 908 3,760 3,402
Of which investment activities –5 –5 –2 –3 –15 –13

Expenses 994 925 922 905 3,745 3,389

1 Profit related personnel expenses including profit-sharing systems were EUR 79m in 2002 (full year 2001 EUR 115m).
2 Refers to IT operations, service expenses and consulting fees. Total IT-related costs including personnel etc (excluding IT expenses in insurance operations) were EUR 758m in

2002 (full year 2001 EUR 709m). 

Group result
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Operating profit for the year 2002 was EUR
1,547m (EUR 1,928m) a reduction of 20% com-
pared to 2001.

Total income increased by 1% and expenses in-
creased by 11%. The development reflects the ac-
quisition of Postgirot Bank and underlying
growth in the business volumes coupled with a
pressure on margins following falling interest
rates during the year and drop in equity related
commission income.

Income
Total income was EUR 5,670m (EUR 5,605m) , an
increase of 1% compared to 2001. Net interest in-
come was EUR 3,451m unchanged compared to a
year ago. Volume growth, mainly deposits and
mortgage lending to personal customers has
compensated for lower deposit margins follow-
ing lower interest rates. Lending margins were
stable within Retail Banking and increased some-
what for large corporate clients. During the last
12 months lending and deposits have increased
by 6% and 6%, respectively. 

Commission income increased by 7% to EUR
1,535m (EUR 1,432m) reflecting strong growth in
transaction volumes. The number of e-customers
rose to 3.3 million by the end of the year, and in
December, a new all-time high was registered in
the number of payments on the e-bank.

Trading income, mainly comprising income relat-
ed to foreign exchange and derivatives trading
with customers, was maintained at a stable level
of EUR 530m (EUR 543m) 

Expenses
Total expenses were EUR 3,745 m (EUR 3,389m),
an increase by 11%, reflecting the acquisition of
Postgirot Bank AB (publ) as well as underlying
growth in business volume.

Personnel expenses were EUR 2,086m (EUR
1,878m).

Other expenses were EUR 1,659m (EUR 1,511m),
an increase of 10%. Costs for IT represent 20% of
total expenses. 

The cost/income ratio was 64% (58%). Postgirot
Bank represented an increase of approximately
2 % points.

Loan losses
Loan losses were EUR 261m (EUR 373m). The re-
duction was mainly a result of the general provi-
sion of EUR 100m made in 2001. 

Investment earnings
The weak equity markets in 2002 had a negative
impact on investment earnings, banking, which
were reduced by EUR 50m to EUR 122m. 

Pension commitments 
Pension commitments not recognised in the bal-
ance sheet have to be covered by assets of pen-
sion foundations. At the end of the year, aggre-
gate assets in the Group’s pension foundations
exceeded pension commitments not recognised
in the balance sheet by EUR 46m reflecting a sur-
plus in Finland.

The volatility in Nordea’s accounts resulting
from allocation to pension foundations in the sec-
ond and third quarter 2002, was related to the
Swedish pension foundation. In total the alloca-
tion cost amounted to EUR 255m in 2002.

At the end of the fourth quarter, the equity expo-
sure in the pension foundations represented 22%
of total investments, compared to 24% at the end
of the third quarter.

Taxes
Taxes amounted to EUR 405m in 2002 (EUR
360m). In 2001, the low tax rate was mainly ex-
plained by the utilisation of a loss carry forward
in the former Merita Real Estate Ltd.

Net profit
The net profit was EUR 887m (EUR 1,568m), cor-
responding to EUR 0.30 (EUR 0.53) per share. Re-
turn on equity (excluding goodwill) was 11.3%
(19.2%).

Comments to the operational income statement
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Business area result

Results by business area 2002, EURm1

Business areas

Corporate and Asset 
Retail Institutional Management Group General 

Banking Banking & Life2 Treasury Insurance3 Other Total

Customer responsible units:
Income 4,394 1,129 238 106 –197 5,670
Expenses –2,566 –607 –158 –30 –384 –3,745
Loan losses –209 –23 –29 –261
Equity method 12 40 52

Profit before investment
earnings and insurance 1,619 511 80 76 0 –570 1,716

Investment earnings, banking 38 84 122
Operating profit, life insurance 2 0 2
Operating profit, general insurance –122 0 –122
Goodwill –22 –8 –141 –171

Operating profit 1,597 503 82 114 –122 –627 1,547

of which:
Q4 345 137 61 27 0 –124 446
Q3 418 120 2 31 –4 –168 399
Q2 427 121 –3 21 –87 –141 338
Q1 407 125 22 35 –31 –194 364

Return on equity, % 22 16 11,3
Cost/income ratio, banking, % 58 54 66 28 64

1 According to the new organisation effective as of 1 October 2002.
2 Operating profit, life insurance, Q1 2002 EUR –3m, Q2 2002 EUR –26m, Q3 2002 –13m and Q4 2002 44m.
3 The sale of the general insurance activities was completed during Q3 2002.

Nordea’s operations are organised into three
business areas: Retail Banking, Corporate and In-
stitutional Banking and Asset Management &
Life. The business areas operate as profit centres.
The Group’s financial management operations
are conducted by Group Treasury.

Within Nordea, customer responsibility is funda-
mental. The Group’s total business relations with
customers are reported in the customer responsi-
ble unit's income statement and balance sheet.
When calculating return on allocated capital stan-
dard tax is applied.

Capital allocation is based on each business unit’s
actual risk exposure considering credit and insur-
ance risk, market risk as well as operational and
business risk. This framework optimises utilisa-
tion and distribution of capital between the dif-
ferent business areas. Economic profit constitutes
the basis for evaluating strategic alternatives as
well as for the evaluation of financial perform-
ance.

Asset Management & Life has customer responsi-
bility within investment management and in pri-
vate banking outside the joint unit with Retail
Banking. In addition, the business area com-
mands product responsibility for investment
funds. The operating profit shown in the accom-
panying table includes the customer responsible
units.

In addition to the three business areas, Group
Treasury, with responsibility for managing the
Group's own positions in securities portfolios
and group funding activities, is also included in
the table. The column “Other” includes income
and expenses not allocated to business areas, ie
funding costs for the cash acquisition of Nordea
Bank Norway, results from real estate holdings,
expenses in Group functions not defined as serv-
ices offered to business areas, goodwill deprecia-
tion related to the creation of Nordea, central pro-
visioning for loan losses and profits from compa-
nies accounted for under the equity method which
are not included in customer responsible units.



Group organisation
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What’s your plan?



Any service starts and ends with a genuine interest in people. 

The interest we show brings along with it a genuine desire to 

listen and understand people's needs. Out of this understanding 

grows the will and capacity to provide our customers with the 

very solutions that are right for them.
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Retail Banking

Retail Banking has customer responsibility for
personal and corporate customers and develops,
markets and distributes a broad range of financial
products and services.

Retail Banking is a strongly decentralised profit
centre-based organisation where the branch of-
fices and the regions are the profit centres with
the responsibility for all business its customers
have with the bank, including risks related to
such business, the quality of the services offered
as well as profitability. This applies irrespective of
the channel through which the customer chooses
to be served by the bank, be it through branch of-
fices, the Internet or telephone.

The business area comprises 13 regional banks in
the Nordic countries. The operations in Estonia,
Latvia, Lithuania and Poland are organised into
one separate region. The Swedish Postgirot Bank
that was acquired in 2001 was integrated into the
Nordea organisation during 2002. Nordea has ac-
quired LG Petro Bank in Poland during 2002, and
Nordea now ranks among the 15 largest financial
service providers in Poland with a total of 50
branches and 17 mortgage outlets, covering all
major Polish cities. 

Strategic direction
Grow revenue
• Increase share of wallet of existing personal

customers and acquire new profitable cus-
tomers in a multi-channel strategy

• Add value for corporate customers

Ensure operational excellence
• Benchmark processes and structures
• Emphasize Nordic projects and solutions
• Drive e-banking

Optimise use of capital
• Implement economic profit at business unit

level
• Refine credit-granting and controls
• Credit-scoring models

Retail Banking in the Nordea Group, % of income 2002

Retail Banking (74%)

Other (26%)

Volumes 2000–2002
EURbn
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Grow revenue
Personal customers
Lending to personal customers continued to
grow strongly. The loan volume increased by
10%, or EUR 5.1bn during 2002 to EUR 54.8bn at
year-end, growth in lending has been strongest in
Norway and Denmark. Deposits from personal
customers increased by 7%, or EUR 2.5bn during
2002 to EUR 39.0bn at year-end. Growth in de-
posits has been strongest in Finland and Norway.

Lending margins were unchanged at 1.7% com-
pared to 2001, while deposit margins decreased
by 40 basis points to 2.1% as a result of interest
rate decreases. 

The coordination between distribution channels
is facilitated by customer management systems
that contain customer information, which is
available in all channels. Such a system is imple-
mented in Denmark, and a groupwide solution
will be developed.

A common loyalty programme for personal cus-
tomers is being introduced in all markets. The
programme defines three major customer seg-
ments: Gold, Silver and Bronze depending on the
customer’s business volumes and number of
Nordea products. The programme contains price
benefits and service benefits in terms of  access to
a personal bank adviser for Gold and potential
Gold customers.

The loyalty programme is supplemented by stan-
dardised product packages that covers the cus-
tomer’s financial needs throughout the lifecycle:
Children, Junior, Student/Youth, Family and
Senior packages are in the process of being imple-
mented in all countries.

Products for personal customers are also pack-
aged to fit the customer’s basic needs for bill pay-
ments and cash, and complex needs for housing
finance, pension savings, financial investments
etc. A special emphasis is on providing customers
with superior products and advice within the
area of long-term savings and investment. 

In 2002, the net sale of investment funds to per-
sonal and corporate customers was EUR 2.4bn,
which is somewhat below the level in 2001. 

Efficient customer-base management is ensured
through careful allocation of personal bank ad-
visers to Gold and potential Gold customers, and
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through marketing tools towards other cus-
tomers. Common marketing tools, including di-
rect marketing that has shown good results in
Finland and Sweden, will be developed further
and implemented in all countries.

In the private banking units that serve high net
worth customers, a new concept is being
launched. Each customer has a dedicated advisor
and is offered a specially developed service pack-
age. Besides the standardised offerings specific
services are added whenever demanded by the
customer and profitable to the bank. In addition,
a financial planning tool has been introduced,
providing the ability to consistently meet increas-
ing customer demand for quality investment ad-
vice.

Corporate customers 
Lending to corporate customers increased by
EUR 1.4bn to EUR 55.4bn at the end of December
2002 compared to the end of December 2001. This
was due to an increase in  the loan book in
Poland, Finland and Norway, while loan volume
to corporate customers decreased in Denmark
and Sweden. Deposits from corporate customers
increased by 9%, or EUR 2.3bn during 2002 to
EUR 27.7bn at year end.

Lending margins for corporate customers were
1.2% in 2002 which is unchanged compared to
2001, deposit margins decreased from 1.4% in
2001 to 1.3% in 2002. 

Large corporate customers are served by relation-
ship managers and a common organisational
model with a total of 80 corporate competence
centres is in the process of being established. Best
practice working methods for relationship man-
agers and sales managers will be introduced.

With the development of One-Bank-Solution for
corporate customers, a single point of entry to
Nordea global network is providing better ser-
vices for cross-border customers. Also common
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Volumes Corporate
(EURbn) Customers

51 1,000,000

Relationship
35 20,000 Managers

Relationship
10 55,000 Managers

Standardised
6 925,000 Concepts

Corporate customers are segmented according to service needs and prof-
itability. A strategic initiative defining and implementing common segmenta-
tion and segment-related service concepts has been launched with the objec-
tive of increasing customer satisfaction and as a result increase profitability.
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Volumes Personal Marketing
(EURbn) Customers tools

117 9.7 million

Private Banking
88 1.1 million Gold Programme

Silver
23 1.6 million Programme

6 7.0 million Pricing

Nordea aims at delivering all products and services through all distribution
channels, thus ensuring that the customer is experiencing one bank and
chooses the appropriate channel, whether it be the local branch office, the
telephone or the Internet. In this respect, one of Nordea’s major strengths lies
in the number of customers who already are accustomed to using convention-
al banking services through the Internet.
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Margins Margins, %
2002 2001

Lending to corporates 1.2% 1.2%
Lending to personal customers 1.7% 1.7%

Total lending 1.4% 1.5%

Deposits from corporate 1.3% 1.4%
Deposits from personal customers 2.1% 2.5%

Total deposits 1.8% 2.1%

Market shares
Denmark Finland Norway Sweden

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Household, deposits 22% 23% 34% 34% 9% 8% 20% 21%
Household, bank lending 19% 19% 31% 31% 10% 10% 11% 11%
Corporate, deposits 22% 22% 48% 50% 16% 16% 26% 25%
Corporate, bank lending 26% 28% 46% 46% 18% 17% 16% 16%
Mortgage & housing loans 12% 11% 33% 34% 10% 10% 16% 15%
Funds 27% 27% 24% 28% 9% 9% 18% 19%



cash management solutions have been developed
securing quick payments services for customers
operating in more than one country.

All corporate customers have full access to all
markets where Nordea operates through the ex-
tensive branch network. Through a new corpo-
rate e-bank that will be launched during 2003,
corporate customers can interact electronically
with Nordea’s 3.3 million e-bank customers.

Customer Satisfaction Index (CSI)
Retail conducts a comprehensive customer sur-
vey each year with the purpose of providing to
the whole organisation a tool to improve cus-
tomer satisfaction, and thereby overall profitabil-
ity. 

In 2002, a total of 170,000 personal customers and
36,000 corporate customers were contacted
throughout the Nordic countries. The CSI results
and trends vary between countries, regions and
branches and between customer segments.

The results are used by Retail Banking executives
to adjust the customer-centric business models,
and in branch regions and branch offices to set
targets for customer satisfaction for sub-seg-
ments, and to identify and carry out initiatives
with a view to reach such targets.

Focus in 2003
The customer-centric business model outlines
how all products and services are developed,
bundled in packages, and sold to customers
through all distribution channels in a way that is
convenient for the customers and profitable for
Nordea. 

The implementation of all elements of the busi-
ness model for personal customers in all markets
is a major focus area for 2003. For corporate cus-
tomers, the focus in 2003 will be on adding value
to corporate customers and initiatives to attract
new customers, with a special emphasis on cross
sales to Postgirot customers in Sweden.

Ensure operational excellence
Development in 2002
Ensuring cost control has top priority in Retail
Banking, and a number of cost control initiatives
were taken throughout Retail Banking in 2002. 
The realisation of cost reductions enabled by au-
tomation and centralisation of production as well
as e-banking and the multi-channel develop-
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ment, remained in focus. The number of employ-
ees was reduced by 800 in 2002 to a total of 20,300
at year end.

The total number of transactions show continuous
growth and the transaction pattern has changed
dramatically from 1999 to 2000 with a 32% reduc-
tion in manual transactions and a 37% increase in
automated and self-service transactions.

Nordea continued to see strong sales in the grow-
ing range of e-banking services and increasing
usage. During 2002 the number of e-bank cus-
tomers increased by nearly half a million to 3.3
million. 306,000 customers had signed up for
equity trading on-line. The number of customer
logons was 104 million in 2002, which represent-
ed an increase of 23 million, or 28%, compared to
2001, and the number of payments was 121 mil-
lion during 2002, an increase of 24 million, or
25%, compared to 2001.

Nordea had more than 2,100 contracts with mer-
chants using direct e-payments. 700 of  them were
present at the electronic market place Solo Mar-
ket. Nordea’s e-commerce  services also include
e-invoicing, e-identification and signature and e-
salary.

With the strong growth in e-bank usage Nordea
strengthened its position as the world’s most
widely used e-bank.

Cost control measures in branches
Structural changes in the branch networks have
been implemented in Finland and Sweden and
are in progress in Denmark. The changes include
the merger and restructuring of branches, a re-
duction of the number of branch managers and

the centralisation of production activities. Struc-
tural changes will also be implemented in the
branch network in Norway in 2003. 

Continuous improvement of branch efficiency is
supported by internal benchmarking. Branch
productivity and financial results differ within
and across countries. Through internal competi-
tion and individual target-setting, branch man-
agers are constantly urged to improve perform-
ance.

Continuous improvement in branch efficiency is
also to a large extent enabled by the ongoing ini-
tiatives that ensure the automation and centrali-
sation of product-processing activities, and via
the customers’ increased e-bank usage that re-
duces the volume of manual transactions.

Focus in 2003
Cost control measures in support functions
The completion of common business models for
personal and corporate customers has enabled a
further integration and downscaling of all Nordic
product/market and service units. Support func-
tions within the regional bank organisations will
be downscaled and centralised at one level to en-
sure cost efficient branch support.

Re-prioritisation of IT projects
Local IT projects have been considerably down-
scaled allowing for future-oriented projects with
a Nordic scope. Projects with a Nordic scope in-
clude a single, next generation e-bank solution
replacing up to 15 local applications, and the de-
velopment of methods of payment across all
channels and devices.

Central processing costs
Approximately one third of Retail Banking’s cost
base is central processing costs that are governed
through service level agreements with Group
Processing and Technology. Such costs will be
monitored closely, and cost-control measures will
be taken on an ongoing basis.

Optimise use of capital
Optimal allocation of capital in Retail Banking is
ensured by the finetuning and roll-out of the
economic profit concept that support profitable
pricing and service standards.

Development in 2002
Economic capital was EUR 5.4bn, an increase of
8% compared to 2001.
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Optimal allocation of capital in Retail Banking is
ensured by the finetuning and roll-out of the eco-
nomic profit concept that support profitable pric-
ing and service standards.

Focus in 2003
The size and quality of assets will be carefully
observed and proactive risk management proce-
dures will be enforced.

The economic profit concept will be fine-tuned
and reporting at customer level for corporates
will commence in 2003 based upon unified cus-
tomer ratings. The roll-out will create a clear pic-
ture of risk and capital needs towards single cus-
tomers with the goal of adjusting customer serv-
ice strategies and pricing policies accordingly.

Anumber of initiatives aiming at improved loan
and credit processes for personal and corporate
customers have been identified and will be imple-
mented. The initiatives include credit scoring mod-
els for personal and small corporate customers and
common limit and credit documentation systems
and procedures for corporate customers. 

Result 2002
The result for 2002 showed stable development,
despite deteriorating economic and market con-
ditions. Total income increased by 4% compared
to last year, comprising income growth in Swe-
den and Norway and slight decline in Finland
and Denmark.

Volume growth has been strong, to a high degree
offsetting the negative impact on net interest in-
come stemming from the continued decline in
rates, which has lowered the interest margin on

deposits. Net interest income increased by 2%.
Net commission and other income increased in
all countries, but especially in Sweden as an effect
of the acquisition of Postgirot Bank. Net commi-
sion increased by 10% and total income showed
an increase of 4%.

Strict cost control ensured that the cost/income
ratio were flat in Finland and Denmark, down in
Norway, while the cost/income ratio increased
by 5% in Sweden to 62% as a consequence of the
Postgirot Bank acquisition. The cost/income ratio
was 58% in 2002 compared to 58% in 2001, which
did not contain Postgirot Bank.

Loan losses in Retail Banking were EUR 209m in
2002, compared to EUR 165m in 2001. 3/4 of the
losses related to Retail Norway and were to a
high degree related to exposures to the fish-farm-
ing industries. Loan losses in the other countries
were very low regardless of the deteriorating eco-
nomic climate.

Operating profit before loan losses was EUR
1,828m, almost unchanged compared to 2001,
while operating profit at EUR 1,597m represented
a slight decrease from 2001. Return on equity
remained at a high level of 22%.
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Retail Banking by market  EURm Poland
Total Retail Denmark Retail Finland Retail Norway Retail Sweden & Baltic

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Net interest income 3,069 3,006 831 866 879 943 420 384 900 780 29 24
Net commission & other inc. 1,325 1,199 317 311 339 324 184 165 424 381 21 11
Total income 4,394 4,205 1,147 1,177 1,218 1,267 604 549 1,324 1,169 50 35
Total expenses –2,566 –2,426 –661 –686 –601 –627 –402 –395 –826 –666 –49 –29
Profit before loan losses 1,828 1,779 487 492 617 640 202 154 498 495 1 6
Loan losses –209 –165 –46 –59 –1 –37 –147 –21 –8 –23 –5 –2
Allocation of goodwill –22 –2 0 0 0 0 0 0 –18 0 –4 –2
Operating profit 1,597 1,612 441 432 616 604 56 134 472 472 –8 2
Cost/income ratio, % 58% 58% 58% 58% 49% 49% 67% 72% 62% 57% 98% 82%
Return on allocated capital, % 22% 24% 23% 23% 38% 39% 4% 12% 21% 23% –10% 4%

Full year Full year
2002 2001

Operating profit, EURm 1,597 1,612
Return on equity 22% 24%
Cost/income ratio 58% 58%
Customer base: personal customers, million 9.7 8.9

corporate customers, million 1.0 0.6
Number of employees (full-time equivalents)1 20,300 20,300
1 Number of employees in 2002 includes LG Petro Bank.
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Corporate and Institutional
Banking

Corporate and Institutional Banking delivers a
range of products and services to corporate and
institutional customers and has customer respon-
sibility for large corporates, shipping, offshore
and oil services companies and financial institu-
tions. Nordea’s investment banking services are
offered through Nordea Securities.

Corporate and Institutional Banking’s primary
customer base consists of some
• 450 large Nordic corporates
• 150 Nordic financial institutions
• 100 international financial institutions
• 100 Nordic and international shipping com-

panies

Strategic direction
Grow revenue
Nordea has a strong position in the markets of
Nordic corporate and institutional banking, in-
cluding:
• A broad relationship base with corporates and

institutions in the Nordic countries
• An internationally leading ship finance opera-

tion
• A leading Nordic position in debt-capital mar-

kets and derivatives. 

Profitable revenue growth will build on these
strengths, with special focus on:
• Enhancing position among large corporates in

Sweden
• Servicing financial institutions
• Gaining market share in debt capital markets

Ensure operational excellence
Corporate and Institutional Banking is well posi-
tioned to achieve a beneficial cost development in
the short and medium term with emphasis on:
• Streamlining international activities
• Refocusing Nordea Securities
• Reducing portfolio of development projects

Optimise use of capital
Corporate and Institutional Banking aims to de-
velop its business without using more capital
through:
• Limited use of balance sheet
• Pricing according to risk
• Increased proactivity and more strict monitor-

ing of credit portfolio

Corporate and Institutional Banking in the Nordea Group, 
% of income 2002

Corporate and Institutional 
Banking (21%)

Other (79%)
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customer responsible units within Corporate and Institutional Banking and Retail Banking.



Grow revenue
The business environment for Nordic corporates
in 2002 has been characterised by slow economic
growth and uncertainty about when the econom-
ic cycle will turn. Investment decisions and struc-
tural transactions have been held back. 

The very weak equity market developments have
caused substantial challenges in the asset man-
agement and investment banking segments of the
financial industry. Sharply reduced income has
necessitated a reduction in the size of operations
in a number of firms.  

In this challenging market, Nordea has managed
to secure a satisfactory deal flow with Nordic cor-
porate customers in all four Nordic countries.
Notable successes within cash management, debt
capital markets and acquisition finance has
helped counteract effects of somewhat subdued
loan demand. Lending margins have increased.

Efforts to enhance the position in Sweden among
Swedish corporate customers have started to pro-
duce results. Nordea’s acquisition of Postgirot
Bank has considerably strengthened the menu of
cash management services available.

As regards Nordic financial institution cus-
tomers, 2002 was a record year for Nordea, with
strong growth in all four Nordic countries and
particularly in Sweden. Pan-Nordic cash man-
agement and custody services solutions for sever-
al leading investment banks/broker dealers were
established. Nordea became total service provider
to some of the largest Nordic pension funds. In
Finland, Nordea was awarded the contract for
cash management and custody services for the
Finnish government.

Services to international financial institutions
were further developed. Agreements were
reached with several international banks to pro-
vide custody services in all four Nordic home
markets.

In the shipping, offshore and oil service seg-
ments, the year began with rather weak demand,
but the deal flow increased in the second half of
the year. Nordea has arranged and co-arranged
new transactions for more than USD 7bn, on par

with last year’s record level. The position among
the Nordic and international customer base has
been further strengthened. Nordea won the Best
Overall Institution for Syndicated Loans Award
2002 by Lloyd’s Shipping Economist. 

Products and services
Nordea’s Nordic cash management services were
developed further. Cash management offerings
were harmonised in the Nordic countries and the
international branches with regard to pooling,
cash concentration and netting. By the end of the
year Corporate e-bank, an Internet-based appli-
cation giving real time access to accounts in all
four Nordic home markets, went live with pilot
customers.

In foreign exchange, money market and fixed in-
come, 2002 was characterised by continued high
activity levels and strong customer focus. As part
of the efforts to strengthen the capabilities in the
euro market, Nordea obtained dealership for
Deutsche Bundesbank and the Belgium Ministry
of Finance. Furthermore, Nordea made arrange-
ments to join TradeWeb – the world’s leading on-
line trading network for fixed-income securities. 

In derivatives, efforts to deal with customers’
needs in a more comprehensive way continued in
2002. In the corporate segment, demand for solu-
tions based on interest and FX derivatives in-
creased. Among institutional customers, duration-
adjustment solutions and interest rate hedge
strategies were in good demand. An asset/liabili-
ty management concept was further developed
and targeted towards new groups of institutional
customers with promising results.

During the year Nordea secured a position as the
number one mandated arranger and bookrunner

Nordea Annual Review 2002 41

Syndicated loans: Nordea’s position1

2001 2002 

Nordic Corporates
League table position # 3 # 1 
Market share 11% 18%

Swedish corporates
League table position # 9 # 1 
Market share 3% 14%
1 Based on loan volumes. Source: Dealogic Loanware



in syndicated loans for Nordic corporate borrow-
ers, and reached the first position also as regards
Swedish corporates. 

Despite difficult secondary markets, charac-
terised by low liquidity and volatile credit
spreads, the credit bond issuance activities were
further developed, and Nordea’s position in the
Eurobond market was strengthened. In terms of
issues arranged, Nordea now holds the leading
position among Nordic financial institutions.

Trade finance and export and project finance
business developed well, with increasing income
in 2002 in spite of low growth of Nordic exports
and stricter focus on transactions related only to
Nordic customers. In acquisition finance, Nordea
was lead or co-lead arranger in many of the medi-
um-sized transactions completed by private equi-
ty funds.

In equities and corporate finance, market condi-
tions deteriorated further compared to 2001.
Nordic stock market indices fell by an average
32% and stock market turnover by 23%. The mar-
ket for rights issues was very weak. In this envi-
ronment, Nordea Securities’ income fell by 30%
compared to 2001. In relative terms, Nordea Secu-
rities maintained and in some areas strengthened
its market position. In the fourth quarter, Nordea
Securities acted as Joint Global Coordinator in
Outokumpu’s EUR 300m rights offering. In
Nordic M&A, the company ranked second
among the Nordic advisers in 2002. Business
deals included advising Navision Software in re-
lation to the public bid from Microsoft and advis-
ing Kone on its public bid for Partek. On the
Nordic stock exchanges, Nordea Securities
ranked fourth in terms of turnover.

Custody Services’ transaction volume continued
to increase substantially during 2002, while the
volume of assets under custody at the end of 2002
was 6% lower compared to end 2001. A series of
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Custody business
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2002 Change Change 
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new mandates were won both locally and global-
ly, in both the traditional custody business and in
issuer services. Custody Services won the Euro-
money award for excellence in the category Best
at Custody in Nordic/Baltic region.

Focus in 2003
An organisational change implemented in Octo-
ber 2002, bringing key product units closer to the
customer responsible units, will ensure even bet-
ter coordination and prioritisation in meeting
customer needs. Focus in 2003 will remain on en-
hancing Nordea’s position in corporate and insti-
tutional banking in Sweden, with a continuation
of the current positive trend to be expected. Also,
further improvements will be made in services to
financial institution customers. 

Further enhancements of the cash management
offerings, including improved Nordic cash pool
services and continued build-up of Corporate 
e-bank as a common electronic banking system,
are of key importance regarding product devel-
opment.

Ensure operational excellence
In order to achieve the scale benefits from opera-
tions in FX and money market products, develop-
ment of centralised, cross-border platforms for
processing and settlement of trading was initiat-
ed late 2001 (Trading Infrastructure Programme).
The programme is progressing in accordance
with plans and will be finalised during 2003. 

Furthermore, a programme has been started up
to increase efficiency in the processing of trade fi-
nance transactions aiming at centralisation of
processing to one location, with scheduled com-
pletion in 2004.

Customer trading on e-Markets, Nordea’s Inter-
net-based distribution channel for FX and money
market products, is now available in all Nordic
countries. It is the aim to increasingly handle

customer trading in these products through e-
Markets.

Nordea Securities has taken specific actions to
adapt the organisation to the current difficult
market environment and ensure return to prof-
itability. A more focused strategy that targets its
Nordic client base has been implemented, with
emphasis on improving the position in the
Swedish market. Resources and attention are
directed to core markets where Nordea Securities
can gain leverage from Nordea’s strong franchise.
The cost level has been reduced by approxi-
mately 40% during the year, following personnel
reductions and closure of the offices in London
and New York. The number of staff was reduced
successively from 609 at the end of 2001 to 449 by
the end of 2002.

Customer satisfaction
Corporate Banking Division is on an annual basis
monitoring the development in customer satis-
faction. The survey for 2002 has reconfirmed
Nordea’s unchallenged position as the clear num-
ber one in the Nordic market.

Focus in 2003
For cost reasons and to ensure efficiency in execu-
tion, IT development projects in 2003 will be fo-
cused on a few key areas. The most important of
those are projects to reap scale benefits from
Nordic processes, enhancements of cash manage-
ment services and improvements of e-banking
capabilities.

Continued refinements of operations will pro-
vide additional efficiency improvements in 2003.
This includes further consolidation of the opera-
tions in the international branch office network,
where the focus at supporting Nordea’s Nordic
customers in achieving their international strate-
gies will be sharpened further in the years ahead.
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Optimise use of capital
The use of economic capital has decreased in Cor-
porate and Institutional Banking in 2002, as a
consequence of 
• Planned run-off of non-core credit portfolios
• Active syndication of credits, particularly in

shipping
• Weak demand for credits in some sectors
• The decline in the USD/EUR exchange rate

The framework of economic capital and econom-
ic profit has been implemented in Corporate and
Institutional Banking. Tools have been taken into
use to apply this framework in the daily business
transactions.

Focus in 2003
Efforts to improve the use of economic capital
will continue, with emphasis on using debt capi-

tal market products, syndications and asset dis-
tribution in general.

Results
Income totalled EUR 1,129m, down by EUR 54m
or 4% from the previous year. The strong growth
in off-balance-sheet-related earnings mainly in
Corporate Banking and Markets partly com-
pensated the sharp income drop in investment
banking business, EUR 46m from 2001, and a de-
cline in earnings from foreign branches, EUR 24m
from 2001. The net interest income declined EUR
28m explained by the decreased volume of on-
balance-sheet lending.

Total cost amounted to EUR 607m, up by EUR 24m
or 4% from the previous year. The increase was at-
tributable to high restructuring cost of EUR 51m
following decisions to take further actions to adjust
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Operating profit 2002 by main areas

Corporate International Investment
EURm Total Banking & Shipping Banking1 Other Markets2

Net interest income 417 289 125 – 3 –
Other income 712 559 67 93 –7 480
Total income 1,129 848 192 93 –4 480
Total expenses –607 –383 –70 –121 –33 –212
Profit before loan losses 522 465 122 –28 –37 268
Loan losses –32 –49 –18 0 35 0
Country risk 9 9 0 0 0 0
Equity method profit 12 0 0 0 12 0
Depreciation on goodwill –8 –5 –2 –1
Operating profit 503 420 104 –30 9 268

Lending, EUR bn 25.5 18,5 7.0 – 0.0

1 Numbers include income and cost related to the division’s activities as a customer responsible unit. In addition, the division have income and cost  related to its service and product responsibility
and that are allocated to other customer responsible units within the group. 

2 Markets has product responsibility for trading products such as FX, fixed income and related derivatives and is evaluated by monitoring the product result. The product result includes all revenues
and expenses related to the respective products, which is allocated to the customer responsible units within Corporate and Institutional Banking and Retail Banking.



the cost to deteriorated income potential in invest-
ment banking business and to further streamline
operations in Corporate Banking Division as well
as in the international network. The underlying
cost decreased by EUR 27m as a result of good
progress in the completion of merger synergies.
The number of personnel decreased by 227 to 2,436.

Credit quality has remained satisfactory in 2002.
Net loan losses in 2002 were EUR 32m compared
to EUR 266m in 2001, representing 0.1% of total
lending.  The remaining amount of general loan
loss provision, EUR 36m, which was booked in
the third quarter 2001, was fully released during
the year.

Operating profit improved to EUR 503m com-
pared to EUR 355m in 2001. Return on equity
went up to 16% from 10% in the previous year.
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Corporate and Institutional Banking 2002 EURm1

Full year Full year
2002 2001

Net interest income 417 447
Other income 712 736
Total income 1,129 1,183
Total expenses –607 –583
Profit before loan losses 522 600
Loan losses –32 –266
Transfer risk 9 12
Equity method 12 14
Depriciation of goodwill –8 –3
Operating profit 503 357

Return on equity, % 16% 10%
Cost/income ratio, % 54% 49%
Lending, EUR bn 25,5 30,9
Number of employees

(full-time equivalents) 2,436 2,663

1 According to the new organisation as from 1 October 2002. Figures have been restated to reflect the
new organisation.
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Asset Management & Life

Asset Management & Life is responsible for the
Group’s activities within institutional investment
management, life insurance and pensions, invest-
ment funds, private banking and in the retail
savings market in general.

Strategic direction
Grow revenue
Sales and customer relations will be further
prioritised while the volatility of Life profits will
be reduced. The strategic aim is to:
• Capture share of expected growth in the long-

term savings and life area
• Reduce volatility in Life & Pensions

Nordea’s operating model for Asset Management
& Life is fully integrated and ready to exploit op-
portunities for revenue growth as they reappear.

Ensure operational excellence
All activities are being reviewed on an ongoing
basis to adjust to market developments and focus
on core competencies with the aim to: 
• Centralise equity and fixed-income processes
• Standardise service concepts
• Streamline support functions

Non-core activities will be divested or discontin-
ued to ensure a focused and efficient platform for
future growth within Asset Management & Life.  

Optimise use of capital
Nordea is introducing the concept of economic
profit in its Life business.

Traditionally, Life & Pensions used significant
economic capital. By active asset/liability man-
agement and the development of next-generation
products, the new business model will increase
capital efficiency. 

Asset Management & Life in the Nordea Group, 
% of income 2002

Asset Management & Life
(4%)

Other (96%)

Result by activity 2002
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Grow revenue
Nordea remains the leading Nordic asset manag-
er. Assets under management were down to EUR
95.9bn at the end of 2002 compared to EUR
105.2bn at the end of 2001. 

Significant long-term growth in savings is expect-
ed despite the downturn in 2002. Nordea will
profit from this by attracting the future savings
flows directly from retail customers and indirect-
ly by exploiting the accelerating trend towards
outsourcing in the area of  institutional asset
management.

On the retail side, only Nordea has a full Nordic
footprint in both investment funds, life & pen-
sions and private banking and is unrivalled in its
Nordic retail distribution power. The Group’s
capacity for advice on customers’ total savings
portfolio derives from its fully integrated operat-
ing model for Asset Management & Life. As de-
mands for quality advice from customers and
regulators continue to increase, this is a major
competitive advantage.  

In the area of institutional investment manage-
ment, Nordea is alone among the Nordic players
with an investment process that is internationally
recognised and competitive: The Thematic In-
vestment Process®  or TIP®. With European and
International equities among its core products,
Nordea stands to benefit rather than lose from the
trend towards increased internationalisation of
equity portfolios. Moreover, together with the
Luxembourg-based Value process used in the
European fund distribution, the TIP® allows
Nordea to leverage its competencies by profitably
gathering assets outside its Nordic home mar-
kets.

Development in 2002
Despite a strong market position, the effect of a
reduced asset base coupled with a change in cus-
tomers’ asset mix reduced margins. Revenues
were significantly lower than in 2001. 

2002 saw continued strong results in European
Private Banking and European Fund Distribution,
proving the value of geographical diversification.
Net inflows to these activities reached EUR 1.7bn
and Nordea was cited among the top European
cross-border fund managers by the Financial
Times. The year also proved successful in terms of
leveraging the TIP® by winning new institutional
mandates in Europe and North America.
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Approximate distribution of assets end of 2001
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In the Nordic retail segment, Nordea reacted to
the deteriorating environment by continuing to
stress advice on asset allocation and the portfolio
approach as the key to overall investment return.
Nordea successfully defended its share of total
Nordic fund assets under management, which re-
mains virtually unchanged compared to 2002.

Within Life, Nordea, along with the industry as a
whole, has faced challenges of volatility and in-
sufficient profitability. To address these issues,
equity exposure was gradually reduced through
a combination of outright sales, hedging and a
separation of shareholders’ equity and policy-
holders’ reserves in Denmark. This has reduced
volatility in earnings and – combined with the in-
troduction of a new business model using eco-
nomic profit as the main steering parameter – will
improve returns to shareholders.

Focus in 2003 
For Asset Management & Life, the main competi-
tive parameters are the quality of Nordea’s prod-
ucts and advice to customers in the broadly de-
fined savings area. The active use of these to pro-
mote both new sales and customer retention will
be the main focus for 2003 . Product development
will also be prioritised as will profitable growth
in the Group’s European distribution channels
for funds and institutional asset management.

Ensure operational excellence
Nordea aims to excel in the provision of both ad-
vice and investment products in order to be
recognised as the best partner for wealth creation.
At the same time, the current market environ-
ment accentuates the need for focused strategies
and the importance of efficiency and firm control
of costs.

Performance in 2002
In a survey of investment performance published
by Euromoney Global Investor in October,
Nordea was ranked as no 22 out of  over 100 US
and European fund groups. This meets Nordea’s
strategic target of top-quartile performance on an
overall level. However, performance in several
products was below expectations,  especially dur-
ing the first half of the year.  In the second half,
remedial actions were taken. At the same time,
Nordea was chosen by Lipper as European equity
fund group of the year and individual funds won
awards in several European countries. Nordea’s
North American Value fund took the majority of
these.

In the second quarter, Investment Management
centralised the  management of European, US
and Global equities in Copenhagen, focusing re-
sources on the internationally recognised The-
matic Investment Process® (TIP®). As the exter-
nal environment deteriorated further, Investment
Management announced additional measures to
improve cost-efficiency. A considerable number
of redundancies in Investment Management dur-
ing 2002 resulted in a more focused platform. 

The other business units of Asset Management
& Life also took initiatives to reduce cost and im-
prove focus on an ongoing basis. Standardised
service concepts based on advanced customer ty-
pology are being implemented in both Nordic
and European Private Banking, while support
functions for the affluent and high-net-worth-in-
dividual segments have been merged. Moreover,
in order to focus fully on the Nordea brand, Tre-
vise – a subsidiary of Nordea operating under its
own brand – will be fully integrated into Nordea
Private Banking.

Customer satisfaction
To track satisfaction, Investment Management
uses an external survey of investment manage-
ment firms conducted among clients and
prospects during 2001/2002. On a scale from 1 to
5, Investment Management scored 4 or above in
all Nordic countries. Nordea’s relative position in
the institutional segment was strongest in Den-
mark and Finland with room for improvement in
Sweden and Norway.

A customer satisfaction survey among Nordea’s
Nordic private banking customers has been con-
ducted in 2002. The results indicate a high level of
customer satisfaction, with some national varia-
tions. 

In April 2002, Nordea’s European fund distribu-
tion was voted among the best in quality of client
service to third-party fund distributors and IFA’s
in a poll conducted by the German-language
trade magazine Fonds professionell.

Long Term Savings & Life measures customer
satisfaction among retail customers in the area of
savings and investments using results from the
Retail Banking CSI-survey. 

Focus in 2003
The implementation of common, cross-border
portfolio management and fund administration
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systems is central to Nordea’s efforts to extract all
synergies and ensure maximum cost efficiency
and will continue in 2003. The standardised serv-
ice concepts for private banking launched in
2002, will be fully rolled out in 2003. 

Optimise use of capital
With asset management demanding only limited
economic capital, the focus in this area is on
Nordea’s  Life activities. The Group aims to be a
leader in the ongoing transformation of the Life &
Pensions industry. This entails moving to a busi-
ness model based on the pricing of risk through
economic capital to ensure long-term financial
viability.

Performance in 2002
Following the move to separate Life from the
general insurance business divested during the
year, the implementation of a new business mod-
el for Life began. As part of this process, responsi-
bility for asset/liability management, product de-
velopment and other areas was placed in new
Nordic staff functions to improve control and ex-
tract synergies. Increased control was first ap-
plied in risk management, reducing volatility and
improving results beginning in the third quarter
of 2002.

Focus in 2003
2003 will see the full implementation of the new
economic business model. Product development
facilitating better long-term returns for customers
will play a central role in this process, as will the
full integration of Life & Pensions products into
Nordea’s portfolio approach to retail savings.
Finally, business lines where profitability is insuf-
ficient to cover the capital charge implied by their
level of risk will be restructured, divested or
closed.

Result 
Product result for Asset Management in 2002 was
influenced by weaker net inflows and changed
asset allocation. Revenues were EUR 477m, down
10% compared to 2001. Focused cost control led
to a reduction in operating expenses, so that
cost/income ratio before distribution expenses
was slightly improved from last year. However,
calculated expenses related to distribution in Re-
tail Banking increased, so that total expenses
were at EUR 299m, up 6% from last year.

Product result for Life was at EUR 2m, an im-
provement from last year’s loss of EUR 17m. The

main reason for the improvement in the product
result is the improvement in investment return
reflecting the reduction in equity exposure that
took place during 2002 and reduced interest level
in certain countries. Financial buffers were re-
duced considerably during the year, being used
to fulfil guaranteed returns to policy holders. Net
written premiums were EUR 2.5bn, down 7%
from last year. Premiums from traditional life
were unchanged from last year while unit-linked
premiums fell considerably. 
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Key figures – Asset Management activities
Full year Full year

EURm 2002 2001

Revenues 477 528 
Expenses –196 –223 
Distribution expenses –103 –60 

Product result 178 245
of which profit within Retail Banking 84 155

Operating profit, customer responsible units 80 90 
Cost/income ratio, % – CRU’s 66 64 
Assets under Management, EURbn 96 105 
Number of employees (full-time equivalents) 853 846

Key figures – Life activities
Full year Full year

EURm 2002 2001

Traditional life insurance
Premiums written, net of reinsurance 2 021 2 034
Normalised investment return 1 1 047 1 144
Benefits paid and change in provisions –2 628 –2 755
Insurance operating expenses –125 –112
Normalised operating margin 1 315 311
Fluctuations compared to normalised 

investment return –1 016 –1 090
Change in discount rate for life provisions –243 –211
Actual operating margin –944 –990

of which allocated to policyholders –28 –6
of which to/from  financial buffers 988 975

Net profit from Health & Pers. Accident Insurance –10 –
Operating profit 6 –21

Unit-linked business
Premiums written, net of reinsurance 470 632
Operating profit –4 4

Total
Premiums written, net of reinsurance 2 491 2 666
Total operating profit before tax 2 –17
Of which allocated to Retail Banking 80 n.a

Bonds 14 551 11 205
Equities 2 524 5 001
Property 2 041 1 740
Unit-linked 2 974 3 378
Total investment assets 22 090 21 324
Investment return, % 2 0.2 –0.7

Technical provisions 21 370 20 534
of which financial buffers 551 1 566

Number of employees (full time equivalents) 943 802
1 In the statutory reporting investment asets are valued at market price. As a consequence, short term

fluctuations in financial markets effects the operating profit. The normalised investment return reflects
the expected long term return on investments based on the applicable asset mix within Life operations.

2 Exclusive of Unit linked business
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Group Treasury

Group Treasury is responsible for the Group’s
own investment portfolio and market risk taking
in financial instruments (excluding investments
within insurance), as well as group funding and
asset and liability management.

Strategic direction
Grow revenue
Group Treasury increases revenue by proactively
offering financial solutions and managing the
risk mandate:
• Group Treasury supports the Nordea name by

enhancing the relationships with rating agen-
cies and investors and hence consistently
strives to lower the cost of funds and diversify
the funding base

• The risk mandate allocated to Group Treasury
is efficiently used to take advantage of the op-
portunities given in the financial market at all
times 

Ensure operational excellence
Group Treasury ensures operational excellence in
all processes by using benchmarking and best
practice. The aim is to:
• Continue to increase the awareness of costs,

especially IT costs 
• Continue the implementation of the integrated

IT platform
• Implement a new framework for management

of Nordea’s pension funds
• Further streamline the operations within all

units

Optimise use of capital
Group Treasury optimises capital through further
optimisation of risk opportunities relative to use
of capital. Priorities include:
• Further focus on the use of capital in risk tak-

ing and managing risk in the banking book
• Management of counterpart credit exposure in

deposits and OTC derivatives
• Disinvestment of long-term investments.

Group Treasury in The Nordea Group, % of income 2002

Group Treasury (1%)

Other (99%)

Investments at the end of 2002, EURm

Equities (476)
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Operating profit by main area 2002
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Grow revenue
In 2002, Group Treasury’s increased focus on
direct marketing to money market and fixed in-
come investors which resulted in a more diversi-
fied and stable funding base. Nordea’s acquisi-
tion of Postgirot Bank had a positive impact on
Nordea’s liquidity position. Revenues from man-
aging the active risk mandate increased.  

Ensure operational excellence
In 2002, the equity investment activities were
consolidated from three to one location. In order
to maximise synergies in funding activities, exter-
nal operations are now centralised to a limited
number of locations while providing a local serv-
ice in 10 locations. 

A new framework for management of  Nordea’s
own pension foundation has been devised and
is in full force in Nordea Bank Sweden since
1 January 2003. During first half of 2003 the same
framework will be implemented in Nordea Bank
Finland and Nordea Bank Norway.

Optimise use of capital
In 2002, some of the larger listed and private eq-
uity holdings have been sold. After the reduction
in private equity funds the Group at the end of
2002 had EUR 210m invested in private equity
with additional 118m in commitments, totalling a
maximum of 328m at the end of 2002. 

Nordea successfully enhanced its diversification
of funding base in 2002. Transactions included
the placing of Nordea's first ever GBP denominat-
ed perpetual transaction of subordinated Upper
Tier II capital in the UK market. Despite the
volatile market the GBP 300m bond was well re-
ceived. In addition, Nordea issued further EUR
300m of subordinated debt in the second half of
2002. Other issues in 2002 included a 12-year EUR
500m subordinated bond. Nordea concluded its
2002 capital raising activity by successfully issu-
ing a USD 800m subordinated bond in the US in-
stitutional market. This meant a re-introduction

of the Nordea name in the US Yankee market af-
ter an absence of 3 years. During 2002 Nordea
issued gross EUR 2,071m, the net effect after ma-
turing loans and calls is EUR 1,114m.

Results
Operating earnings from Group Treasury consist
of earnings before investments and investment
earnings. Earnings before investments is the re-
sult of Group Funding activities, whereas invest-
ment earnings are the result from Group Invest-
ment.

Group Treasury’s operating profit was EUR 114m
with EUR 76m in earnings before investments.

Investment earnings showed a result of EUR
38m. On the positive side the result was influ-
enced by falling interest rates affecting the fixed
income portfolio and from the active risk man-
date in fixed income, foreign exchange and
equity markets. On the negative side the equity
portfolio was influenced by the fall in world
equity markets.

Investment earnings are measured after operat-
ing and funding cost. Estimated gross return be-
fore operating cost and funding was approxi-
mately 4.5%

An improved  valuation process for private equity
has been implemented at the end of 2002. This
process involves a conservative approximated
mark-to-market valuation based on independent
pricing of all investments within each of the funds.
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Key figures

EURm 2002 2001

Operating profit, EURm 114 174
Cost/income ratio, % 28 19

Bonds, EURm 12,061 13,378
Equities, EURm 476 574
Investments, EURm 12,537 13,952
Number of employees (full-time equivalents) 96 101

Operating profit by main area
Fixed income Equity

Total portfolios portfolios Group Funding
EURm 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Income 115 108 –63 28 106 78
Expenses –9 –8 –5 –4 30 28
Profit excluding investment earnings 76 50 76 50

Investment earnings 38 124 106 100 –68 24
Operating profit 114 174



What’s your plan?



Whenever individuals or corporations strive to reach their 

objectives and realise their dreams, we will be there to provide 

the appropriate financial solution and try to remove any 

financial obstacles in their path.



In order to better coordinate and accelerate the re-
structuring and integration of production
processes in Nordea a new unit Group Processing
and Technology (GPT) was established in Octo-
ber 2002. The new unit consists of Group IT, Elec-
tronic Banking, Global Operations Services and
Production and Productivity. These are all areas,
which have significant integration and unifica-
tion activities under way. Transferring these ac-
tivities into one unit will release time for the busi-
ness areas to focus on customers, while at the
same time it enables the new organisation to
focus on achieving excellence in operations. 

GPT has a direct impact on 1/3 of the Group’s to-
tal costs and has approximately 8,000 employees.

Streamlining production processes 
During 2002, several end-to-end production
processes have been analysed in the Retail Bank-
ing operations with a focus on improving effi-
ciency.

In Sweden more than 20 production tasks have
been centralised from branches into central units.
Centralising production enabled Retail Banking
staff to concentrate efforts on customer-related
activities.

In 2003, the findings from the business cases for
Loans & Credit operations and Cash and Cashier
services will be implemented. The effect of these
implementations and other planned cost reduc-
tion activities in 2003 will be an annual reduction

in central production units of approximately
EUR 10m. 

Reprioritising integration projects
In order to speed up integration, Nordea
evaluated and reprioritised some 30 existing or
planned integration and related projects in the
fourth quarter of 2002. As a result,  Nordea de-
cided to accelerate four integration activities: con-
solidation of IT production, reduction in the
number of IT business applications, further de-
velopment of a common e-bank platform and in-
tegration of Postgirot operations and systems
into Nordea. Other previously planned projects
were continued with modifications, re-scoped or
postponed.

IT production and development
IT accounts for approximately 20% of Nordea’s
total expenses. Of total IT expenses development
accounts for 47% and production for 53%. When
deciding new financial targets in the autumn of
2002 it was decided in 2003 to cap IT development
costs at 80% of the 2002-level, corresponding to a
cost saving of approximately EUR 90m.

During 2002 it was decided to consolidate IT pro-
duction at the Nordic level. The number of tech-
nological platforms will be reduced and each
platform will be consolidated into one single lo-
cation. The aim is to achieve the lowest IT opera-
tional cost per transaction in the region and at the
same time reach a significant reduction in total
operations costs. Cost reductions can be expected
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Processes and Technology

Nordea will focus on achieving excellence in production processes to improve cost efficiency

through further integration of production, processes and technologies.



from centralising and standardising software, re-
duced license costs and  from a smaller work-
force. Consolidation will lead to the gradual cre-
ation of common Nordic platforms.

In 2002 Group IT started the implementation of a
comprehensive governance and control structure
for IT development, maintenance and production.
All IT development will be business-driven – this
means that business areas decide what develop-
ment is needed and IT decides how the develop-
ment will take place.

The organisation of Group IT has been har-
monised to reflect Nordea’s philosophy for IT op-

erations. Clarity of roles and responsibilities and
a genuine Nordea perspective are some of the key
ideas behind the change.

Reducing complexity
A crucial factor in improving Nordea’s cost effi-
ciency is to evaluate the portfolio of business ap-
plications and related value chains and reduce
the number of applications through integration,
standardisation and simplification. This is one of
the key integration activities during the coming
two to three years.

Standardisation of different end-to-end processes
will be continued during 2003.
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Phased implementation
The core strategy is to set appropriate policies,
integrate CSR issues into relevant aspects of the
business and to report transparently.

In a first step of the implementation plan, rele-
vant policies are being developed starting with a
Group Code of Conduct which has been adopted
by the Board of Directors. 

A CSR Officer will be appointed to support the
efforts by networking with business units.

In the second step, based on policies and commit-
ments, CSR-related focus areas and relevant
measurements will be integrated into the bal-
anced scorecards of the Nordea management sys-
tem. Thirdly, disclosure will be extended. 

Compliance – Business ethics
The Group Compliance function has been
strengthened and shall provide support and
guidance to business areas to ensure that princi-
ples for conducting business and actual conduct
are in accordance with all applicable laws, rules,
codes and standards.

The network of Compliance Officers within the
business areas of Asset Management & Life and
Corporate and Institutional Banking focus their
work on ensuring adequate reporting routines for
compliance incidents. These, as well as regular
compliance reports, are submitted both to the
business organisation and through the independ-
ent Compliance Officer network to Senior Man-
agement.

Nordea Annual Review 200256

1 Corporate Social Responsibility, CSR, and Sustainable Development, SD, are becoming interchangeable concepts. Social Responsibility includes environmental responsibility
and Sustainable Development includes social developments. Combined with financial performance they are covered by the single concept of Sustainability. For Nordea, CSR, has
become the term most often used when referring to the area of Corporate Governance, Business Ethics, Environmental Care and Social Responsibility.

Corporate Citizenship Principles

Nordea is committed to sustainable development by
combining financial performance with environmental and
social responsibility.

• We are committed to freedom. We stand for democracy and
a responsible market economy. We support the UN Global
Compact and follow the UN declaration of Human Rights, ILO-
conventions and the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enter-
prises. We do not discriminate based on gender, ethnic back-
ground, religion or any other ground. 

• We are committed to equal opportunities. We seek high
professionalism and make it possible for our employees to de-
velop and assume responsibility. We support diversity and a fair
representation of women and men as well as ethnic minorities in
our organisation. 

• We are committed to caring for the environment. We work
to reduce negative and increase positive environmental impact
from our business activities. We have signed the UNEP Banking
Principles.

• We are committed to good citizenship. We respect the
laws, regulations and norms of the countries where we operate
while also adhering to our Group policies. We work with others
for a prosperous and sustainable development in the communi-
ties where our customers and employees do business and live.

• We are committed to ethics, honesty and sincerity. We do
not offer, request or accept unwarranted gifts and payment nor
limit free and fair competition. By adhering to Group policies so
that our integrity can not be questioned, we enable sharehold-
ers, customers, employees and other concerned parties to make
balanced and well-founded decisions. 

To ensure performance according to these principles, we
adopt relevant policies, set targets in our management
system, ensure that these principles are known throughout
the organisation and encourage reports on non-compli-
ance, carry out systematic follow up and deliver open and
reliable reporting. 

Nordea has started taking decisive action at Group level in the field of Corporate Social

Responsibility. After thorough assessment and strategy development, the Board of Directors

has adopted the Nordea Corporate Citizenship Principles and a strategy to integrate CSR

aspects into the Group’s management system.

Corporate Social Responsibility, CSR1
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Introduction
Nordea’s values are based on our Nordic heritage of freedom,
equal opportunities, care for the environment and good citizenship
including ethics, honesty and sincerity. They are articulated in our
Corporate Citizenship Principles that the Board approved in
December, 2002.

Nordea’s long-term success is based on trust and confidence. To
uphold trust and confidence we must ensure that our behaviour
supports the values we stand for. This is what we mean by a high
standard of business ethics. 

The Nordea Code of Conduct describes in general terms the ethi-
cal principles for guiding our business, treating our customers, and
the behaviour we expect from our employees. The code is intend-
ed to support the Group and its employees in performing their
assigned tasks and decision making. In cases of uncertainty, the
rule is to seek advice and guidance from your nearest supervisor.

By following this code employees will strengthen Nordea’s reputa-
tion and contribute to our goal of being the leading financial servic-
es group in the Nordic and Baltic Markets. 

High standards of integrity and fair business
• Nordea shall be characterized by a high degree of integrity,

professionalism and ethics.
• Nordea is only involved in business that is in accordance with

law, regulations, signed commitments and our own standards of
business ethics.

• Nordea employees are qualified, trained and have management
structures to provide the relevant services.

• When providing services, Nordea has terms and conditions for
the services that set out the rights and obligations of the parties. 

• Nordea has organisational structures, procedures and internal
control (i.e. Chinese walls) so that sensitive market information is
not spread beyond the areas in which it should be handled. 

• Nordea is diligent when providing advice.
• Nordea’s marketing and advertising material is not misleading

and provides accurate information on the services offered.

Proper handling of customers 
• Within the appropriate business context, Nordea familiarises

itself with the customer’s financial standing, experience and
objectives. 

• Nordea provides understandable information (if relevant includ-
ing potential risks) on the services provided. 

• Our ambition is to always ensure that the customer knows what
he is deciding and understands the potential consequences.

• Conflicts of interest between Nordea and its customers are
identified and prevented or managed so that customers are just-
ly treated.

• Nordea has procedures for the processing of complaints, and
provides instructions on how to file a complaint and responds to
them within a reasonable time.

Ethical employee behaviour
• Employees do not offer, request or accept inappropriate gifts,

payments or travel. 
• Except when using the services provided to ordinary customers

through electronic media (e.g. internet banking), employees do
not execute their own financial transactions.

• Employees do not participate in business transactions where
conflict of interest can arise with their own economic standing or
with a third-party where a close relationship exists. 

• Employees do not conduct transactions that even can give the
impression of using insider information and dishonesty or will un-
dermine the trust and confidence in Nordea.

• Employees do not conduct private transactions or provide eco-
nomic guarantees that can seriously undermine their own private
financial standing.

• Employee external engagements do not interfere with their abili-
ty to perform their duties and functions as an employee or under-
mine trust and confidence in Nordea. In cases of uncertainty
external engagements are declared.

Scope and application
• All employees of Nordea Group and non-permanent staff work-

ing on behalf of Nordea, are subject to this Code of Conduct. 
• It is the responsibility of each manager to ensure that this code is

known and conformed to within his/her respective area of re-
sponsibility and to act in a manner that sets a proper example.

• It is the responsibility of Business Area and Unit Managers to de-
termine the necessity of more detailed codes. 

• Infringement by employees of this code and subsequent poli-
cies, guidelines, and instructions could result in disciplinary ac-
tion. 

• The Compliance Organisation provides support and advice to
business areas regarding compliance to this Code of Conduct
and regularly verifies the adequacy of policies, guidelines and in-
structions to ensure compliance with the code.

• The Group Compliance Officer leads the Group Compliance
Organisation and reports major findings and issues related to
this code directly to the Group Executive Management.

Nordea Code of Conduct

Nordea Environmental Policy
A Group Environmental Policy based on the Cor-
porate Citizenship Principles will be adopted.
The policy will provide guidance on how the
Group shall manage and control environmental
issues in its own operations (“Environmental
Footprint”) and at the same time support the re-
duction of costs and business risks of the Group. 

The policy will also guide policymaking and
business initiatives regarding financial involve-
ment by business units and cooperation with
suppliers.

For further information on CSR in the Nordea
Group, please refer to www.nordea.com.



The number of full-time employees showed a de-
cline in 2002. The slight increase in September
was due to the inclusion of LG Petro Bank.

This trend is expected to continue. When vacan-
cies occur, the aim is to fill these by internal rather
than external recruitment. Analysis of the em-
ployee structure in Nordea shows an excellent
mix of young potential and experience.

There is a large number of employees in the age
group 25–35 years old. There is a broad base of
experience.

However, in the light of needs for reduction in
manpower in accordance with further develop-
ment of customer self-service and other changes
there is also flexibility since many employees are
approaching retirement. There is a large propor-
tion of employees with a higher education, ensur-
ing capacity for the ongoing changes.

Employment satisfaction
An employee satisfaction (ESI) survey is carried
out on a yearly basis.

The results from the 2002 survey showed a drop
in the overall Employee Satisfaction Index of
3 points from 70 to 67 on a scale from 0–100 with
61 as the lowest and 68 as the highest score on
business areas/group functions level.

The main reason for the drop in the overall score
is the drop in the perception of “Nordea’s image
as employer” and “Terms of employment”. Fur-
ther analyses on these are carried out and appro-
priate actions taken.

The survey was this year expanded with a possi-
bility to benchmark externally with the European
Employee Index.

The benchmarking of the results shows that em-
ployees in Nordea generally are more satisfied
and motivated than the general findings both
compared to financial labour markets and the
general national labour markets.

Further it shows higher satisfaction with “Imme-
diate superior” and “Teamwork”, establishing a
good foundation for further development in effi-
ciency and productivity.

A common system for performance & develop-
ment dialogue has been introduced resulting in
90% of the employees having had a performance
& development dialogue in 2002.
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Human Resources

In Nordea the aim is to attract, develop and retain highly motivated, competent and

empowered employees. The employees form the basis for the successful development of

Nordea. To be an attractive employer for the generations to come and to retain the excellent

mix of young potentials and experience in the organisation are challenging tasks for the

line organisation and the HR function.

Employee Satisfaction Index
2001 2002

Nordea1 70 67
Corporate and Institutional Banking 65 63
Asset Management & Life 65 65
Retail Banking2 70 68
Group Corporate Centre 65 61
Group Staffs 70 64
Group Audit 64 62

1 Nordea 2001 estimated
2 Retail Banking 2001 estimated



The HR Partner concept has been revised to pro-
vide an even better support to managers in busi-
ness areas and group functions in the dealing
with HR matters. Necessary training of HR Part-
ners has accordingly been conducted.

An audit of executive managers has been done in
order to scout for new talent.

As supplements to the already existing Nordea
Executive Education & Development programme
for executive managers, new Nordea pro-
grammes for first line managers and managers
leading through managers have been developed.

These programmes are designed to support the
development of one Nordea focusing on the
managerial skills necessary to create shareholder
value aligned with the core values.

The existing profit sharing systems for all em-
ployees have been revised and it was decided to
start to harmonise the incentives paid out.

HR processes/systems
To ensure more efficient running of the adminis-
trative HR routines especially cross-border, a
project implementing SAP HR has been initiated.

The project will create full transparency of the
competencies available in the Nordea Group and
further create a high level of self-service for all
managers and employees when dealing with HR
administration.

In order to meet the rising demand for training
and development a common system for e-learn-
ing has been implemented. e-learning will be in-
corporated in most training activities enabling
the individual employee to participate in training
with a reduced number of formal training days.

Training will be more cost efficient and allow
more time to meet the customers. Not least, new
training programmes can reach more employees
at a higher speed improving the quality of cus-
tomer service.
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Hans Dalborg
Chairman
Board member since 1998. 
Born 1941. Board chairman of the
Royal Swedish Opera, Uppsala
University, Young Enterprise
Sweden and the Norwegian-
Swedish Chamber of Commerce.
Board member of Axel Johnson
AB, AB Svenska Spel, the Stock-
holm Concert Hall Foundation.
Member of EFR – European Finan-
cial Services Round Table and IVA
– Royal Swedish Academy of
Engineering Sciences. 
Shareholding: 40,760 Nordea

Board of Directors

Timo Peltola
Vice Chairman
Board member since 1998. 
Born 1946. Chief Executive Officer
of Huhtamäki Oyj. Chairman of
the Supervisory Board of Ilmari-
nen Mutual Pension Insurance
Company and of Instrumen-
tarium Abp. Member of the Super-
visory Boards of the Finnish
Cultural Foundation and the
Finnish Fair Corporation.
Shareholding: 5,187 Nordea

Kjell Aamot
Board member since 2001. 
Born 1950. Chief Executive Officer
of Schibsted ASA. 
Board chairman of Aftenposten
AS, Verdens Gang AS, Schibsted
TV & Film AS, Schibsted Print
Media AS, Schibsted Multimedia
AS.
Shareholding: 0 Nordea

Dan Andersson
Board member since 1998. 
Born 1948. Chief economist at the
Swedish Trade Union Federation.
Board member of Tredje AP-
fonden, AMF Pension Fond-
förvaltning AB, Arbetsmarknads-
försäkringar, pensionsförsäkrings-
aktiebolag och Arbetsmarknads-
försäkringar, ömsesidigt kredit-
försäkringsbolag.
Shareholding: 0 Nordea

Edward Andersson
Board member since 1999. 
Born 1933. Professor Emeritus. 
Board member of Helvar Merca
Corporation and Suomi Life
Insurance Company. Chairman of
Grankulla City Council, Sigrid
Juselius Foundation, Ella and
Georg Ehrnrooth’s Foundation
and Föreningen Konstsamfundet. 
Shareholding: 28,560 Nordea

Harald Arnkværn
Board member since 2001. 
Born 1939. Partner at Advokat-
firmaet Haavind Vislie DA.
Board chairman of AS Vin-
monopolet, Schøyen Gruppen AS
and GIEK Kredittforsikring AS.
Board member of Concordia BV
and Concordia Bus AB (publ).
Chairman of Board of represen-
tatives Orkla ASA.
Shareholding: 0 Nordea

Bertel Finskas
Board member since 2000. 
Born 1948. 
Employee representative. 
Shareholding: 1,400 Nordea

Liv Haug
Board member since 2001. 
Born 1954. 
Employee representative.
Shareholding: 0 Nordea
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Lene Haulrik
Board member since 2000. 
Born 1959. 
Employee representative.
Shareholding: 2,457 Nordea

Claus Høeg Madsen
Board member since 2000. 
Born 1945. Partner at Jonas Bruun
Advokatfirma. Board member of
Genpack A/S, ISS A/S and Singer
Danmark A/S.
Shareholding: 1,803 Nordea

Bernt Magnusson
Board member since 1998. 
Born 1941. Board chairman of
Swedish Match AB and Dyno
Nobel ASA. Board vice chairman
of Net Insight AB. 
Board member of Volvo Car
Corporation, Höganäs AB,
Emtunga International AB.
Advisor to the European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development.
Shareholding: 27,000 Nordea.

Jørgen Høeg Pedersen
Board member since 2000. 
Born 1938. Managing Director of
Copenhagen Wholesale Market
for Fruit, Vegetables and Flowers.
Chairman Nordea Danmark
Fonden. Board member of
Ejendomsselskabet Axelborg I/S.
Shareholding: 7,519 Nordea

Kaija Roukala-Hyvärinen
Board member since 2000. 
Born 1953. 
Employee representative.
Shareholding: 135 Nordea

Maija Torkko
Board member since 2002.
Born 1946.
Senior VP and Corporate
Controller of Nokia Corp.
Shareholding: 12,000 Nordea

Shareholdings also include shares held by family members.
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1 Country Senior Executive

Shareholdings also include shares held by family members.

Group Executive Management

Lars G Nordström
Group CEO. 
Born 1943. 
Appointed member 2000. 
Shareholding: 15,000 Nordea.

Christian Clausen
Head of Asset Management & Life. 
Born 1955. 
Appointed member 2001. 
Shareholding: 8,267 Nordea.

Carl-Johan Granvik
Head of Group Credit and Risk
Control, CRO. 
Born 1949. 
Appointed member 2000. 
Shareholding: 4,175 Nordea.

Kari Jordan
Head of Retail Banking. 
Born 1956. 
Appointed member 2002. 
Shareholding: 1,356 Nordea.

Arne Liljedahl1
Head of Group Corporate Centre,
CFO. 
Born 1950. 
Appointed member 2000. 
Shareholding: 11,100 Nordea.

Markku Pohjola1

Head of Group Processing and
Technology, Deputy CEO. 
Born 1948. 
Appointed member 2000. 
Shareholding: 8,080 Nordea.

Tom Ruud1

Head of Corporate and Institutional
Banking. 
Born 1950. 
Appointed member 2001. 
Shareholding: 0 Nordea.

Peter Schütze1

Head of Group Staffs. 
Born 1948. 
Appointed member 2002. 
Shareholding: 7,660 Nordea.
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Retail Banking
Kari Jordan

Regional Banks Denmark
Peter Lybecker

West Denmark
Jørn Kr. Jensen

East Denmark
Michael Rasmussen

Regional Banks Finland
Harri Sailas

Helsinki & Uusimaa
Pekka Nuuttila

Central & Western Finland
Pekka Ojala

East & North Finland
Jukka Perttula

Regional Banks Norway1

Baard Syrrist

Oslo
Alex Madsen

East Norway
Sigvart Hovland

South & West Norway
Inge Støve

North Norway
Egil Valderhaug

Regional Banks Sweden
Hans Jacobson

Northern & Central Sweden
Siv Svensson

Stockholm
Johan Sylvén

Western Sweden
Sten Lindblad

Southern Sweden
Arne Bernroth

Regional Banks Poland and Baltic
Countries
Thomas Neckmar

Household
Roland Olsson

Corporate
Håkan Nordblad

Long Term Savings & Life2

Thomas Ericsson
Eira Palin-Lehtinen

Planning and Control
Claus K. Møller

Market Support
Maj Stjernfeldt

Nordea Finance
Stefan Källström

Corporate and Institutional Banking
Tom Ruud

Corporate Banking Division
Henrik Mogensen

Corporate Banking Division
Denmark
Jørgen Høholt

Corporate Banking Division
Finland
Olli-Petteri Lehtinen

Corporate Banking Division
Norway
Øivind Solvang

Corporate Banking Division
Sweden
Birger Gezelius

International and Shipping Division
Carl E. Steen

Markets
Peter Nyegaard

Investment Banking, 
Nordea Securities
Frans Lindelöw

Financial Control
Ari Kaperi 

Asset Management & Life
Christian Clausen

Investment Management
Henrik Priergaard

Investment Funds
Jan Petter Borvik

Long Term Savings & Life2

Thomas Ericsson

Nordic Private Banking
Eira Palin-Lehtinen

European Private Banking
Jhon Mortensen

Life & Pensions
Allan Polack

Business Area Controller
Magnus Erkander

Group Processing and Technology
Markku Pohjola, Deputy CEO

Group IT
Jarle Haug

Electronic Banking
Bo Harald

Global Operations Services
Tapio Saarelainen

Production and Productivity
Per E. Berg

Group Integration Office
Timo Jalamo

Group Corporate Centre
Arne Liljedahl, CFO

Group Credit and Risk Control
Carl-Johan Granvik, CRO

Group Treasury
Jakob Grinbaum

Group Planning and Control
Erik Öhman

Group Finance
Jarmo Laiho

Investor Relations
Sigurd Carlsen

Group Corporate Development
Jakob Grinbaum

Group Staffs
Peter Schütze

Group Support and Procurement
Gert Aage Nielsen

Group Human Resources
Peter Forsblad

Group Identity and Communications
Torben Laustsen

Group Legal
Lena Eriksson

Group Compliance
Sonja Lohse

Group Management Secretariat
Flemming Dalby Jensen

Internal Audit Activity
Dag Andresen

Company Secretary
Kari Suominen

Nordea Management

1 As of 1 April 2003, the four regional banks in Norway
will be reorganised into two regional banks, Regional
Bank East and Regional Bank Coast, headed by Alex
Madsen and Egil Valderhaug, respectively.

2 Long Term Savings & Life is a Joint Unit between
Retail Banking and Asset Management & Life. 

Lars G Nordström
CEO
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The annual general meeting (AGM) of Nordea
AB (publ) will be held on Thursday 24 April 2003
at 2.00 pm Swedish time in Aula Magna, Stock-
holm University, Frescativägen 10, Stockholm,
with the possibility to participate, through
telecommunication, at 3.00 pm Finnish time in
Finlandia Hall, Congress wing, Mannerheimintie
13 e, Helsinki, and at 2.00 pm Danish time in Bella
Center, Copenhagen.

Common instructions to all shareholders
Shareholders who wish to participate in the AGM
shall be entered in the share register maintained
by the Swedish Securities Register Center (VPC
AB) not later than 14 April 2003 and notify
Nordea AB (publ) of their participation.

Shareholders, whose shares are held in trust in
Sweden, who are holders of Finnish Depositary
Receipts in Finland or who are holders of shares
registered in Værdipapircentralen in Denmark,
therefore have to re-register temporarily their
shares in their own names to be entitled to partic-
ipate in the AGM. Such re-registration shall be
completed at VPC AB in Sweden by 14 April
2003, which means that the shareholder shall, in
good time prior to this date, inform the trustee
about this.

At notification all shareholders are requested to
state in which place participation would take
place. Shareholders, who have their shares regis-
tered in more than one country, should state this
at the time of notification.

Shares registered in VPC AB in Sweden
Notification of participation shall be made at the
latest on 16 April 2003 at 1.00 pm to Nordea AB
(publ), Group Legal H 50, SE-105 71 Stockholm,
or by telephone +46 8 614 97 10, 
or by fax +46 8 614 87 70, 
or on the Internet at www.nordea.com.

Finnish Depositary Receipts in Finland
Request for re-registration of Finnish Depositary
Receipts and notification of participation shall be
made at the latest on 11 April 2003 at 4.00 pm
Finnish time to Nordea Bank Finland Plc, 2590
Issuer Services, 00020 Nordea, or by telephone
+358 9 165 51397 or +358 9 165 51398 or by fax
+358 9 637 256, or on the Internet at
www.nordea.com.

Shareholders, whose shares are registered in their
own names in VPC AB in Sweden, may also noti-
fy their participation in the AGM later, however
not later than 16 April 2003 at 2.00 pm Finnish
time in the above-mentioned manner.

Shares registered in Værdipapircentralen in
Denmark
Request for re-registration of shares registered in
Værdipapircentralen in Denmark and notifica-
tion of participation shall be made at the latest on
11 April 2003 at 12.00 Danish time to one of
Nordea Bank Danmark’s branch offices, 
or to Nordea Bank Danmark A/S, Issuer Service,
H.H, box 850, 0900 Copenhagen C, 
or by telephone +45 33 33 33 01,
or by fax +45 33 33 10 31,
or on the Internet at www.nordea.com. 

Shareholders, whose shares are registered in their
own names in VPC AB in Sweden, may also noti-
fy their participation in the AGM later, however
not later than 16 April 2003 at 1.00 pm Danish
time in the above-mentioned manner.

Dividend and record date
The Board of Directors and the CEO propose to
the AGM that a dividend of 0.23 euro per share
shall be paid and that the record date for divi-
dend shall be 29 April 2003. With this record date,
the dividend is expected to be distributed by VPC
AB on 7 May 2003.

Notice of the Annual General Meeting

Financial reports 2003
Nordea will publish the following financial
reports during 2003:
January – March 7 May
January – June 20 August 
January – September 29 October 

Investor relations
Investor Relations
SE-105 71 Stockholm, Sweden
Tel: +46 8 614 78 51

Website
All reports and press releases are available on the
Internet at: www.nordea.com

Financial reports published by the Nordea Group
may be ordered via Investor Relations.

The annual reports of Nordea Bank Danmark
A/S, Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Nordea Bank
Finland Plc and Nordea Bank Sweden AB (publ)
can be downloaded at www.nordea.com
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Highlights of 2002

January
• Target of 2.7 million e-banking customers

achieved, new target of 3.2 million by the end
of 2002

April
• Hans Dalborg succeeds Vesa Vainio as Chair-

man of the Board

May
• Nordea makes agreement to acquire LG Petro

Bank in Poland 
• Nordea passes the 3 million mark in e-banking

customers

July 
• Tryg i Danmark smba buys Nordea’s general

insurance business 

August
• Nordea appoints new Group CEO – Lars G

Nordström succeeds Thorleif Krarup
• Nordea streamlines Investment Management

organisation

September
• New composition of Nordea Group Executive

Management
• Nordea Securities reduces staff and costs

October
• Nordea in cooperation with both IBM and

Microsoft to provide a global infrastructure for
Internet-based payments in e-commerce

November
• Nordea Securities reassesses strategy and

closes offices in London and New York

December
• Postgirot merges with Nordea
• Nordea surpasses its target of 3.2 million 

e-banking customers achieving 3.3 million.
New target of 3.7 million by the end of 2003

Challenging market conditions in 2002
• Total income reduced by 4% and expenses

increased by 2% adjusted for Postgirot Bank

• Loan losses lower at EUR 261m or 0.19% of
loans

• Earnings per share EUR 0.30 (EUR 0.53)

• Return on equity (excl. goodwill) 11.3%
(19.2%)

• Proposed dividend of EUR 0.23 per share 
– unchanged vs 2001

Improvements achieved – more to be done
• Reduced earnings volatility – lower equity

exposure & sale of general insurance

• Capital efficiency improved – maintained
financial strength despite loan growth and
high proposed dividend payout

• Stable credit quality – low loan losses & con-
centration on Nordic customers

• Some cost initiatives taken – cost improvement
is top priority in 2003
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Operational income statement 
Change

EURm 2002 2001 %

Net interest income 3,451 3,465 0
Commission income 1,535 1,432 7
Trading 530 543 –2
Other 154 165 –7

Income 5,670 5,605 1

Personnel expenses –2,086 –1,878 11
Other expenses –1,659 –1,511 10

Expenses –3,745 –3,389 11

Profit before loan losses 1,925 2,216 –13

Loan losses, net –261 –373 –30
Profit from companies accounted for under the equity method 52 95 –45

Profit before investment earnings and insurance 1,716 1,938 –11

Investment earnings, banking 122 172 
Operating profit, life insurance 2 –17 
Operating profit, general insurance –122 –18 
Goodwill amortisation –171 –147 

Operating profit 1,547 1,928 –20

Allocation to Pension Foundation –255 –
Taxes –405 –360 13
Minority interests 0 0 

Net profit 887 1,568 –43

Ratios and key figures (see definitions page 65)

Earnings per share, EUR 0.30 0.53
Share price, EUR1 4.20 5.97 
Shareholders’ equity per share1, EUR 4.06 4.00 
Shares outstanding1,2, million 2,928 2,965 
Return on equity, % 7.5 13.8
Return on equity excl goodwill3, % 11.3 19.2 
Lending1, EURbn 146 138 
Deposits1, EURbn 92 86 
Shareholders’ equity1, EURbn 12 12 
Total assets1, EURbn 250 242 
Assets under management1, EURbn 96 105 
Cost/income ratio, banking3, % 64 58 
Cost/income ratio, excluding investment earnings, % 65 59
Tier 1 capital ratio1, % 7.1 7.3
Total capital ratio1, % 9.9 9.1 
Risk-weighted assets1, EURbn 135 136

1 End of period.
2 Average number of shares Jan – Dec 2002 after full dilution until September was 2,955 million.
3 See Business definitions page 65.

Key financial figures
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Business area result

Results by business area 2002, EURm1

Business areas

Corporate and Asset  
Retail Institutional Management Group General 

Banking Banking & Life2 Treasury Insurance3 Other Total

Customer responsible units:
Income 4,394 1,129 238 106 –197 5,670
Expenses –2,566 –607 –158 –30 –384 –3,745
Loan losses –209 –23 –29 –261
Equity method 12 40 52

Profit before investment
earnings and insurance 1,619 511 80 76 0 –570 1,716

Investment earnings, banking 38 84 122
Operating profit, life insurance 2 0 2
Operating profit, general insurance –122 0 –122
Goodwill amortisation –22 –8 –141 –171

Operating profit 1,597 503 82 114 –122 –627 1,547

of which:
Q4 345 137 61 27 0 –124 446
Q3 418 120 2 31 –4 –168 399
Q2 427 121 –3 21 –87 –141 338
Q1 407 125 22 35 –31 –194 364

Return on equity, % 22 16 11.3
Cost/income ratio, banking, % 58 54 66 28 64

1 According to the new organisation effective as of 1 October 2002.
2 Operating profit, life insurance, Q1 2002 EUR –3m, Q2 2002 EUR –26m, Q3 2002 –13m and Q4 2002 44m.
3 The sale of the general insurance activities was completed during Q3 2002.

Nordea’s operations are organised into three
business areas: Retail Banking, Corporate and
Institutional Banking and Asset Management &
Life. The business areas operate as profit centres.
The Group’s financial management operations
are conducted by Group Treasury.

Within Nordea, customer responsibility is funda-
mental. The Group’s total business relations with
customers are reported in the customer responsi-
ble unit's income statement and balance sheet.
When calculating return on allocated capital stan-
dard tax is applied.

Capital allocation is based on each business unit’s
actual risk exposure considering credit and insur-
ance risk, market risk as well as operational and
business risk. This framework optimises utilisa-
tion and distribution of capital between the dif-
ferent business areas. Economic profit, which is
equal to risk-adjusted profit less standard tax and
cost-of-equity, constitutes the basis for evaluating
strategic alternatives as well as for the evaluation
of financial performance.

Asset Management & Life has customer responsi-
bility within investment management and in pri-
vate banking outside the joint unit with Retail
Banking. In addition, the business area com-
mands product responsibility for investment
funds. The operating profit shown in the accom-
panying table includes the customer responsible
units.

In addition to the three business areas, Group
Treasury, with responsibility for managing the
Group's own positions in securities portfolios
and group funding activities, is also included in
the table. The column “Other” includes income
and expenses not allocated to business areas, ie
funding costs for the cash acquisition of Nordea
Bank Norway, results from real estate holdings,
expenses in Group functions not defined as serv-
ices offered to business areas, goodwill deprecia-
tion related to the creation of Nordea, central pro-
visioning for loan losses and profits from compa-
nies accounted for under the equity method
which are not included in customer responsible
units.



The  economic downturn, the magnitude and
length of the turbulence in the equity markets
and the geopolitical uncertainty have had a sig-
nificant impact on the entire financial industry
over the last couple of years. 

Nordea has of course also been affected by both
the downturn and the increased uncertainty.   

Our unique starting point with major operations
in four Nordic countries, however, forms a solid
platform for continued realisation of synergies
and capturing revenue growth. 

While the strategic direction and our vision are
unchanged, we have taken the necessary steps to
achieve rapid and continuous improvement of
our performance with increased cost efficiency as
the top priority.

2002 result: 
Acceptable, but still room for improvement
Falling equity-related revenues and exceptionally
low interest rates and their impact on deposit
margins hit core income in 2002. Similarly, falling
equity markets have affected life insurance
income and investment earnings.

Our 2002 results are acceptable given the difficult
market conditions, but still not satisfactory. How-
ever, we have started to see improvements as a
consequence of the identification and focus on
our short-term priorities. We have reduced the
earnings volatility and quarterly income has been
stable throughout the year. 

Risk-weighted assets and economic capital were
down in 2002. 

Despite the fact that loan losses have increased
slightly towards the end of the year, the quality of
the credit portfolio is satisfactory. 

In the present economic environment, profitabil-
ity and capital efficiency come before growth,
and increased cost efficiency will be the main
focus area going forward.

Throughout the organisation ongoing integration
and continuous improvement activities are
expected to ensure that costs will be unchanged
in 2003 compared to 2002.   

The performance of the Nordea share price in
2002 was not satisfactory either even though
some recovery was seen by the end of the year. 
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A year of difficult market conditions
and increased focus

In the present economic environment, profitability and capital efficiency come before growth,

and increased cost efficiency has top priority going forward.



Unchanged vision
Our vision of being valued as the leading finan-
cial services group in the Nordic and Baltic finan-
cial markets with substantial growth potential
remains unchanged. But in the present environ-
ment, profitability and more efficient use of capi-
tal must and will come before aggressively cap-
turing market share.

Priorities to improve performance
The priorities that guide the current strategy of
our business areas are all motivated by our drive
towards improved operating efficiency.

They are:
• Reducing volatility and ensuring growth of

income
• Ensuring capital efficiency
• Maintaining credit portfolio quality
• Speeding up integration and unification
• Improving cost efficiency  

To reduce the volatility of earnings we have
divested the general insurance business and
reduced the equity exposure of pension funds
and Life & Pensions units within the Group. 

The divestment of the general insurance business
and the reduced equity exposure have improved
our use of capital together with divestments of
non-core businesses such as Contant Oy and
Europay Norge AS. 

The ongoing implementation of the economic
capital and economic profit framework will
further enhance the capital efficiency.

Our ambition is to maintain a high level of divi-
dends without jeopardising our capital ratio. This

means that the size and quality of assets will be
carefully observed and our risk management
must be proactive. Hence, business cases for
potential acquisitions must be strong. 

We have a well balanced and diversified credit
portfolio, but in order to maintain our stable
credit quality we continuously monitor the port-
folio with a proactive approach.

Specific cost savings initiatives include capping
IT development costs at 80% of the 2002 level,
corresponding to a cost saving target of approxi-
mately EUR 90m in 2003.

Within Retail Banking, structural changes are
being implemented in Sweden and Norway, such
as consolidating staff functions in one location to
improve efficiency and reduce costs.

Following a strategic reassessment Nordea Secu-
rities’ operations in London and New York were
closed in the fourth quarter. 

Improving cost efficiency is the most urgent issue
going forward.

Striking the right balance
We are well on our way to integrate and unify the
organisation into cross-Nordic business areas and
Group functions.

We have varied the approach to integration
across different areas in the organisation. 

In some areas, for example in wholesale banking,
we have chosen the “full and immediate” inte-
gration approach while in other areas, especially
within Retail Banking, we have chosen the ”unifi-
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cation first” or “local improvements first” as the
most appropriate approach. 

Going forward, the change processes must and
will be even more focused and speedy, based on
strict prioritisation.

That is why a new unit Group Processing and
Technology has been established to coordinate
and speed up the integration and unification
process across the entire Group.

Revised financial targets
In order to adjust to the current market condi-
tions we have revised a few of our key financial
targets:

Return on equity should be above 15% from 2004.

Cost level should be maintained at the same level
through 2004 as in 2002.

Cost/income ratio of 55% by 2005 and with pres-
ent business mix. Should the implied revenue
growth in the cost/income ratio target fail, we
will take further steps to reduce costs. All other
targets remain unchanged.                        

Focus, speed and performance  
In combination with our new priorities, we use
three internal keywords to highlight the need for
improvements and changes in the organisation:

“Focus” means concentrating on our strengths.
This implies that we will change, close down or
divest businesses and activities which are not
core business, underperforming or not profitable.

“Speed” means being quick and flexible, having
smooth and efficient operations and always
adjusting to market conditions. 

“Performance” means increasing performance
orientation by comparing and competing and
always striving for continuous improvements in
everything we do. Do better today than yester-
day. Be better than the competitors.

Committed to doing better
Every employee in the Group deserves thanks for
bringing about the 2002 results and the very
strong platform which will form our basis for
further and continuous improvements.

We have already achieved a lot and will deliver
upon our promises to customers and sharehold-
ers  – despite challenging market conditions.

The entire organisation recognises the need for
further improvements. By focusing on our
strengths, being quick and flexible in adjusting to
market conditions and continuously improving
all that we do, we will make it possible.

Best regards

Lars G Nordström
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Group organisation
The Group's business organisation includes three
business areas: Retail Banking, Corporate and
Institutional Banking, and Asset Management &
Life. 

Retail Banking develops, markets and distributes
a broad range of financial products and services
and has customer responsibility for personal and
corporate customers. 

Corporate and Institutional Banking delivers a
range of products and services to corporate and
institutional customers and has responsibility for
large corporates, shipping, offshore and oil serv-
ices companies and financial institutions.
Nordea´s investment banking services are offered
trough Nordea Securities

Asset Management & Life is responsible for the
Group’s activities within institutional investment
management, life insurance and pensions, invest-
ment funds, private banking and in the retail sav-
ings market in general.

Three vital support functions are Group Process-
ing and Technology, Group Corporate Centre and
Group Staffs. 

Group Processing and Technology includes
Group IT, Electronic Banking, Global Operations
Services and Production and Productivity. 

Group Corporate Centre contains Group Credit
and Risk Control, Group Treasury, Group Plan-
ning and Control, Group Finance, Investor Rela-
tions and Group Corporate Development. 

Group Staffs includes Group Support and Pro-
curement, Group Human Resources, Group Iden-
tity and Communications, Group Legal and
Group Compliance.

Legal Structure
The objective for the restructuring of the Group in
2001 was to establish a legal structure that would
support the management structure and the
reporting transparency. 

The parent in the Group is Nordea AB (publ). It
directly owns:
Nordea Bank Finland Plc with its subsidiaries
Nordea Bank Sverige AB (publ), Nordea Bank
Norge ASA and Nordea Bank Danmark A/S.

Nordea AB (publ) also directly owns the follow-
ing subgroups:
The Nordea Securities Group 
The Nordea Asset Management Group 
The Nordea Life Group 
An overview of the Nordea Group legal structure
can be found on page 67, and a specification of
shares in group undertakings can be found on
page 56.

Board of Directors’ report

Nordea is the leading financial services group in the Nordic and Baltic Sea region and oper-

ates through three business areas: Retail Banking, Corporate and Institutional Banking and

Asset Management & Life. The Nordea Group has more than 10 million customers and

1,240 bank branches. The Nordea Group is a world leader in Internet banking, with 3.3 mil-

lion e-customers. The Nordea share is listed in Stockholm, Helsinki and Copenhagen.



Business development in 2002
The general insurance business was sold in 2002.
The economic responsibility was transferred on
1 July 2002 and the sale was settled and com-
pleted on 30 September 2002. The Group struc-
ture changed as a result of this transaction and
the net effect on equity was EUR –44m. 

The Swedish Postgirot Bank AB (publ) that was
acquired in 2001 was integrated into the Nordea
organisation during 2002. The legal merger with
Nordea Bank Sverige AB (publ) was finalised on
20 December 2002.

Nordea acquired the Polish bank LG Petro Bank
S.A. which affected the profit and loss accounts
from 1 October 2002. A merger between LG Petro
Bank S.A. and Nordea Bank Polska S.A. will be
finalised during 2003. 

Comments to the operational 
income statement
Operating profit for the year 2002 was EUR
1,547m (EUR 1,928m) a reduction of 20% com-
pared to 2001.

Total income increased by 1% and expenses
increased by 11%. The development reflects the
acquisition of Postgirot Bank and underlying
growth in the business volumes coupled with a
pressure on margins following falling interest
rates during the year and drop in equity related
commission income.

Income
Total income was EUR 5,670m (EUR 5,605m) , an
increase of 1% compared to 2001.

Net interest income was EUR 3,451m unchanged
compared to a year ago. Volume growth, mainly
deposits and mortgage lending to personal cus-
tomers has compensated for lower deposit mar-
gins following lower interest rates. Lending mar-
gins were stable within Retail Banking and
increased somewhat for large corporate clients.
During the last 12 months lending and deposits
have increased by 6% and 6%, respectively. 

Commission income increased by 7% to EUR
1,535m (EUR 1,432m) reflecting strong growth in
transaction volumes. The number of e-customers
rose to 3.3 million by the end of the year, and in
December, a new all-time high was registered in
the number of payments on the e-bank.

Trading income, mainly comprising income
related to foreign exchange and derivatives trad-
ing with customers, was maintained at a stable
level of EUR 530m (EUR 543m). 

Expenses
Total expenses were EUR 3,745 m (EUR 3,389m),
an increase by 11%, reflecting the acquisition of
Postgirot Bank AB (publ) as well as underlying
growth in business volume.

Personnel expenses were EUR 2,086m (EUR
1,878m).

Other expenses were EUR 1,659m (EUR 1,511m),
an increase of 10%. Costs for IT represent 20% of
total expenses. 

The cost/income ratio was 64% (58%). Postgirot
Bank represented an increase of approximately
2 % points.

During the year, EUR 90m of the restructuring
reserve was utilised. Of this, EUR 30m is related
to Postgirot Bank. The remaining reserve at the
end of 2002 is EUR 20m including LG Petro Bank.

Loan losses
Loan losses were EUR 261m (EUR 373m). The
reduction was mainly a result of the general pro-
vision of EUR 100m made in 2001. 

Investment earnings
The weak equity markets in 2002 had a negative
impact on investment earnings, banking, which
were reduced by EUR 50m to EUR 122m. 

Pension commitments 
Pension commitments not recognised in the bal-
ance sheet have to be covered by assets of pen-
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sion foundations. In addition to recorded pension
liabilities of EUR 315m in the Group, there was a
deficit of EUR 83m in Norway at the end of the
year. This amount represents accumulated actu-
arial differences in pension calculations which
is in compliance with international accounting
standards applied in Norway.

At the end of the year, aggregate assets in the
Group’s pension foundations exceeded pension
commitments not recognised in the balance sheet
by EUR 46m reflecting a surplus in Finland.

The volatility in Nordea’s accounts resulting
from allocation to pension foundations in the sec-
ond and third quarter 2002, was related to the
Swedish pension foundation. In total the alloca-
tion cost amounted to EUR 255m in 2002.

At the end of the fourth quarter, the equity expo-
sure in the pension foundations represented 22%
of total investments, compared to 24% at the end
of the third quarter.

Taxes
Taxes amounted to EUR 405m in 2002 (EUR
360m). In 2001, the low tax rate was mainly
explained by the utilisation of a loss carry for-
ward in the former Merita Real Estate Ltd.

Net profit
The net profit was EUR 887m (EUR 1,568m),
corresponding to EUR 0.30 (EUR 0.53) per share.
Return on equity (excluding goodwill) was
11.3% (19.2%).

Financial structure
Assets
Lending
Total lending was EUR 145,740m at the end of
2002 (EUR 137,570m), an increase of 6%. See note
1 and 18 for more information of average rates
and balances for 2002.

Lending to personal customers increased by 14%
in 2002 while lending to corporate customers
increased by 1%. The share of corporate lending
decreased to 58 % (61%) while loans to personal

customers increased to 40% ( 37%). Lending to
the public sector was unchanged at 2%. For more
information see the Risk Management section –
Credit risk analysis, page 18.

Derivatives
At the year-end the outstanding derivatives vol-
ume amounted to a nominal value of EUR
1,105,141m (EUR 871,086m) including deriva-
tives contracts managed by clearing institutes.
When currency exchange rates, yield curves
and/or equity price move, the net present value
of the derivatives contracts will change. 

Derivatives are disclosed as off-balance sheet
items, this means that the nominal value only will
occur as a commitment outside the balance sheet.
The net present value of the contracts is disclosed
in the balance sheet with an impact in the profit
and loss accounts. Net present value consists of
accrued interest net and discounted future cash
flows, both of which are affected by changes in
currency exchange rates. If the net present value
of a derivative contract is positive the Group will
have a credit exposure on the counter-party.
These contracts are disclosed in the line “Other
assets”. If the Group has a negative net present
value the contract will be disclosed in the line
“Other liabilities”. 

If the counter-party comes in a default situation
the Group has, according the ISDA-swap agree-
ments, the right to net the positive and negative
net present value on the contracts on each
counter-party. This netting agreement will there-
fore lower the credit exposure.

The credit risk exposure amounted to EUR
6,715m after taking closeout netting agreements
into consideration.

The derivative volume is divided between inter-
est rate, equity and currency derivatives. The
largest volumes are in interest rate swaps, for-
ward rate agreements (FRA’s) and currency for-
wards. Our major counter-parties are larger
banks and credit institutions.
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Trading Portfolios
The Groups trading portfolios are valued at mar-
ket value. The total assets related to interest bear-
ing securities amounted to EUR 28,166m (EUR
33,281m). The securities are denominated in sev-
eral currencies but the major part is in Nordic
currencies, EURO and US Dollars.

Other Assets
Derivatives positive net present value amounted
to EUR 13,581m (EUR 8,518m). The change is
related to growth in the derivative portfolios and
effects from changes in interest rate and foreign
exchange rates. See also the note 30 and corre-
sponding Other liabilities.

Liabilities & Shareholder’s equity
Deposits
Deposits increased by 6% to EUR 91,663m (EUR
86,396m). See note 1 and 34 for more information
of average rates and balances for 2002.

Other liabilities
Derivatives negative net present value amounted
to EUR 14,672m (EUR 8,138m). The change is
related to growth in the derivative portfolios and
effects from changes in interest rate and foreign
exchange rates. See also the corresponding Other
Assets. Assets that have been used for short sell-
ing amounted to EUR 6,898m (EUR 3,360m).

Capital adequacy
Shareholders’ equity amounted to EUR 11,897m
at the end of the year, corresponding to a Tier 1
capital ratio of 7.1%. The total capital ratio was
9.9%. 

Capital base
The capital base amounted to EUR 13,364m (EUR
12,353m). The growth is explained mainly by the
reallocation of subordinated loans to the Life
Insurance Group and issuing of subordinated
debts in Nordea Bank Sverige AB (publ).

Risk-weighted assets
The risk weighted assets decreased somewhat
and amounted to EUR 134,670m (EUR 136,021m).

Repurchase of own shares
Following the authorisation from the Annual
General Meeting on 24 April 2002, the Board of
Directors of Nordea AB (publ) on 19 June 2002
decided to repurchase a maximum of 150 million
of its own shares (equivalent to approximately
5% of the total number of shares in the company).

Up to 20 September 2002 Nordea AB (publ)
repurchased 40,008,000 of its own shares. The
shares were purchased at an average price of
SEK 43.50.

In April 2001 Nordea AB (publ) acquired
17,000,000 of its own shares for the purpose of
achieving a hedge regarding the company’s
incentive programme. The total holding in
Nordea AB (publ) of own shares is 57,008,000. 

Share capital
As a result of the conversion of outstanding con-
vertible bonds, 2,450,137 new shares have been
issued during 2002. At the close of 2002 the share
capital comprised 2,985,116,227 shares each of
nominal value EUR 0.39632. All shares have vot-
ing rights, with each share entitled to one vote at
General Meetings. It should be noted that Nordea
AB (publ) is not entitled to vote for own shares at
General Meetings.

On 1 September 2002 Nordea AB (publ) prema-
turely redeemed the outstanding convertible
bond loan amounting to EUR 96,928,426.28. Sub-
sequently, the company has no outstanding con-
vertible bond loans.

The Nordea share
During 2002 the share price of Nordea depreci-
ated by 30.8% on the Stockholm Stock Exchange
from SEK 55.50 on 28 December 2001 to SEK 38.40
on 30 December 2002. Total shareholder return
(TSR) during year 2002 was –28.1%. The calcula-
tion of TSR is based on the share price develop-
ment during the year, assuming the dividend of
EUR 0.23 per share is reinvested in Nordea shares.
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Shareholders
With approximately 510,000 registered share-
holders at 31 December 2002, Nordea has one of
largest shareholder bases of all Nordic com-
panies. The number of Nordea shareholders reg-
istered in Denmark is approximately 217,000, in
Finland 211,000 and in Sweden 82,000. See note
51 for detailed information.

Proposed dividend
The Board of Directors has proposed to the
Annual General Meeting a dividend of EUR 0.23
per share, corresponding to a payout ratio of 76%
of the net profit. The proposal represents un-
changed dividend compared to last year’s divi-
dend.

The proposed record date for the dividend is
29 April 2003 and dividend payments are sched-
uled to be made on 7 May 2003.

The dividend is denominated in EUR, however
payments are normally made in the local cur-
rency of the country where the shares are regis-
tered. Dividend payments can also be made in
EUR if the shareholder has a EUR account regis-
tered with the securities registers.

Rating
See page 66 for information on the Ratings in the
Nordea Group.

Personnel
The average number of employees in the Group
was reduced by 1% or 233 employees to 37,322.
Personnel expenses and the division between
countries and sex are disclosed in note 6.

Incentive schemes
The synthetic share programme targeted at
Nordea’s management and key personnel
expired at the end of year 2002. Total shareholder
return fell short of the threshold level, and there
was no payout based on the programme.

The present profit-sharing scheme covering all
employees is based on return on equity. The max-
imum cost for this programme is approximately
EUR 72m per year. For 2002, there will be no pay-
out under the programme.

The Board of Directors on 19 February 2003
resolved to implement a temporary profit sharing
scheme for all employees, in addition to ordinary
profit sharing schemes. The incentive scheme is
based on fulfilment of certain performance crite-
ria related to economic profit and return on
equity. A potential payout under the scheme will
be equal for all participants, and the maximum
cost for the Group is approximately EUR 29m.

The Board of Directors on 19 February 2003 fur-
thermore resolved to implement a temporary
extra variable salary for 2003 for Nordea’s man-
agement. The incentive scheme comprises
approximately 350 individuals and is based on
the same performance criteria as the scheme for
all employees. A potential payout under this
scheme is limited to 12.5% of the participant’s
salary and the maximum cost for the Group is
EUR 8m.

Important events after 31 December 2002
In January 2003, Nordea acquired the remaining
60% of the shares in Nordisk Renting. Nordea
already owned 40% of Nordisk Renting and exer-
cised its option to acquire the remaining shares.
The acquisition provides greater flexibility for
Nordea’s engagement in Nordisk Renting which
is currently being evaluated. Nordisk Renting has
not been consolidated as a subsidiary in the
accounts for 2002. In 2002, the total contribution
from Nordisk Renting, included under “Equity
method” was EUR 12m and Nordisk Renting’s
total assets amounted to EUR 1,851m.

Nordea has recently entered into an agreement
regarding the sale of all residential properties in
Denmark which is expected to result in a gain of
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approximately EUR 58m. Disposal of certain
other properties is currently under consideration
and may result in a loss of the same magnitude in
the first quarter 2003. The disposals follow the
focus on capital efficiency and the aim to reduce
non-core assets in the Group.

Outlook
For 2003, growth in the four Nordic economies is
expected to be low, leading to limited potential
for increased revenues. An increase in short-term
interest rates, which may improve interest rate
margins, is not expected until late 2003 at the ear-
liest. To a certain extent the income in the Group
also depends on the development in the capital
markets.

A sharp attention on cost control will be main-
tained aiming at adjusting the cost base in line
with Nordea’s financial targets. If the revenues
fall short of expectations, further measures to
improve cost efficiency will be considered.

The increased uncertainty regarding a possible
turnaround in the global economy may, if sus-
tained, lead to a deterioration in credit quality in
the medium term. The target for average loan
losses over a business cycle, maximum 0.40% of
loans and guarantees, remains unchanged. Based
on the quality of the portfolio as well as the pres-
ent economic outlook for the Nordic countries,
Nordea has no reason to believe that loan losses
will exceed this average level in 2003.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of shareholders will
be held on Thursday 24 April 2003 in Aula
Magna, Stockholm University at 2.00 pm (CET)
with the possibility to participate through
telecommunication, in Helsinki at 3.00 pm
Finnish time in Finlandia Hall and in Copen-
hagen at 2.00 pm (CET) in Bella Center.
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Risk management principles
The Board of Directors of Nordea has the ultimate
responsibility for limiting and monitoring the
Group’s risk exposure. Risks in Nordea are meas-
ured and reported according to common prin-
ciples approved by the Board.  

The Board has set the following operative targets:
• The average loan loss provisions over a busi-

ness cycle should not exceed 0.40% of the loan
and guarantee portfolio.

• Investment risk (market risk related to invest-
ment activities) should not lead to an accumu-
lated loss in investment earnings exceeding
one quarter’s normalised earnings at any time
in a calendar year.

• Operational risk must be kept within manage-
able limits at reasonable costs.

The Board’s Credit Committee monitors the
development of the credit portfolio and decides
on credit policy matters and guidelines for credit
activities.

On behalf of the Group CEO, Group Executive
Management has the responsibility for risk man-
agement and reviews regular reports on risk
exposures. In addition, the following committees
for risk management have been established
within the Group Executive Management:
• Asset and Liability Management Committee

(ALCO) manages the capital structure, allo-
cates limits and decides on risk measurement
principles in the Group.

• Executive Credit Committees (Corporate and
Retail) decide on major credit exposures. 

Group Credit and Risk Control is responsible for
the risk management process that consists of:
• Policies, instructions and guidelines
• Identification
• Analysis
• Measurement
• Monitoring and control
• Reporting
There are risk management units for Credit, Mar-
ket and Operational risk respectively and one
unit, Risk Modelling, with the responsibility for
developing risk models for risk analysis and eco-
nomic capital.

Each business area is primarily responsible for
identification and control of the risks in their
operations. The risk management framework is
applicable for the Group as well as for the bank-
ing subsidiaries.
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Risk management

Chapter structure
Credit risk
Risk management and control
Measurement methods
Credit risk analysis

Market risk
Risk management and control
Measurement methods
Market risk analysis

Insurance risk

Operational risk
Legal proceedings

Asset and Liability Management
Liquidity risk
Structural Interest Income Risk

Economic Capital and the New Basel Capital Accord

Risk-taking is inherent in providing financial services, and Nordea assumes a variety of

risks in its ordinary business activities, the most significant being credit risk related to

lending. Management of risk is one of the key success factors in the financial services

industry and Nordea has clearly defined risk policies and instructions for risk management.

Nordea aims at an overall balanced risk-taking in order to enhance shareholder value.

During 2002 economic profit and economic capital have been implemented as a key

performance indicators. This has further enhanced the awareness of risk within the Group. 



Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk that counterpar-
ties of Nordea fail to fulfil their agreed obliga-
tions and that pledged collateral does not cover
Nordea’s claims. 

The credit risks in Nordea arise mainly from vari-
ous forms of lending, but also from guarantees,
documentary credits and unutilised credit com-
mitments. Furthermore, credit risk includes
credit risk in derivatives, country risk and settle-
ment risk.

The credit risk in derivative contracts is the risk
that Nordea’s counterparty in the contract
defaults prior to maturity of the contract and that
Nordea at that time has a claim on the counter-
party under the contract. Nordea will then have
to replace the contract at the current market rate,
which may result in a loss.

Country risk or cross-border transfer risk is a
credit risk attributable to the transfer of money
from a country. This credit risk is affected by
changes in the economic and political situation of
countries. 

Settlement risk is the risk of losing the principal
of a financial instrument in the settlement
process. This occurs if the counterparty should
default after Nordea has given irrevocable
instructions for a transfer of a principal amount
or security, but before receipt of payment or secu-
rity has been confirmed.

Risk management and control
The primary risk management factor within
Nordea is to ensure quality, discipline and sound
judgement within the credit decision process . To
guide this process, a credit policy and credit
instructions including guidelines and industry
policies for Nordea have been established. 

The Board of Directors decides on the different
levels of authority for granting credits within the
Group. The sizes of the powers-to-act for the
credit-committees and the other decision-making
authorities are set on the basis of the organisa-
tional level and are also restricted by factors such
as the internal rating of the customer and the size
of the unsecured part of the exposure. The deci-
sions of the decision-making authority are
required to be unanimous according to the credit
instructions.

The decision-making process is structured to fit
the business area activities and to fulfil legal
requirements for the banks within the Group. The
illustration shows the decision-making structure. 

As a method to limit credit risk, consolidated
customer group limits are set on most corporate
customers, as a part of the decision-making
process. The limit stipulates both volumes and
conditions for granting credits within the limit,
such as collateral and covenants, pricing and
maturity and amortisation.  A rating is also set to
the customer, in accordance with the Nordea
internal rating system.

Industry limits are also used by Nordea to limit
credit risk to specific industries. In connection
with these, credit policies regarding the relevant
industries are established, whereby special
requirements for financing the industry are stipu-
lated. The exposure and the changing conditions
for each industry are followed-up by monitoring
groups. Environmental risks on corporate cus-
tomers are assessed through a process called
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Environmental Risk Assessment Tool, which has
been developed within the bank. 

Limits are adapted to the assessed repayment
ability of the customer or customer group and the
responsibility for monitoring every credit expo-
sure is therefore assigned to the customer
responsible unit, with relationship managers,
who possesses adequate credit competence. This
unit assesses, on an ongoing basis, the customer’s
ability to fulfil its commitment. In the continuous
follow-up on the exposure, deviations from
agreed conditions are monitored and weaknesses
in customer performance are identified.

Substandard and impaired exposures
If weaknesses are identified in a customer expo-
sure, that exposure is categorised as substandard.
In addition to the continuous monitoring, an
action plan is established outlining how to
minimise a possible credit loss. If necessary, a
special team is set up to support the customer
responsible unit. 

If a future loss is estimated for an exposure, it is
recognised as impaired and a provision is made.
The size of the provision is equal to the expected
loss considering the remaining repayment capac-
ity, value of pledged collateral and other repay-
ment sources during a work out process. Im-
paired exposures could be either performing or
non-performing. Impaired is equivalent to
default when measuring default probability.

Substandard and impaired exposures are re-
viewed on a quarterly basis in terms of current
performance, business outlook, future debt serv-
ice capacity and the possible need for or size of
provisions.

Credit risk in derivatives
Derivatives are used in Nordea to meet customer
needs as well as for proprietary trading purposes
and to reduce interest rate and currency risk in
the regular banking activities. Most of the deriva-
tive contracts are marked to market on an ongo-
ing basis and, therefore, affect the reported result
and also the balance sheet, as assets or liabilities
depending on the direction of the market devel-
opments.

Derivatives affect both market risk and credit risk
exposures. The credit risk exposure is treated in
the same way as other types of credit risk expo-
sure and is included in customer limits.

The total credit risk exposure consists partly of
current exposure and partly of potential future
exposure. The potential future exposure is an esti-
mation, which reflects possible changes in market
values during the remaining lifetime of the indi-
vidual contract and is measured as the notional
amount multiplied by a risk weight. 

To reduce the exposure towards single counter-
parties, risk mitigation techniques are widely
used in Nordea, of which the most common is the
use of close-out netting agreements. To mitigate
the exposure with large banks and institutional
counterparties, bilateral collateral management
arrangements have been entered into with some
of these counterparties.

Country risk
To assess the country risk Nordea uses a model
based on the country risk assessment performed
by the EIU (Economist Intelligence Unit). The
model is applied to countries outside the OECD
and to other countries if Nordea considers it
motivated in view of the country’s economic and
political situation.

Settlement risk
The settlement risk on individual counterparties
is measured as the full value of the transaction
and is controlled via settlement risk limits. Each
counterparty is assessed in the credit process and
clearing agents, correspondent banks and custo-
dians  are selected with a view to  minimising
settlement risk.

Nordea is a shareholder of and participates in the
global FX clearing system CLS (Continuous
Linked Settlement). In November 2002, Nordea
began settling via CLS and when the Scandina-
vian currencies are included during 2003, the
reduction of settlement risk exposure will be
substantial.

Measurement methods 
Over the last few years the main focus has been to
complete the Nordea framework for quantifica-
tion of credit risk. The key drivers of this work
have been the introduction of economic profit as
a key performance indicator and the New Basel
Capital Accord.

Rating and scoring
The very core of the Nordea framework is the
internal rating and credit-scoring models. The
common denominator of all the rating/scoring
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models is the ability to rank order and predict
default. Medium and large corporates are rated
with the Nordea corporate rating model. The
model is based on a statistical approach, which
takes into account financial, qualitative and cus-
tomer factors of the corporates. The model has
adjustments to corporate size and specific indus-
try characteristics, e.g. shipping. Nordea use a
rating scale for corporates consisting of 18 grades
maximum.The appropriate credit committee must
approve a corporate rating.  All corporates that are
of medium to large size have during 2002 been
rated in line with – according to Nordea’s inter-
pretation of the consultative document – New
Basel Capital Accord compliant rating models.

For the household segment Nordea use credit-
scoring models. In addition to the corporate rat-
ing models there are also models for the bank and
country segments.

Quantification of credit risk
The most important inputs when measuring the
credit risk are the probability of default (PD), the
loss given default (LGD), and the exposure at
default (EAD). The inputs are used to quantify
expected losses and credit risk economic capital,
which both are used in the calculation of eco-
nomic profit.

The rating grade that the rating models produce
is translated to a PD. The PD is the most impor-
tant parameter when measuring credit risk. LGD
is measured taking into account the collateral
coverage of the exposure, the balance-sheet com-
ponents, and the presence of any structural sup-
port. EAD is for many products equal to the out-
standing exposure but for some products, such as
credit lines and derivative contracts, the EAD is
higher than the outstanding exposure.

Nordea measures credit risk and economic capi-
tal with a portfolio model. This model takes as
input Nordea’s credit exposures and risk parame-
ters such as PD and LGD. The economic capital
estimated with the model take diversification
effects into account.
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Credit risk exposure EURm

(excluding cash and balances at central banks, 
country risk and settlement risk exposure) 31 Dec 2002

Loans and advances to credit institutions 23,496
Lending 145,740
Unutilised credit commitments etc 31,001
Guarantees and documentary credits 15,576
Derivatives1 21,629
Interest-bearing securities issued by public entities 9,746
Other bonds and other interest-bearing securities 18,420

Total credit risk exposure 265,608
1 Including current exposure as well as potential future exposure. For further details on derivatives, see

note 45.

Lending, structure of portfolio EURm

31 Dec 31 Dec
2002 % 2001 %

Customer
Corporate customers 85,089 58.4 84,088 61.1
Household customers 57,929 39.7 50,716 36.9
Public sector 2,722 1.9 2,766 2.0

Total 145,740 100.0 137,570 100.0

Lending to corporate 
customers by industry
Real estate management 22,433 26.4 19,996 23.8
Construction 3,041 3.6 2,883 3.4
Agriculture and fishing 4,295 5.0 3,682 4.4
Transport 3,510 4.1 3,584 4.3
Shipping 4,559 5.4 5,581 6.6
Trade and services 8,308 9.8 8,675 10.3
Manufacturing 13,933 16.4 16,011 19.0
Financial operations 9,138 10.7 6,942 8.3
Renting, consulting and other 

company services 8,265 9.7 8,845 10.5
Other companies 7,608 8.9 7,890 9.4

Total 85,089 100.0 84,088 100.0

Lending to corporate customers
by size of loan
EUR 1–1,000,000 12,262 14.4
EUR 1,000,001–10,000,000 18,507 21.7
EUR 10,000,001–25,000,000 11,382 13.4
EUR 25,000,001–50,000,000 9,830 11.6
EUR 50,000,001–100,000,000 9,657 11.3
EUR 100,000,001– 23,452 27.6

Total 85,089 100.0

Lending to household customers
Mortgage loans 43,602 75.3 38,895 76.7
Consumer loans 14,327 24.7 11,821 23.3

Total 57,929 100.0 50,716 100.0

Definition of expected loss (EL):
The expected loss is the normalised loss rate based on the current port-
folio. Expected loss is measured using the formula,
EL = PD x LGD x EAD, where
• PD is a measure of the probability that the counterpart will default,
• LGD is a measure of how much is expected to be lost in the event of

default and
• EAD is a measure of the expected exposure in the event of default.

During 2002 the project for creating a group-wide
credit database was finalised. The credit database
is an important integral part of the Nordea credit
risk framework. It will allow for calculations of
credit risk (snapshot view) and for the estimation
of parameters (historical archives) to be used in



the calculation of expected loss and economic
capital. During 2003 and onward the credit data-
base will be upgraded to meet the New Basel
Capital Accord requirements.

Credit risk analysis
The credit risk exposure consists of on-balance
sheet and off-balance sheet items in both non-
traded and traded banking products (see table).

The largest item is lending, which in 2002
increased by 6% to EUR 146bn, mainly because of
increased volumes but also due to exchange rate
effects. As lending to corporate customers in-
creased less, up 1%, than lending to personal cus-
tomers, up 14%, total lending to corporate cus-
tomers decreased to 58% from 61% of the total
lending portfolio. 

Loans to credit institutions, mainly in the form of
inter-bank deposits, amounted to EUR 23.5bn at
the end of 2002 (EUR 21.4bn). Of these loans, less
than 10% was to banks outside OECD.

The credit risk exposure in derivatives originates
from contracts where the underlying assets are
interest rates, currencies, equities or commodity
prices and where the counterparties are both cus-
tomers and financial institutions. The current
exposure makes up approximately 30% of the
total exposure, whereas the remaining 70% is
potential future exposure. All figures show expo-
sure after close-out netting agreements are taken
into consideration.

Lending to corporate customers
The main increases in the portfolio could be seen
in the sectors: “Real estate management”, “Finan-
cial operations” and “Agriculture and fishing”.
The increase in real estate management is prima-
rily due to official reclassification of housing
associations in Finland and increases in Norway.
The increase in financial operations consists of
reversed repurchase agreements with customers.
Decreases were mainly seen in “Manufacturing”
and “Shipping”. In manufacturing decreases
were seen in all countries and in shipping the
decrease was mainly due to exchange rate effects.

Real estate management remains the largest
industry sector in Nordea’s lending portfolio.
Relatively large and financially strong companies
dominate the portfolio, which has a high level of
collateral coverage. Around half of the lending to
real estate management is to companies in Swe-
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Lending to real estate management companies by country EURbn

31 Dec 31 Dec
2002 % 2001 %

Denmark 1.8 8 1.9 9
Finland 4.5 20 3.4 17
Norway 4.8 22 4.0 20
Sweden 11.0 49 10.5 53
Others 0.3 1 0.2 1

Total 22.4 100 20.0 100

Telecom exposure EURbn
31 Dec 2002 %

Operators 3.8 70
Equipment manufacturers 1.6 30

Total exposure 5.4 100

Outstanding exposure 3.2

Shipping exposure EURbn
31 Dec 2002 %

Crude tankers 0.8 13
Product tankers 0.7 12
Bulk carriers 0.6 10
Ferries 0.6 9
Chemical tankers 0.5 9
Liners 0.5 8
Others 2.4 39

Total exposure 6.0 100

Outstanding exposure 5.2

Fisheries exposure EURbn
31 Dec 2002 %

Fish farming 1.0 42
Fishing vessels 0.8 33
Fish processing/export 0.6 25

Total exposure 2.4 100

Outstanding exposure 2.0

Mortgage loans to household customers by country1 EURm

31 Dec 31 Dec
2002 % 2001 %

Denmark 11,737 27 11,167 29
Finland 10,509 24 9,563 24
Norway 7,471 17 5,763 15
Sweden 13,885 32 12,402 32

Total 43,602 100 38,895 100
1 The Baltic countries are included in the figures for Finland.
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den, where the portfolio is dominated by lending
to companies managing residential real estate.
Also in the group portfolio, around half of the
lending is to companies managing residential real
estate.

The telecom sector exposure of EUR 5.4bn (EUR
7.2bn) includes both equipment manufacturers
and operators. The total outstanding exposure is
EUR 3.2bn. The majority of the exposure is related
to major Nordic equipment manufacturers and
major Nordic telecom operators. Of the telecom
exposure, 8% is seen as low or negligible risk due
to coverage by guarantees from public export
credit agencies (ECAs), or by cash collateral.

The shipping exposure of EUR 6.0bn (EUR
6.8bn), of which EUR 5.2bn is outstanding con-
sists of a diversified portfolio by type of vessel
and has a focus on large industrial players. Of the
total exposure, 55% is on Nordic customers and
45% is on non-Nordic customers. Shipping is the
only industry where Nordea has a global cus-
tomer policy.

The fisheries exposure of EUR 2.4bn (EUR 2.1bn),
of which EUR 2.0bn is outstanding, consists
mainly of Norwegian customers. The exposure
on fish farming is EUR 1.0bn. 

Rating distribution
The scale for corporate rating models consists of
18 repayment ability grades. It is a falling scale
with grade 6+ representing the highest repay-
ment ability, i.e. the lowest probability of default.
It is shown by the graph that the distribution is
concentrated to grades 5 to 3. About 93% of the
exposure is of repayment ability 3 – or higher.

Lending to personal customers
Mortgage loans increased by 12% while con-
sumer loans increased by 21%. The portion of
mortgage loans decreased to 75% compared to
77% in 2001.

Geographical distribution
Lending distributed by borrower domicile shows
that the Nordic market dominates by 90% of the
total, which is an increase from 88% in 2001.
Other EU countries represent the main market
outside the Nordic countries. The exposure to
emerging markets is limited.
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Lending by geographical area EURm

31 Dec 31 Dec
2002 % 2001 %

Nordic countries 131,721 90.4 121,660 88.4
of which Denmark 34,240 31,410
of which Finland 29,317 27,338
of which Norway 24,452 21,197
of which Sweden 43,597 41,509

The Baltic and Poland 1,119 0.8 452 0.3
EU countries other 6,552 4.5 6,784 4.9
USA 2,478 1.7 3,490 2.5
Latin America 898 0.6 652 0.5
Asia 920 0.6 1,327 1.0
Other OECD 793 0.5 1,462 1.1
Non-OECD other 1,259 0.9 1,744 1.3

Total 145,740 100.0 137,570 100.0

Country risk exposure1 EURm

31 Dec 20022 31 Dec 20012

Asia 725 618
of which China 349 278
of which South Korea 140 95

Latin America 390 535
of which Brazil 193 288

Eastern Europe & CIS 67 444
Middle East 335 382
Africa 66 48
1 Base for the country risk reserve, for 2002 defined as all countries excluding A-rated countries

according to EIU and excluding Poland and the Baltic countries.
2 Exposure net of ECA guarantees.

Impaired loans EURm
Corporate Household

31 Dec 2002 customers customers Total

Impaired loans, gross 2,664 596 3,260
Reserves for impaired loans –1,770 –383 –2,153
Impaired loans, net 894 213 1,107
Reserves/impaired loans, gross (%) 66.4 64.2 66.0
Impaired loans, net/lending (%) 1.0 0.4 0.8

Corporate Household
31 Dec 2001 customers customers Total

Impaired loans, gross  2,493 593 3,086
Reserves for impaired loans  –1,866 –393 –2,259
Impaired loans, net 627 200 827
Loans with interest deferments 24 4 28
Impaired loans, total 651 204 855
Reserves/impaired loans, gross (%) 74.8 66.3 73.2
Impaired loans, net/lending (%) 0.7 0.4 0.6

Country risk
The country risk exposure is dominated by China
and Brazil. The exposure is trade-related and pri-
marily short-term. Both countries are of great
importance for Nordea’s Nordic core customers.
The total country risk reserve at the end of 2002
was EUR 130m. Both the exposure and the
reserve were reduced by the exchange rate effect
of a weakened US Dollar.



Impaired loans
Impaired loans, increased to EUR 3,260m from
EUR 3,086m. Reserves decreased by EUR 106m,
mainly as a result of final write-offs being made
against previously booked reserves. As a conse-
quence, the ratio of reserves to cover remaining
impaired loans decreased to 66% (73%).

Market risk
Market price risk is defined as the risk of loss in
market value as a result of movements in finan-
cial market variables such as interest rates, for-
eign exchange rates, equity prices and commod-
ity prices. For example, equity risk is defined as
the potential loss in the market value of equity
and equity-related products due to changes in
equity prices. All material portfolios in Nordea
are marked to market. 

Besides the price risk, market risk also comprises
Structural Interest Income Risk (SIIR) which
measures the effect on the net interest income in
the next 12 months if market rates rise or fall by
one percentage points. SIIR is further described
in the Asset and Liability Management section
below.

Risk management and control 
The management of the market risk is guided by
the market risk policy. Nordea is mainly exposed
to market risk in its investment portfolios, in par-
ticular, in Group Treasury. This risk is managed
separately from the market risk relating to cus-
tomer-driven trading, proprietary trading and
market making activities, most notably in Nordea
Markets and Nordea Securities. For all other
activities, the basic principle is that market risks
are eliminated by matching assets, liabilities and
off-balance sheet items. This is achieved by trans-
actions in Group Treasury. 

The Board of Directors has set the maximum level
of risk on the investment portfolios such that it
should not lead to an accumulated loss in invest-
ment earnings exceeding one quarter’s nor-
malised earnings at any time in a calendar year. 

The risk stemming from the customer driven
trading-related activities is restricted by market
risk limits, which are based on the desired level of
customer facilitation and market making activity. 

While the Board of Directors determines the over-
all limits for investment risk and trading-related
risk, ALCO decides the allocation of these limits
to the business areas. The limits for the business
areas are set in accordance with the business
strategies and are as a minimum reviewed annu-
ally. The heads of the business areas allocate the
ALCO limits within the business area and may
introduce more detailed limits and other risk
reducing features such as stop-loss rules. At the
operational level, the limits may be based on
other risk measures than VaR (Value at Risk) that
better capture the relevant risk exposure.

Measurement methods
As there is no single risk measure that captures
all aspects of market risk, Nordea on a daily basis
uses several risk measures including VaR models,
stress testing, scenario simulation and other non-
statistical risk measures such as basis point val-
ues, net open positions and option key figures. 

VaR models
VaR is used in Nordea to measure linear interest
rate, foreign exchange and equity risks. In Sep-
tember 2002 a VaR measure across these risk cate-
gories was introduced, allowing for diversifica-
tion among the risk categories. VaR is a statistical
risk measure, which in Nordea is based on the
last two years’ historical changes in market prices
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Impaired loans to corporate customers gross, by industry EURm

% of % of 
31 Dec lending to 31 Dec lending to

2002 the industry 2001 the industry

Real estate management 238 1.2 290 1.4
Construction 99 3.2 100 3.5 
Agriculture and fishing 430 10.0 98 2.7 
Transport 159 4.5 145 4.0 
Shipping 123 2.7 205 3.7 
Trade and services 300 3.6 346 4.0 
Manufacturing 362 2.6 412 2.6 
Financial operations 97 0.8 97 1.4 
Renting, consulting and 

other company services 296 3.6 399 4.5 
Other companies 559 7.4 401 5.1 

Total 2,664 3.1 2,493 3.0

Distribution of reserves to corporate customers, by industry EURm

31 Dec 31 Dec
2002 % 2001 %

Real estate management 158 8.9 190 10.2
Construction 88 5.0 85 4.6 
Agriculture and fishing 161 9.1 88 4.7 
Transport 136 7.7 97 5.2 
Shipping 88 5.0 107 5.7 
Trade and services 216 12.2 295 15.8 
Manufacturing 238 13.4 365 19.6 
Financial operations 84 4.7 38 2.1 
Renting, consulting and 

other company services 264 14.9 316 16.9 
Other companies 338 19.1 285 15.2 

Total 1,770 100.0 1,866 100.0



and rates, a holding period of 10 banking days
and a probability of 99%. Nordea’s VaR model is
based on the expected tail loss approach, which
implies using the average of a number of the
most adverse simulation results as an estimate of
VaR. 

Back tests are performed on a regular basis in
accordance with the guidelines laid down by the
Basle Committee on Banking Supervision in
order to test the reliability of the VaR models. The
models have shown good statistical characteris-
tics throughout 2002.

Scenario simulation
The market risk inherent in options and option-
related instruments has so-called non-linear char-
acteristics, which are not captured by Nordea’s
current VaR models. Nordea uses scenario simu-
lations to capture this non-linear risk. The scenar-
ios simulate movements in yield curves, foreign
exchange rates, equity prices and volatilities,
which are calibrated to capture the most common
market movements over a 10-day horizon. 

Stress testing
Nordea’s VaR and scenario simulation measures
are designed to estimate risk in a normal market
environment. As a supplement, stress tests are
used to estimate the possible losses that may
occur under extreme market conditions. Nordea
performs stress tests based on the current portfo-
lio and information about the daily financial mar-
ket developments since the beginning of 1993. In
addition, Nordea’s portfolios are stress tested for
subjective scenarios, which are most often based
on selected historical events prior to 1993 or
adverse scenarios relevant at the current state of
the economic cycle or geopolitical situation. 

Market risk analysis
The information presented in this section is the
consolidated market risk figures for investment
and trading-related activities. The investment
risk, which mainly comprises linear risk, was sig-

nificantly reduced in the course of 2002. This
reflects both the divestment of the general insur-
ance business, including the securities portfolios
of this business with effect from 1 July 2002 and a
deliberate decision to reduce the investment risk
in the course of the year. The client-driven, trad-
ing related market risk (which includes most of
Nordea’s non-linear risk) was broadly at the
same level in the second half of 2002 as in the first
half of the year. The market risk on the equity
capital’s investments in the life insurance and
pension activities is included in the regular mar-
ket risk measurement. The market risk for
Nordea’s account associated with the yield
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Market Risk in 2002 EURm
Average Average

Measure 31 Dec 2002 Jan–June July–Dec Minimum Maximum

Total linear risk VaR 67.8 59.8 44.9 75.4

Equity risk VaR 24.5 91.2 34.8 24.5 104.1
Non-linear risk simulation 5.8 6.1 6.2 3.9 9.8

Interest rate risk VaR 53.2 61.7 45.9 30.5 79.2
Non-linear risk simulation 14.3 20.6 21.1 11.6 32.9

Foreign exchange risk VaR 4.1 11.2 3.4 1.3 15.7
Non-linear risk simulation 6.5 8.3 9.5 5.0 13.5
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guarantees to policyholders is currently analysed
separately.

Total linear risk
Nordea’s VaR measure of linear risk that com-
bines the risk on equity, interest rate and foreign
exchange positions, which was introduced in
September 2002, shows that there is a noticeable
diversification effect between the three risk cate-
gories. The total linear VaR gives an impression
of the diversification effect, as reflected in the fact
that the total linear risk  is lower than the sum of
the risk in each of the three categories. 

Equity risk
At the end of 2002, Nordea’s total equity VaR
stood at EUR 24.5m, while the sensitivity to a 10%
change in all equity prices was 21.3m. Besides the
divestment of General Insurance, the equity risk
has fallen as a result of a reduction of the equity
holdings and increased hedge positions in equity
index futures. The VaR model measures the risk
on the portfolio of listed equities in Nordea. For
equity positions that have a relatively low degree
of liquidity, the price developments are not suit-
able for inclusion in the VaR model. Therefore,

since the beginning of 2002 the risk on these posi-
tions have simply been calculated as 10% of their
market value and added to the equity VaR. 

Measured by industry sectors, besides real estate
equities, Nordea’s largest equity exposure by
both VaR and market value was to the financial
and non-cyclical consumer goods sectors at the
end of 2002. 

In addition to the listed shares, the book value of
private equity funds and unlisted equities
(excluding business-related and credit-related
unlisted equities) is monitored in the market risk
management, but are not included in the equity
VaR figures in the tables and charts in this report.

Interest rate risk
The interest rate risk was lower at the end of 2002
than at the beginning of the year. This reflects a
reduction in the interest rate sensitivities in the
currencies SEK, EUR, USD and NOK, while the
interest rate sensitivity in DKK rose. The interest
rate sensitivity in other currencies is insignificant.
The total gross sensitivity to a 1 percentage point
parallel shift in all interest rate curves was EUR
176.1m at the end of 2002. This is a measure of the
development in the market value of Nordea’s
interest rate sensitive positions if all interest rates
move adversely for Nordea.

The non-linear interest rate risk mainly stems
from customer related trading activities.

Foreign exchange risk
Nordea’s foreign exchange risk is relatively low
compared to the interest rate and equity risk
exposure. The largest sensitivities are in DKK,
USD, CHF and SEK. The foreign exchange risk is
low (EUR 4.1m at the end of 2002) due to the high
degree of correlation between exchange rate
developments in EUR and DKK, and, albeit to a
lesser extent, between EUR and SEK. The gross
sensitivity to a 5% change in the exchange rate of
all currencies vis-à-vis the EUR was EUR 27.2m at
the end of 2002.

Commodity risk
Nordea’s exposure to commodity risk is very low
and solely related to client driven activities. 

Insurance risk
Insurance risk is the risk that earned risk premi-
ums will not cover future claims. The main char-
acteristic that distinguishes insurance risk from
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other risks is the very long-term nature of the
contracts; e.g. some life insurance contracts can
have a duration of more then 60 years. In mutual
companies the risk is shared with the customers.
The pure life insurance risk is the risk of unex-
pected losses due to changes in mortality rates,
longevity rates, disability rates and selection
effects.

The risk inherent in the insurance business is pri-
marily controlled using traditional actuarial tech-
niques, i.e. through tariffs, rules for acceptance of
customers, reinsurance contracts and provisions
for risks. A continuous supervision of the appro-
priateness of the parameters in the risk models is
undertaken to ensure that changes in the under-
lying risk is properly taken into account.

New measurement techniques have been devel-
oped and are continuously being developed to
deal with new products, increase the trans-
parency of the true nature of the risks and to
achieve consistency with overall measurement
methodology used within Nordea. Stochastic
ALM-models has been developed to capture and
control the mismatch between assets and liabili-
ties for the guaranteed savings contracts. Hedges
are used to reduce the risk exposure further. 

Operational risk
In the Operational Risk Policy for the Nordea
Group Operational risk is defined as the risk of
direct or indirect loss, or damaged reputation,
due to deficiencies or errors in the Group’s inter-
nal operations which may be attributable to
employees, the organisation, control routines,
processes or technology, or due to external events
and relations.

Operational risks are inherent in all activities
within the organisation, in outsourced activities
and in all interaction with external parties.

Solid internal control and quality management,
consisting of a risk-management framework,
leadership and skilled personnel, is the key to
successful operational risk management.

Each business area is primarily responsible for
managing its own operational risks. Group
Credit and Risk Control develops and maintains
a framework for identifying, measuring, moni-
toring and controlling operational risks and sup-
ports the line organisation to implement the
framework.

Information security, physical security and crime
prevention as well as legal and compliance risks
are important components when managing oper-
ational risks. To cover this broad scope, the group
security function is included in Group Credit and
Risk Control, and close cooperation is maintained
with Group IT, Group Legal and Group Compli-
ance.

The main processes for managing operational
risks are an ongoing monitoring through self-
assessment and the registering of incidents and
quality deficiencies. The analysis of operational
risk-related events, potential risk indicators and
other early-warning signals are in focus when
developing the processes.

The mitigating techniques consist of business
contingency plans together with crisis manage-
ment preparedness and a broad insurance cover
for handling major incidents. Special emphasis is
put on quality and risk analysis in change man-
agement and product development.

The techniques and processes for managing oper-
ational risks are structured around the risk
sources as described in the definition of opera-
tional risk. This approach improves the compara-
bility of risk profiles in different business areas
and globally throughout the organisation. It also
supports the focus on limiting and mitigating
measures to the sources rather than the symp-
toms.

Reliable and risk sensitive ways to quantify the
operational risks constitute another important
goal when developing the techniques and
processes. A convincing quantification is a pre-
condition for more advanced models, with sound
incentive structures, to calculate economic capital
for operational risks.

Legal proceedings
Nordea AB (publ) is not subject to any legal pro-
ceedings. Within the framework of the normal
business operations, the Group faces a number of
claims in lawsuits and other disputes, most of
which involve relatively limited amounts. None
of these disputes is considered likely to have any
significant adverse effect on the Group or its
financial position.

In the legal proceedings between Yggdrasil AB
and Nordea Bank Sverige AB (publ), described in
detail in previous Annual Reports, the Stockholm
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District Court dismissed Yggdrasil’s claim in a
ruling given on 1 September 1998. Yggdrasil
made an appeal to the Court of Appeal, which
dismissed Yggdrasil’s claim in a ruling given on
28 June 2002. The Supreme Court dismissed
Yggdrasil’s petition for a leave of appeal on
10 February 2003.

Asset and Liability Management
Assets and liabilities on the Group’s balance
sheet appear as a result of business transactions
with customers. Group Treasury actively man-
ages the financial risks (mainly interest rate risk,
liquidity risks and exchange risk) connected to
products offered by the group. 

The Group has decided to centralise all asset and
liability management (ALM) to Group Treasury
to minimize earnings volatility and to have tight
control on all taken risks. Group policies and
guidelines related to ALM risks, are set by the
Board of Directors and the Asset and Liability
Committee (ALCO).

Liquidity risk
In Nordea, liquidity risk is defined as the risk of
only being able to meet liquidity commitments at
increased cost or – ultimately – being unable to
meet obligations as they come due because of an
inability to liquidate assets or obtain adequate
funding. Nordea’s liquidity policy sets general
rules for liquidity risk management, e.g. it
demands the existence of a business contingency
plan for liquidity management, and it states a
commitment towards public disclosure, in par-
ticular at times of stress.

All liquidity risks are centralised to Group Trea-
sury who is responsible for compliance with the
limits set by the Board of Directors and ALCO.
Having this responsibility, Group Treasury can
also delegate limits on liquidity risk to the busi-
ness areas.

Nordea has a business continuity plan for liquid-
ity management comprising the strategy for man-
aging liquidity crises. The plan covers general
sector and market crisis as well as events specific
for Nordea.

The liquidity risk management focuses on short-
term liquidity risk as well as long-term structural
liquidity risk. To measure the exposure on both
horizons a number of liquidity risk measures
have been developed and are being monitored
regularly.

To ensure funding in situations where Nordea is
in urgent need of cash and the normal funding
sources do not suffice, Nordea holds a liquidity
buffer. The liquidity buffer consists of high-grade
securities that can be used as collateral in funding
operations.

To avoid situations of stress on the short-term
funding Nordea measures the funding gap risk,
which expresses the expected maximum accumu-
lated need for raising liquidity in the course of
the next 30 days. Funding gap risk is measured
for each currency and as a total figure for all cur-
rencies combined. 
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GAP analysis Nordea 31 December 2002
Static Gap EURm

Group Within 3–6 6–12 Non
Interest Rate Fixing Period balance sheet 3 months months months 1–2 years 2–5 years >5 years Repricing Total

Assets
Interest bearing assets 187,588 154,741 11,548 10,773 4,618 3,886 1,625 396 187,588
Trading 9,815 9,815 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,815
Off-balance sheet items 0 875,810 8,570 7,018 3,517 4,867 2,122 0 901,904
Non interest bearing assets 52,216 0 0 0 0 0 0 52,216 52,216

Total assets 249,619 1,040,365 20,118 17,791 8,135 8,753 3,747 52,613 1,151,522

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Interest bearing liabilities 188,125 151,563 14,216 8,600 7,992 5,037 717 0 188,125
Off-balance sheet items 0 875,731 9,398 8,149 3,050 4,726 850 0 901,904
Non interest bearing liabilities 61,494 0 0 0 0 0 0 61,494 61,494

Total liabilities and shareholders’ 
equity 249,619 1,027,294 23,613 16,748 11,042 9,763 1,567 61,494 1,151,522

Exposure 13,071 –3,495 1,044 –2,908 –1,010 2,180 –8,881 0
Cumulative exposure 9,575 10,619 7,711 6,701 8,881 0 0



The structural liquidity risk of Nordea is meas-
ured by the net balance of stable funding, which
is defined as the difference between stable liabili-
ties and stable assets. ALCO has set a target on
net balance of stable funding to be positive,
which means that core assets are funded with
long liabilities. Stable liabilities primarily com-
prise retail deposits, bank deposits and bonds
with a term to maturity longer than 6 months,
and shareholders capital. Stable assets primarily
comprise retail loans and other loans with a term
to maturity longer than 6 months. 

Structural Interest Income Risk
Structural Interest Income Risk (SIIR) is a type of
interest risk and hence part of the market risk.
SIIR is defined as the effect on net interest income
in the next 12 months if market rates change by
one percentage point.

SIIR reflects the mismatch that arises in the bal-
ance sheet when the interest rate repricing peri-
ods of assets, liabilities and derivatives do not
correspond exactly. 

The basic measures for SIIR are the static and
dynamic gaps. Static gap measures the impact of
one percentage point increase and decrease in
market rates to net interest income for a 12
months time period assuming that no new mar-
ket transactions are made during the period. The
formula for calculation of dynamic gap is the
same as for static gap, but the assumptions for the
repricing gap used in this measure are different
compared to static gap, as dynamic gap strives to
take into account a more realistic customer
behaviour and the decision process concerning
Nordea’s own rates. 

Currently, a limit for SIIR exists for the static gap
for increasing market rates. At the end of year the
SIIR was EUR 103.6m. SIIR for decreasing market
rates was EUR –181.6m. However, VaR limitation
also indirectly controls the level of SIIR, espe-
cially in longer periods. As can be seen from the
Gap analysis table the cumulative exposure for
the next 12 months was positive. This formal way
of calculating the SIIR also indicates that an
increase of market rates would increase the net
interest income for the next 12-month period by
EUR 106.2m. The table merely reflects the
Group’s position on a certain day.

Hedging
Hedging activities for the Group balance sheet
are centralised to and managed by Group Trea-
sury. The main principle is to match fund all
assets with liabilities with similar structure. As a
compliment to cash funded matching the Group
uses interest rate swaps, currency interest rate
swaps and other derivatives to manage the risks.
Derivatives used for hedging are, in line with
accounting policies, included in the hedging
reports at acquisition value.

Structural Foreign Exchange Risk
The risks arising from corporate and retail bank-
ing business in foreign currencies are centralised
to Group Treasury via matched funding prin-
ciples, with the exception of units which have
been allocated foreign exchange limits. Hence,
each company is matched into the currency of its
capital and all units must finance all foreign
investments in the same currency.  Additionally
the financed volume shall match the investment.
Nordea will not hedge the underlying business if
not decided otherwise.

Economic capital and the New Basel
Capital Accord
Losses are inevitable in the businesses Nordea
performs. During the last years Nordea have
implemented an economic capital model to meas-
ure potential long-term variations of losses. The
economic capital is a more sophisticated measure
of the amount of capital required to cover long
term losses than the regulatory capital. It is an
important input in the economic profit calcula-
tions.

Nordea defines economic capital as the capital
required to cover unexpected losses in the course
of its business with a certain probability.

Nordea calculates economic capital for the fol-
lowing risk types: credit risk, market risk, life
insurance risk, real-estate risk, operational risk,
and business risk. The economic capital from the
different risk types is aggregated to total Nordea
economic capital taking diversification effects
between the risk types into account.

Consistent risk measuring across the types of risk
requires the use of the same statistical confidence
level and measurement period. In Nordea the
measurement period is set to one year and the
confidence level is set to 99.97%. Nordea’s total
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economic capital equals the amount needed to
cover unexpected losses during one year in
99.97% of all possible cases.

For each of the risk types compiled into economic
capital quantitative models are used to estimate
the unexpected losses: 

• Credit risk is calculated using a set of capital
factors. The capital factors are developed for
different products, customer segments and
credit quality. The factors have been estimated
using a portfolio model and have been
updated and refined during 2002.

• Market risk is based on the Value-at-Risk (VaR)
models (linear risks) and scenario simulation
(non-linear risks) used in the overall risk man-
agement. 

• The total economic capital for the Life insur-
ance business is currently based on a bench-
mark set as a percentage of the minimum sol-
vency requirement according to the third EU
life directive. The Life insurance risk is currently
calculated as a residual risk.

• Operational risk is calculated according to the
proposed standardised approach within the
New Basel Capital Accord.

• Business risk is currently calculated based on
benchmarks set as a percentage of expenses.

• Real estate risk is calculated as a percentage of
market values, where the percentage is set to
capture volatility in real estate prices.

When all types of risk of the group are combined,
considerable diversification effects will arise,
since it is highly improbable that all unexpected
losses occur at the same time. However, credit
risk, market risk and real estate risk are all highly
correlated with the development of the general
economy and thus provide a relatively low diver-
sification effect. The diversification effects result
in that the total economic capital becomes lower
than the sum of the economic capital for each risk
type. 

The pie charts show the relative distribution of
economic capital at 31 December 2002. Total eco-
nomic capital at 31 December 2002 is calculated to
EUR 10.2bn. The general insurance business’s
economic capital  is not included in the graph
after the second quarter due to Nordea’s divest-
ment of the business.  

The New Basel Capital Accord is planned to be in
effect from 2006. This will lead to changes in risk
models, processes and systems for Nordea.

During 2002 Nordea has focused on developing
the credit risk measurements to be compliant
with the requirements under the New Basel Capi-
tal Accord. The emphasis has been on the devel-
opment of internal rating models, calibration
methods, and data gathering. Nordea has also
performed a cost benefit analysis measuring the
cost and benefits for the different approaches in
the New Basel Capital Accord. Going forward
Nordea has set up a New Basel Capital Accord
program with the ambition to be approved for
the internal rating based approach.
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Economic capital during 2002
EURm
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Board of Directors
According to the Articles of Association of
Nordea AB (publ) the Board of Directors of the
company shall consist of at least six and not more
than fifteen members, elected by shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting. The mandate for
the Board members extends over a period of two
years, with half the number of Board members
being elected each year. 

Vesa Vainio resigned as Chairman of the Board at
the Annual General Meeting 2002. 

Thorleif Krarup resigned as Member of the Board
and as Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) on
25 August 2002. 

The Board thereafter consists of the following
members:

Hans Dalborg, chairman
Timo Peltola, vice chairman
Kjell Aamot
Dan Andersson
Edward Andersson
Harald Arnkværn
Claus Høeg Madsen
Bernt Magnusson
Jørgen Høeg Pedersen
Maija Torkko

In addition thereto the Board comprises the fol-
lowing members, appointed by the employees
organisations:

Bertel Finskas 
Liv Haug 
(deputy 1 November 2002 – 30 April 2003)
Lene Haulrik 
(deputy 1 May 2002 – 31 October 2002)
Kaija Roukala-Hyvärinen 
(deputy 1 November 2001 – 30 April 2002)

Board members elected until the Annual General
Meeting 2003 are Dan Andersson, Edward
Andersson, Harald Arnkværn, Claus Høeg
Madsen and Timo Peltola. 

Hans Dalborg, Kjell Aamot, Bernt Magnusson,
Jørgen Høeg Pedersen and Maija Torkko are
elected Board members until the Annual General
Meeting 2004.

The Board of Directors held 25 plenary meetings
during 2002, some of which per capsulam or by
telephone.

The Board of Directors annually carries out a spe-
cial self assessment, through which the working
order of the Board is thoroughly evaluated and
discussed by the Board. An established principle
in Nordea is that the members of the Board of
Directors, elected by the shareholders, in addition
to working in plenary meetings, shall conduct its
responsibilities through separate working com-
mittees. These committees consist of independent
Directors, ie Directors not employed by the
Nordea Group, and the CEO (in the Audit Com-
mittee co-opted only).

Board Committees:
The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfill-
ing its oversight responsibilities by reviewing the
external auditors comments on the Group´s
annual financial statement, the systems of inter-
nal control, established by the Board, the CEO
and the GEM, and the audit processes. The Com-
mittee is further responsible for the guidance and
evaluation of the Internal Audit Activity. During
2002, the committee comprised Board members
Harald Arnkværn (Chairman), Hans Dalborg (up
to the end of the Annual General Meeting 2002),
and Thorleif Krarup,  (up to 25 August 2002),
Claus Høeg Madsen, Timo Peltola (up to the end
of the Annual General Meeting 2002) and Maija
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance in Nordea follows generally adopted principles and is based on effec-

tive interaction between the shareholders and the Board of Directors and between the Board

and the Group Executive Management (GEM). A high degree of transparency is kept in

respect of the Group, based on sufficient, timely and accessible information.



Torkko (from the Annual General Meeting 2002).
Co-opted members were Dag Andresen, Chief
Audit Executive (CAE), and Lars G Nordström
(from 25 August 2002). 

The Credit Committee monitors adherence to
the established credit policies within the Nordea
Group and evaluates the overall quality of the
credit portfolio. During 2002 the committee com-
prised Board members Vesa Vainio (Chairman up
to the end of the Annual General Meeting 2002),
Edward Andersson, Harald Arnkværn, Hans
Dalborg (Chairman from the Annual General
Meeting 2002), Thorleif Krarup (until 25 August
2002), Bernt Magnusson (from the  Annual Gen-
eral Meeting 2002) Lars G Nordström (from 25
August 2002) and Jørgen Høeg Pedersen.

The Remuneration and Human Resources
Committee is responsible for remuneration
issues regarding the members of the GEM and
the monitoring of the human resources manage-
ment within the Nordea Group. The committee
prepares and presents proposals to the Board of
Directors regarding the CEO’s and CAE’s terms
of employment. The CEO also consults with the
committee regarding the terms of employment of
the members of the GEM. The committee pre-
pares alterations to salary levels for the GEM as a
whole for resolution by the Board. The commit-
tee, in terms of the strategic position of the
Group, also monitors human resources policies
and development, management and staff incen-
tive schemes, performance of and succession plan
for the GEM, for consideration by the Board
when required or deemed appropriate. During
2002 the committee comprised Board members
Vesa Vainio (Chairman up to the end of the
Annual General Meeting 2002), Kjell Aamot,
Hans Dalborg (Chairman from the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting 2002), Lene Haulrik, Thorleif

Krarup (until 25 August 2002), Lars G Nordström
(from 25 August 2002) and Timo Peltola (from the
Annual General Meeting 2002). The CEO does
not participate in deliberations on his own terms
of employment.

Nomination process
According to the Articles of Association of
Nordea AB (publ) when electing Board of Direc-
tors, it shall be aimed at that the Board, as a
whole, for its operations, possesses the requisite
knowledge and experience of the civic, business
and cultural conditions prevailing in the regions
and market areas in which the Group´s principal
operations are conducted.

In order to work out a proposal for election of
Board members at the Annual General Meeting
2003 an informal nomination committee was
established late 2002 after consultation with the
major shareholders. The committee has consisted
of Christina Ragsten Pettersson, representing the
Swedish state as shareholder, Staffan Grefbäck,
representing Alecta as shareholder, Lars Ole
Würtz Nielsen, representing Tryg i Danmark as
shareholder and Hans Dalborg in his capacity as
Chairman of the Board. The nomination commit-
tee has, with the assistance of an external consult-
ant, considered a number of potential candidates
and decided to propose to the Annual General
Meeting to elect Gunnel Duveblad, Birgitta Kan-
tola and Lars G Nordström new members of the
Board. Dan Andersson and Edward Andersson
have declined reelection.

The informal nomination committee has further
decided to propose to the Annual General Meet-
ing to decide upon establishment of a nomination
committee for the purpose of working out pro-
posals for election of future Board members and
auditors and for their remuneration.
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Auditor
According to the Articles of Association of Nordea
AB (publ) one or two auditors shall be elected by
the General Meeting of shareholders for a term of
four years. At the Annual General Meeting 1999
KPMG Bohlins AB was elected auditor for a
period up to the end of the Annual General Meet-
ing 2003. Accordingly, election of one or two audi-
tors for another term of four years is to be made at
the Annual General Meeting 2003.

The Board of Directors during 2002 therefore
decided to carry out a tender process for Finan-
cial Audit Services for this period. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
has been responsible for the tender process. In
order to comply with best practice in this matter,
the Audit Committee has applied a recently
issued Practice Advisory from The Institute of
Internal Auditors, Inc as a model for the tender
process.

To ensure that the tender process should be inde-
pendent of line management, the Board of Direc-
tors decided to set up a separate project charged
with the responsibility of preparing the tender
documentation, evaluating the resulting bids and
making a recommendation to the Board. The
Audit Tender Project Steering Committee has
consisted of the Audit Committee members, the
CEO, the Chief Financial Officer and the CAE.

After due evaluation of the offers tendered the
Board of Directors has decided to recommend to
the Annual General Meeting to elect KPMG
Bohlins AB auditor for a period of four years.
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4 year overview
Key financial figures

Operational income statement  EURm
Pro forma

2002 2001 20001,2 1999

Net interest income 3,451 3,465 2,838 2,755
Commission income 1,535 1,432 1,454 1,164
Trading 530 543 415 243
Other 154 165 134 378

Income 5,670 5,605 4,841 4,540

Personnel expenses –2,086 –1,878 –1,579 –1,456
Other expenses –1,659 –1,511 –1,274 –1,278

Expenses –3,745 –3,389 –2,853 –2,734

Profit before loan losses 1,925 2,216 1,988 1,806

Loan losses –261 –373 –79 –91
Profit from companies accounted 

for under the equity method 52 95 62 117

Profit before investment earnings and insurance 1,716 1,938 1,971 1,832

Investment earnings, banking 122 172 431
Operating profit, Life Insurance 2 –17 73 124
Operating profit, General Insurance –122 –18 53 172
Goodwill amortisation –171 –147 –93 –39

Operating profit 1,547 1,928 2,435 2,089

Loss on disposal of real estate holdings – – –40 –145
Allocation to/from Pension Foundation –255 – 32 65
Taxes –405 –360 –691 –346
Minority interests 0 0 –3 –2

Net profit 887 1,568 1,733 1,661

Ratios and key figures

Earnings per share, EUR 0.30 0.53 0.58
Share price3, EUR 4.20 5.97 8.10
Shareholders’ equity per share3, EUR 4.06 4.00 3.74
Shares outstanding4, million 2,928 2,965 2,982
Return on equity, % 7.5 13.8 16.1
Return on equity excl goodwill5, % 11.3 19.2 19.4
Lending3, EURbn 146 138 129
Deposits3, EURbn 92 86 79
Shareholders’ equity3, EURbn 12 12 11
Total assets3, EURbn 250 242 224
Assets under management3, EURbn 96 105 105
Cost/income ratio, banking5, % 64 58 54
Cost/income ratio, excluding investment earnings, % 65 59 58
Tier 1 capital ratio3, % 7.1 7.3 6.8
Total capital ratio3, % 9.9 9.1 9.4
Risk-weighted assets3, EURbn 135 136 132

1 Incl Unidanmark Q1 pro forma.
2 Profit 2000 excl Nordea Bank Norway (formerly Christiania Bank og Kreditkasse).
3 End of period, incl Nordea Bank Norway from Q4 2000.
4 Average number of shares Jan–Dec 2002 after full dilution until September was 2,955 million.
5 See Business definitions page 65.



Quarterly development  EURm
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Note 2002 2002 2002 2002 2001 2001 2001 2001

Net interest income 885 874 855 837 852 856 885 872
Commission income 1 388 371 396 380 379 322 370 361
Trading 130 127 137 136 128 131 128 156
Other 54 34 37 29 37 36 56 36

Total income 1,457 1,406 1,425 1,382 1,396 1,345 1,439 1,425

Personnel expenses –545 –521 –514 –506 –482 –467 –462 –467
Other expenses –448 –404 –408 –399 –419 –354 –380 –358

Total expenses 2 –993 –925 –922 –905 –901 –821 –842 –825

Profit before loan losses 464 481 503 477 495 524 597 600

Loan losses, net –76 –66 –56 –63 –56 –213 –59 –45
Equity method 16 4 17 15 35 29 20 11

Profit before investment earnings 
and insurance 404 419 464 429 474 340 558 566

Investment earnings, banking 41 39 31 11 28 –4 78 70
Operating profit, life insurance 44 –13 –26 –3 4 –49 42 –14
Operating profit, general insurance 0 –4 –87 –31 1 –24 36 –31
Goodwill amortisation –43 –42 –44 –42 –39 –35 –37 –36

Operating profit 446 399 338 364 468 228 677 555

Allocation from/to Pension Foundation 17 –120 –152 – – – – –
Taxes –140 –86 –79 –100 55 –65 –193 –157
Minority interests 0 0 0 0 0 2 –1 –1

Net profit 323 193 107 264 523 165 483 397

EPS 0.10 0.07 0.04 0.09 0.18 0.06 0.16 0.13
EPS, rolling 12 months up to period end 0.30 0.38 0.37 0.49 0.53 0.46 0.54 0.54

Note 1 Commission income 

Brokerage 35 38 46 55 76 56 60 79
Asset Management/Investment funds 108 101 115 126 115 104 116 113
Issue of securities 7 6 5 4 9 7 20 10
Lending 95 86 91 87 84 84 91 75
Deposits and payments 195 189 183 157 139 130 127 129
Foreign exchange 15 11 10 8 8 9 8 12
Other 39 33 35 26 33 14 27 20
Commission expenses –88 –85 –83 –77 –79 –77 –73 –73

Net commission income 406 379 402 386 385 327 376 365
Of which investment activities –18 –8 –6 –6 –6 –5 –6 –4

Commission income 388 371 396 380 379 322 370 361

Note 2 Expenses

Personnel1 547 523 515 507 484 469 464 468
Information technology2 136 111 113 103 107 94 93 85
Marketing 34 21 36 23 34 20 20 25
Postage, telephone and office expenses 62 50 52 60 54 45 46 45
Rents, premises and real estate expenses 89 79 74 71 81 72 90 71
Other 130 146 134 144 145 125 131 134

Expenses 998 930 924 908 905 825 844 828
Of which investment activities3 –5 –5 –2 –3 –4 –4 –2 –3 

Expenses 993 925 922 905 901 821 842 825

1 Profit-related personnel expenses incl profit-sharing system were EUR 79m in 2002 (full year 2001 EUR 115m).
2 Refers to computer operations, service expenses and consulting fees. Total IT-related costs, incl personnel etc (excluding IT expenses in insurance operations) were EUR 758m, in

2002 (full year 2001 EUR 709m).
3 Including personnel expenses (Q4 2002 2m).
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EURm EURm
Note 2002 2001

Operating income
Interest income 1 10,382 11,308
Interest expenses 1 –6,628 –7,620
Net interest income 1 3,754 3,688
Dividends received 2 36 49
Net commission income 3 1,573 1,453
Net result from financial operations 4 253 349
Other income 5 190 250

Total operating income 5,806 5,789

Operating expenses
General administrative expenses
Personnel expenses 6 –2,065 –1,912
Other administrative expenses 7 –1,481 –1,341
Depreciation and write-down of tangible and intangible fixed assets 8 –330 –290

Total operating expenses –3,876 –3,543

Profit before loan losses 1,930 2,246

Loan losses, net 9 –250 –362
Change in value of property taken over for protection of claims 10 –11 –11
Profit from companies accounted for under the equity method 11 52 95

Operating profit, banking 1,721 1,968
Operating profit, insurance 12 –148 –67

Operating profit 1,573 1,901

Pension adjustments 13 –281 27
Tax on profit for the year 14 –405 –360
Minority interests 0 0

Net profit for the year 887 1,568

Earnings per share, EUR 0.30 0.53
Earnings per share, after full dilution, EUR 0.30 0.53

The Nordea Group 

Statutory Income statement 
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EURm EURm
Note 31 Dec 2002 31 Dec 2001

Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 15 4,624 3,039
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 16 5,514 7,894
Loans and advances to credit institutions 17 23,496 21,370
Lending 18 145,740 137,570
Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 21 22,652 25,387
Shares and participations 23 596 824
Investments, customers bearing the risk 24 2,909 3,359
Shares in associated undertakings 25 527 458
Shares in group undertakings 26 11 20
Intangible assets 27 2,427 2,551
Tangible assets 28 1,874 1,986
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 29 1,872 2,002
Other assets, banking 30 15,843 11,449
Assets, insurance 31
– Investments 17,469 19,283
– Investments, policyholders bearing the risk 2,964 2,856
– Other assets 1,101 1,501

Total assets 249,619 241,549

Assets pledged for own liabilities 32 9,942 10,839

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Deposits by credit institutions 33 25,962 30,243
Deposits 34 91,663 86,396
Other borrowings from the public 35 2,514 4,686
Debt securities in issue 36 61,858 61,175
Other liabilities, banking 37 26,130 15,707
Liabilities, insurance 31
– Subordinated liabilities – 259
– Technical provisions 16,872 18,453
– Technical provisions, policyholders bearing the investment risk 2,963 2,856
– Other liabilities 383 737
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 38 2,247 2,035
Provisions 39 992 1,219
Subordinated liabilities 40 6,128 5,927
Minority interests 10 37

Total liabilities 237,722 229,730

Shareholders’ equity 41
Share capital 1,183 1,182
Share premium account 4,284 4,271
Other restricted reserves 589 598
Unrestricted reserves 4,954 4,200
Net profit for the year 887 1,568

Total shareholders’ equity 11,897 11,819

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 249,619 241,549

Contingent liabilities 42 15,576 14,695
Commitments 43 1,136,142 901,812

Other notes
Impaired loans 19
Property taken over for protection of claims 20
Total holdings of interest-bearing securities 22
Capital adequacy 44
Derivatives 45
Assets and liabilities at fair value 46
Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies 47
Geographical distribution of operating income 48
Unconsolidated group undertaking 49
Nordisk Renting AB (publ) 50
The Nordea share 51

The Nordea Group 

Balance sheet
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EURm EURm
2002 2001

Ordinary business
Operating profit after pension adjustments 1,292 1,928
Adjustments for items not included in cash flow 543 220
Income taxes paid –293 –361

Change in ordinary business assets
Change in debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 3,623 –9,455
Change in loans to credit institutions –3,550 1,768
Change in loans to the public –8,316 –9,204
Change in shares and participations 169 147
Change in other assets –2,092 –2,660

Change in ordinary business liabilities
Change in loans from credit institutions –4,281 1,434
Change in deposits and other borrowings from the public 6,333 7,033
Change in other liablilites 5,129 4,434

Cash flow from ordinary business –1,443 –4,716

Investment operations
Change in shares and participations in subsidiaries and associated companies –40 –43
Change in other financial fixed assets 1,536 4,128
Net change in tangible assets –60 –8
Net change in intangible assets –34 –144

Cash flow from investment operations 1,402 3,933

Financial operations
Change in debt instruments outstanding 850 4,599
Change in subordinated debt and capital loans 34 –451
Dividends –682 –675
Other – –198

Cash flow from financial operations 202 3,275

Cash flow for the year1 161 2,492

Liquid assets at the beginning of the year 8,323 5,831
Liquid assets at the end of the year 8,484 8,323

Change 161 2,492

Additional information
Liquid assets include
Cash and balances at central banks 4,624 3,039
Loans to credit institutions, payable on demand    3,860 5,284

8,484 8,323

Interest payments received 7,648 11,812
Interest expenses paid 4,792 8,092

1 Of which
Acquisition of Postgirot Bank AB (publ) – –449
Increase in cash – 1
Sale of General Insurance, increase in cash, net 102 –

The Nordea Group 

Cash flow statement
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The Group’s Annual Report has been prepared in accordance
with the Swedish Act on Annual Accounts of Credit Insti-
tutions and Securities Companies, the regulations of the
Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority and the recommen-
dations of the Swedish Financial Standards Council.

According to the Swedish Financial Standards Council recom-
mendation 19 (RR 19) a business under divestment should be
disclosed in the way that supports a view as clear as possible
to the reader of the financial report of the effects on the rest of
the business. The Group has disclosed the divestment of
General Insurance in the profit and loss statement on a single
line showing the total effect on the Group. The cash flow
relating to the divestment of the business is showed in the
cash flow statement.

Loss on disposal/write-down of real estate holdings is
reported as a separate item after operating profit, which is in
accordance with the practice established when the former
MeritaNordbanken Group was formed. This more clearly
illustrates the effects of the decision in December 1998 to
divest the Group’s Finnish property portfolio at a more rapid
pace. This accounting principle can be interpreted as an
exception to the RR4 recommendation of the Swedish Finan-
cial Accounting Standards Council. 

Changed accounting principles 
With effect from 1 January 2002 reporting has been adapted to
the amended valuation and information rules stipulated by
the Financial Supervisory Authority regarding loan claims.
Through the acquisition of Nordea Bank Norway (December
2000), a general provision for loan losses was introduced in
the Nordea Group. The provision refers to loans not yet iden-
tified as impaired. At the end of 2001 the general provision
amounted to EUR 235m of which EUR 36m remained from
the general provision made in the third quarter of 2001 (EUR
100m). After analysing and defining Nordea’s loan loss
reserves during the first quarter 2002 according to the new
rules, the reserves at the end of 2001 (EUR 2,259m) (excluding
transfer risks EUR 155m) were reclassified as follows:

EURm

Specific 1,803
Appraised by category 92
General 364

Total 2,259

An adjustment has been made to the recommendations of the
Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council, which
came into effect in the year 2002. Neither of these recommen-
dations has in any way influenced the financial reporting. In
other respects, the accounting principles and the bases for
assessment are unchanged compared with the annual report
2001.

Consolidated financial statements 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with recommendations from the Swedish Finan-
cial Accounting Standards Council and include the parent
company Nordea AB (publ) (Nordea), and those companies in

which the parent company has more than 50% of the voting
rights. Holdings in Finnish associated undertakings that con-
stitute mutual property companies with separate property
holdings and Nordea Life Assurance I Sweden AB, which
operates according to mutual principles, are not included in
the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidation of Nordea Bank Finland (NBF) Group (the
former Nordea Companies Finland) with Nordea has been
made in accordance with the pooling method. This means in
principle that the companies’ assets and liabilities have been
combined without any other adjustment than coordination of
accounting principles, and no goodwill arises. With this
exception the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the acquisition accounting
method. 

The equity method of accounting is used in the case of sub-
sidiaries that are not credit institutions, securities companies
or insurance companies, or whose operations are not linked to
a company in one of these categories, and in the case of associ-
ated undertakings, where the share of voting rights is
between 20% and 50%. The holding in Nordisk Renting AB
(publ) is accounted for under the equity method due to the
temporary holding.

Companies taken over to protect claims are not included in
the consolidated accounts.

The earnings of acquired companies are included in the con-
solidated income statement only for the part of the year each
respective company belonged to the Group. The earnings of
divested companies are not included in the consolidated
income statement.

With effect from April 2000 Nordea acquired the shares in
Nordea Companies Denmark (NCD) A/S (the former
Unidanmark A/S). The shares of Nordea Bank Norge ASA
(NBN, the former Christiania Bank og Kredit-kasse ASA)
were acquired at the end of 2000 by the wholly owned sub-
sidiary of Nordea, NBF. The activities of the NCD Group have
been consolidated into the net profit as from 1 April 2000, yet
with a gross consolidation into the operating profit for the
whole of 2000. The activities of NBN have been consolidated
as from 31 December 2000 including only the assets and liabil-
ities at year-end. The consolidation has been prepared line by
line fully for the banking subgroup and more simplified for
the insurance subgroup. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
euro (EUR). The current method is used when translating the
financial statements of subsidiaries into euro. This means that
the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries have been translated
at the year-end exchange rate, while items in income state-
ments have been translated at the average exchange rate for
the year. Translation differences are charged or credited
directly to the shareholders’ equity of the Group.

Reporting of business transactions
Business transactions are reported at the time that risks and
rewards are transferred between the parties. This means that 
trade date accounting is applied for transactions in the money

Accounting principles



and bond markets, and in the stock market and currency mar-
ket. Deposit and lending transactions, including repurchase
agreements, are reported on the settlement date. 

Assets and liabilities are in most cases reported in gross
amounts. The netting of assets and liabilities is used, however,
if a statutory right to offset the commitments exists and settle-
ment occurs simultaneously. 

Receivables and payables arising from the sale and purchase
of securities are also reported net in those cases where the
transaction is settled through a clearing house.

Leasing
The Group’s leasing operations mainly comprise financial
leasing. In reporting financial leasing transactions, the leasing
item is reported as lending to the lessee. Lease payments net
of depreciation are reported as interest income. 

Repos and other repurchase agreements
A genuine repurchase transaction is defined as an agreement
covering both the sale of an asset, usually interest-bearing
securities, and the subsequent repurchase of the asset at an
agreed price. Such agreements are reported as loan transac-
tions rather than influencing securities holdings. The assets
are reported in the balance sheet of the transferring party and
the purchase price received is posted as a liability (repo). The
receiving party reports the payment as a receivable due from
the transferring party (reverse repo). The difference between
the purchase consideration in the spot market and the futures
market is accrued over the term of the agreement. Assets
transferred in repurchase transactions are reported under the
item Assets pledged for own liabilities.

Financial fixed assets
Loan receivables and securities holdings for which there is an
intent and ability to hold until maturity constitute financial
fixed assets. All of Nordea’s loan receivables are in this cate-
gory. They are reported in the balance sheet at their acquisi-
tion value after deduction for incurred and possible loan
losses and provision for country risks. See also the section on
impaired loans and loan losses.

Securities classified as financial fixed assets include shares
held for strategic business purposes as well as certain interest-
bearing securities that are specified from the date of acquisi-
tion and managed in a separate portfolio. These securities are
carried at acquisition value/amortised cost after considera-
tion of any permanent diminutions in fair value. 

Reclassification of securities between financial fixed assets
and financial current assets is allowed only under limited cir-
cumstances. If any such reclassifications are made, the effect

on earnings is disclosed in the notes to the financial state-
ments.

Financial current assets
Securities not applying with the above mentioned criteria’s
are reported as financial current assets. All securities and
derivatives that are actively managed are valued at fair value,
with the exception of such financial instruments that have
been treated as hedge items (see “Hedge accounting” below).
This category includes almost all interest-bearing securities as
well as equity securities included in the trading operations. 

The acquisition value of interest rate instruments is calculated
as the present value of future payment flows discounted on
the basis on the effective acquisition yield. It is the interest rate
at which the instrument was acquired on. The net present
value change depending on the markets rates but will at the
maturity date be equal to the instrument’s nominal value plus
coupon. Thus any premium or discount is amortised or
accreted into interest income over the remaining term of the
instrument. The acquisition value of outstanding debt instru-
ments is calculated/disclosed according to the same policy. 

Interest income and expenses related to interest-rate swaps
not accounted for as hedges are reported under the item Net
result from financial operations.

Derivative instruments with positive fair value are reported
in the balance sheet as “Other assets”, while derivatives with
negative fair value are reported as “Other liabilities”. Accrued
interest income and expenses pertaining to interest-rate
swaps that are accounted for as hedges are disclosed in the
same way.

Immediate profit/loss recognition in connection with
early debt redemption 
The Group applies immediate recognition of income gains
and losses in connection with early redemption of debt, that is
purchase of its own securities. These realised income items –
the difference between replacement cost and the book value of
the debt redeemed – reflect price changes that have already
occurred in the market. The results are reported separately in
the item Net result from financial operations.

A subsequent sale of acquired bonds is treated as though the
bonds had been newly issued. Debt redemption is reported
only in the consolidated financial statements, and is not
applied to trading or hedging transactions. The immediate
income recognition has the effect of eliminating future amorti-
sation in net interest income of the difference between the
nominal and acquisition value of the asset and liability items
in question.
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Hedge accounting
Deferral hedge accounting is applied to hedge holdings of
financial instruments which are not valued at fair value. The
hedging and hedged positions are reported without taking
into account changes in values provided that changes in fair
value for the hedging and the hedged positions essentially
offset each other in terms of the amounts involved. If addi-
tional unrealised losses arise, they are reported immediately
in the balance sheet and the income statement.

Translation of assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the year-end exchange rate, corresponding to the
average of official buying and selling rates. The parent com-
pany’s foreign currency liabilities that are related to the hedg-
ing of shares in subsidiaries are valued at the historical rate of
exchange in the parent company. Forward positions in foreign
currencies are valued at the current rate for forward contracts
with the equivalent remaining maturity. 

When currency-related derivative instruments are used for
currency hedging, the currency hedging and the correspon-
ding protected item are translated at the year-end rate.

Credit portfolio
Evaluation of loan obligations, which comprise fixed assets
Loan claims are initially reported in the balance sheet at
acquisition value, ie the loan amount granted to the borrower
with an additional charge for direct transaction costs. There-
after, the loan claims are reported on an ongoing basis at
acquisition value after deductions for writedowns and, spe-
cific and groupwise provisions for loan losses.

Definition of impaired loans
A impaired loan is a claim for which it is probable that pay-
ment will not be made in accordance with the contractual
terms of the loan.  A loan obligation must not be considered
doubtful if it is secured by a satisfactory margin that covers
both the principal and interest charges, including where
applicable compensation for delays.

Restructured loan obligations and reclassified impaired
loans
A loan is restructured when the creditor has granted the bor-
rower interest deferments because of deterioration of the bor-
rower’s financial situation, or if the borrower suffers other
financial problems. A portion of the original loan amount,
which the creditor defers in connection with the restructuring,
constitutes an incurred loan loss.

Incurred losses (charge-offs) are losses where it is deemed that
the loan amount will not be paid by the borrower and/or
through the realisation of pledge agreements or guarantee
commitments.

Evaluation of impaired loans
Impaired loans are evaluated according to the assessed
recovery value. They are evaluated when a recovery is not
realistic.

The recovery value is calculated according to one of the
following methods: 
• The discounted value of the estimated cash flow from the

borrower 
• The estimated real value of the collateral that is pledged as

security for the loan and/or the real value of guarantee
commitments.

• The market value identified for the loan claim.

When a claim is classified as doubtful, it is transferred to cash-
based interest accounting.  Accrued interest income is thus no
longer included in earnings, and amounts related to earlier
accruals are reversed. Accrued interest carried over from the
previous year is reported as a loan loss.  

For such impaired loan receivables as are valued according to
the aggregate discounted value of expected future cash flow,
the change in recovery value is reported as interest, if the
assessment of the payments that are expected to be incoming
is unchanged between two dates when assessments are made,
if however the value of this change must be reported as a loan
loss, or as recovery.

Reclassification of impaired loan receivables to normal
receivables
Loan receivables are judged to be normal receivables when
the contractual amounts for amortisation and interest are paid
on time.

Transfer risk
Transfer risk relates to such political events or other exoge-
nous factors that may result in various forms of hindrance
that may impede the transfer of payments under contract to
the payment country specified by the creditor.

Provisions for loan losses related to country risks are made on
the basis of country risk estimates presented by EIU (The
Economist Intelligence Unit, London). Transfer risk is
assessed individually for each country, based on the size of
the outstanding loan receivable that is exposed to transfer
risk. A provision for transfer risk is reported as a reduction of
the book value of the loan receivable.
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Groupwise provisions of individual loan receivables
For groups of loan receivables, where it is deemed probable
that loans losses will be incurred, but where the individual
loan receivable within the group cannot yet be identified, a
provision must be made in respect of the entire group of loan
receivables.

Groupwise evaluation of loan receivables with similar
credit risk
Homogenous groups of receivables with limited value and
similar credit risk are evaluated groupwise. The evaluation is
based on the experience of incurred loan losses and the assess-
ment of the probable loss trend for the group in question. The
principle for division into groups is documented according to
previous loan losses, assessment of future development and
the basis applied for assessment.

Property taken over for protection of claims
The Group may take over pledged property to protect claims
or may receive property as payment for claims. This property
must be divested as soon as possible, and not later than the
date when this can take place without loss to the Group.

Property taken over is specified in a note to the balance sheet.
These assets are valued at the lower of cost and fair value of
the property. In the case of real estate that has been taken over,
the fair value consists of a conservatively appraised market
value less selling costs.

Intangible and tangible fixed assets
These assets are reported at their acquisition value less depre-
ciation according to plan. The depreciation according to plan
takes into account the estimated life of the asset. If it is
deemed likely that the fair value will consistently be less than
the book value, the value is written down as required.

Goodwill
Due to its fundamental and strategic background goodwill
arising in 2000 on the acquisition of NCD and NBN is amor-
tised over 20 years. Other goodwill is amortised over 5 or 10
years. 

Equipment
Equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis. Software
acquired as an integrated part of the equipment is depreciated
as a part of the equipment. Computer software licenses recog-
nised as assets are amortised over 3 years using the straight-
line method.

Buildings
Buildings (except buildings concerning the insurance activi-
ties) are depreciated on a straight-line basis over a maximum
period of 75 years. Depreciation of excess values of buildings
is calculated at varying percentage rates, based on the remain-
ing depreciation period for the building in question.

Own shares
Own shares are not accounted for as an asset. An acquisition
of own shares is entered as a deduction from the equity.

Pension costs
The operating profit includes pension costs, which comprise
premiums and fees to insurance companies and pension
funds which have assumed part of the Group’s pension com-
mitments, and actuarial pension costs in respect of that part of
the commitments which is guaranteed by a pension founda-
tion. In the item Pension adjustments the actuarial pension
costs are reversed, and pension benefits paid are recognised
together with any contributions made to or received from
pension foundations. 

Pension costs are recognised in the profit and loss statement
according to local rules.

Taxation
Tax on the year’s taxable income and the movements in provi-
sions for deferred tax (including tax assets) are charged to the
income statement. The tax is calculated per country using the
local rules and tax rates.

Life insurance activities
Premiums written represent regular premiums and single
premiums due for the year.

Expenses relating to acquiring and renewing the insurance
portfolio are charged to the income statement at the time of
writing the business. Administration expenses, including
salaries, taxes etc, are stated on an accrual basis to match the
financial year.

Investments are marked to market. In traditional life insur-
ance (involving investments in respect of which the policy-
holders do not bear the investment risk) in Norway, bonds
hold to maturity are stated at cost adjusted for value changes
in line with reductions in time to maturity (mathematical
value).

Technical provisions are calculated by the chief actuary. The
provisions cover all liabilities in respect of the life insurance
portfolio, including bonuses, which have been allocated to the
policyholders.

Bonus equalization provisions represent amounts provided to
equalize future bonus payments. 

Technical provisions for policies for which policyholders bear
the investment risk represent life insurance provisions relat-
ing to unit-linked policies written without an investment
guarantee.
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Note 1:
Interest income and interest expenses

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Interest income
Loans and advances to credit institutions 846 1,004
Lending 8,296 8,674
Interest-bearing securities

Current assets 1,127 1,359
Financial fixed assets 63 141
Other 50 130

Total interest income 10,382 11,308

Interest expenses
Deposits by credit institutions 908 1,328
Deposits 2,628 2,851
Debt securities in issue 2,572 2,916
Subordinated liabilities 203 348
Other 317 177

Total interest expenses 6,628 7,620

Net interest income 3,754 3,688

Average balance and interest rate
2002 2001

Interest Interest
EURm % EURm %

Assets, banking
Loans and advances to 

credit institutions 26,388 3.2 23,668 4.2
Lending 144,160 5.8 132,008 6.6
Interest-bearing securities 30,556 3.9 30,783 4.9
Other interest-bearing 

assets 11,516 0.4 9,552 1.4

Total interest-bearing 
assets 212,620 4.9 196,011 5.8

Non-interest-bearing 
assets 14,755 – 13,746 –

Total assets, banking 227,375 4.6 209,757 5.4

2002 2001

Interest Interest
EURm % EURm %

Liabilities, banking and 
shareholders’ equity

Deposits by credit 
institutions 29,599 3.1 32,469 4.1

Deposits and other borrow-
ings from the public 91,548 2.9 81,867 3.5

Debt securities in issue 63,561 4.0 57,879 5.0
Subordinated liabilities 6,096 3.3 6,499 5.4
Other interest-bearing 

liabilities 12,062 2.6 8,699 2.0

Total interest-bearing 
liabilities 202,866 3.3 187,413 4.1

Non-interest-bearing 
liabilities 13,177 – 11,012 –

Total liabilities, banking 216,043 3.1 198,425 3.8

Shareholders’ equity 11,332 11,332

Total liabilities, 
banking and 
shareholders’ equity 227,375 2.9 209,757 3.6

Overall interest margin, % 1.7 1.8

Note 2:
Dividends received

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Shares and participations 36 49

Total 36 49

Note 3:
Net commission income

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Commission income
Payments 594 425
Lending 290 254
Deposits 131 101
Guarantees 82 79
Securities 645 765
Other commission income 164 131

Total commission income 1,906 1,755

Commission expenses
Payment transmission 163 154
Securities 76 76
Other commission expenses 94 72

Total commission expenses 333 302

Net commission income 1,573 1,453

The Nordea Group 

Notes to the financial statements
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Note 4:
Net result from financial operations

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Realised gains/losses
Shares/participations and other 

share-related instruments 26 17
Interest-bearing securities and other 

interest-related instruments –9 71

17 88
Unrealised gains/losses
Shares/participations and other 

share-related instruments –40 42
Interest-bearing securities and other 

interest-related instruments 42 35

2 77

Other 10 2
Foreign exchange gains/losses 224 182

Total 253 3491

1 Including gain of reclassification of financial fixed assets EUR 68m.

Note 5:
Other income

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Divestment of shares and participations 0 63
Divestment of real estate/shares 19 25
Income from real estate 69 74
Other 102 88

Total 190 250

Note 6:
Personnel expenses

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Salaries and remuneration 
(specification below) 1,540 1,408

Pension costs (specification below) 203 183
Social insurance contributions 242 223
Allocation to profit-sharing foundation – 30
Other personnel expenses 80 68

Total 2,065 1,912

Salaries and remuneration:
To Boards of Directors and senior executives 12 10
To other employees 1,528 1,398

Total 1,540 1,408

Pension costs:
Actuarial pension costs 26 23
Pension premiums 177 160

Total 203 183

Actuarial pension costs include an increment for special wage
tax. Actual tax paid is reported among appropriations, under
the item “Pension adjustments”.

The total pension costs for the year with regard to Board
members and Group Executive Management amounted to

EUR 3.5m. Total pension obligations regarding the above
amount to EUR 20.4m, of which EUR 7.2m is pertaining to the
previous and present CEO, EUR 8.0m to Group Executive
Management and EUR 5.2m to Board members.

Remuneration to Board of Directors
The Chairman of the Board up to the AGM 2002, Vesa Vainio,
received a fee of EUR 49,120. For working within the Nordea
Group Vesa Vainio received remuneration amounting to EUR
738,114. Moreover, he had a car benefit. In respect of his for-
mer function as CEO of Merita, there is a pension obligation.
Vesa Vainio is entitled to a pension amounting to 60% of the
pensionable salary for his lifetime.

Hans Dalborg, Vice Chairman up to the AGM 2002 and there-
after Chairman, received a fee of EUR 188,311.

In respect of his former function as CEO of Nordea he receives
a pension equal to 75% of his pensionable salary until the age
of 65 and thereafter a maximum of 65% of 180 base amounts
(in Sweden) and 32.5% of the remaining part of pensionable
salary.

Timo Peltola, Vice Chairman after the AGM 2002 received a
fee of EUR 73,018.

Remuneration to Group Executive Management
The salary terms for the Group CEO are proposed by the
Human Resources Committee and approved by the Board of
Directors. The Group CEO following consultation with the
Human Resources Committee determines the salary terms for
other members of Group Executive Management.

The Group CEO, Thorleif Krarup, up to 25 August 2002 was
paid a salary of EUR 741,245 of which EUR 98,485 was per-
formance-based salary pertaining to 2001. He also had car and
housing benefits. In respect of his former function as CEO of
Nordea, there is a pension obligation.

The Group CEO, Lars G Nordström, from 25 August 2002 was
paid a salary of EUR 236,722. He also had car and housing
benefits. Performance-based salary which is based on agreed,
specific targets can be a maximum of 35% of the basic salary.
Performance-based salaries for 2002 will be determined in
March 2003.

Salaries totalling EUR 3.4m, of which EUR 0.5m was perform-
ance-based salary pertaining to 2001, were paid to the other
members of Group Executive Management. Performance-
based salary which is based on agreed, specific targets, can be
a maximum of 35% of the basic salary. Performance-based
salaries for 2002 will be determined in March 2003. These
executives had car and, in some cases, housing benefits.

In accordance with their employment contracts, Finnish, Nor-
weigan and Swedish executives are entitled to six months’
salary during the notice period before termination, and with
regard to severance pay, this may not total more than 18
months’ salary and must be reduced by the salary amount
that the executive receives as a result of any other employ-
ment during those 18 months. For the Danish executives the
notice pay is 12 months and the severance pay is 12 months if
they are not employed in competing firms.

Finnish, Norwegian and Swedish executives are entitled to
retire with a pension at the age of 60 and Danish executives at
the age of 62. For Swedish members of Group Executive Man-
agement, including the Group CEO, a pension amounting to
70% of the pensionable income is paid up to age 65. Thereafter
the pension is paid in accordance with the occupational pen-
sion plan. The Finnish members of Group Executive Manage-
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ment receive 60% of their pensionable income for their life-
time. The Danish members of Group Executive Management
receive 50% of the salary for their lifetime and Norwegian
members of Group Executive Management receive 70% of the
salary for their lifetime. Fixed salary is the pensionable
income for all executives. For Finnish executives the perform-
ance-based salary is also included and for Swedish executives
performance-based salary is partly included.

Loans to Board and Group Executive Management
Loans to Group Executive Management and Board members
amounted to EUR 1.8m (EUR 1.7m) at the end of the year.

Synthetic Share Programme
In 2000 the Board decided to introduce an incentive pro-
gramme for around 300 members of the Group’s top manage-
ment.

In line with the overall equity market Nordea share price per-
formance has been weak and total shareholder return fell
short of the threshold level of +15% set in the synthetic share
programme. Therefore there will not be any pay-out based on
the programme.

Average number of employees in the Group
2002 2002

Full-time equivalents 2002 2001 Male Female

Denmark 11,551 12,305 5,491 6,060
Finland 10,474 10,761 1,964 8,510
Sweden 8,724 6,930 3,317 5,407
Norway 4,933 6,098 2,499 2,434
Poland 735 582 246 489
Luxembourg 291 290 191 100
Estonia 142 129 34 108
Latvia 117 106 45 72
United States 120 115 77 43
United Kingdom 99 116 65 34
Lithuania 49 47 19 30
Singapore 48 37 10 38
Germany 39 39 21 18

Total average 37,322 37,555 13,979 23,343

Of whom,
women 23,343 23,772
men 13,979 13,783

Of whom: outside Sweden 28,598 30,625

Total, end of period 37,562 42,017

Salaries and remuneration per country
Board of Directors Other 

and senior executives employees

Denmark 3 483
Finland 4 348
Sweden 4 368
Norway 0 231
Poland 0 11
Luxembourg 1 28
Estonia 0 4
Latvia 0 2
United States 0 24
United Kingdom 0 22
Lithuania 0 1
Singapore 0 3
Germany 0 3

Total 12 1,528

Note 7:
Other administrative expenses

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Information technology 1 463 378
Marketing 114 101
Postage and telephone 145 120
Other administrative expenses 2 312 323
Compensation to Sweden Post 35 39
Rents 198 167
Real estate expenses 80 118
Sundry expenses 134 95

Total 1,481 1,341

1 Refers to computer operations, service and maintenance expenses and consultant
fees. Total IT cost (excluding IT expenses in insurance operations) amounted to EUR
758m (EUR 709m).

2 Including fees and remuneration to auditors with distribution as follows.

EURm EURm
2002 2001

KPMG
Auditing assignments 3 2
Other assignments incl audit related services 3 2
PriceWaterhouseCoopers
Auditing assignments 1 1
Other assignments incl audit related services 0 1
Deloitte & Touche
Auditing assignments 1 0
Other assignments incl audit related services 1 1

Total 9 7

Note 8:
Depreciation and write-down of tangible and intangible
fixed assets

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Tangible fixed assets
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 147 140
Buildings 24 29

Intangible fixed assets
Group goodwill

Nordea Bank Danmark A/S 27 27
Nordea Bank Norge ASA 66 62
Postgirot Bank AB (publ) 23 2
Kansallisbank 13 13
LG Petro Bank S.A. 2 –
Insurance companies 28 32
Other group goodwill 15 11

Other intangible assets 16 7

Total depreciation 361 323

of which goodwill in insurance activities –28 –32
of which goodwill in profit from companies 

accounted for under the equity method –3 –1

Total 330 290
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Note 9:
Loan losses, net 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Lending
Write-downs 740 1,015
Recoveries –490 –653

Total 250 362

Specifications
Individually appraised receivables
Losses incurred during the year 515 532
Amount of previous provisions used 

during the year –439 –448
The year’s provisions for probable loan losses 613 845
Recovery of previously incurred losses –100 –108
Reversal of previous provisions –307 –489

The year’s costs for individually appraised 
receivables, net 282 332

Receivables appraised by category
Write-downs on losses incurred 19 17
Recovery of previously incurred losses –19 –15
Reversal/provision for probable loan losses –29 14

The year’s costs for receivables appraised 
by category, net –29 16

General reserve
Reversal/provision to general reserve 6 –

Country risks
Provision/reversal, country risk –10 12

Contingent liabilities
The year’s net cost for redemption of 

guarantees and other contingent liabilities 1 2

Total 250 362

Note 10:
Change in value of property taken over for 
protection of claims1

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Realised change in value
Property taken over –2 6
Other property taken over 3 5

1 11
Unrealised change in value
Property taken over 2 0
Other property taken over 8 0

10 0

Total 11 11
1 See also corresponding note 20.

Note 11:
Profit from companies accounted for under the equity
method

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Group undertakings 4 6
Associated undertakings 48 89

Total 52 95

Note 12:
Operating profit, insurance1

EURm EURm
2002 2001

General Insurance
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance 841 1,520
Technical interest 64 111
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance –698 –1,241
Insurance operating expenses, 

net of reinsurance –249 –395

Technical result –42 –5

Investment activities
Interest etc 70 134
Realised and unrealised investment gains –35 –18
Investment expenses –4 –9
Technical interest transferred to insurance 

activities –67 –120

Total profit on investment activities –36 –13

Profit before tax, General Insurance –78 –18

Life Insurance and pensions
Premiums written, net of reinsurance 2,359 2,511
Claims incurred and benefits paid and 

change in provisions –2,466 –3,238
Change in bonus equalisation provisions 786 1,053
Insurance operating expenses, 

net of reinsurance –157 –146
Net profit from health and personal 

accident insurance –10 0

Investment activities
Interest etc 750 849
Realised and unrealised investments gains –1,275 –1,132
Investment expenses –17 –19
Pension yield tax etc 32 105

Profit before tax, life insurance 
and pensions 2 –17

Operating profit before group 
adjustments –76 –35

Sale of General Insurance –44 –
Group adjustments (goodwill amortisation) –28 –32

Operating profit, insurance –148 –67
1 Excluding Nordea Life Assurance I Sweden AB (publ), see note 49.
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Note 13:
Pension adjustments 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Reversed actuarial pension costs –26 –23
Pension benefits paid 32 30
Allocations/compensation 231 –34
Special wage tax 44 –

Total 281 –27

Note 14:
Tax on profit for the year 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Current tax1 375 445
Deferred tax3 30 –85

Total2 405 360

1 Of which tax pertaining to prior years –47 –135
Associated undertakings. 9 31

2 The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the 
theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of 
Sweden as follows:
Profit before tax 1,292 1,928
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 28% (28%) 362 540
Effect of different rates in other countries 45 38
Tax-exempt income –32 –7
Non-deductible expenses 81 41
Adjustments relating to prior years –47 –135
Income tax due to previously not accounted tax assets –4 –117

Tax charge 405 360

3 Deferred tax

Deferred tax expense (+)/income (–)
Deferred tax expense due to temporary differences 34 32
Deferred tax income due to change of tax rate – –
Deferred tax income due to previously not accounted 
tax assets –4 –117

Tax on profit for the year, net 30 –85

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets due to loss carry-forward 8 83
Deferred tax assets due to intragroup profits 4 1
Other deferred tax assets due to temporary differences 261 326
Netting against tax liabilities –80 –77

Total (note 30, other assets) 193 333

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities in untaxed reserves 577 610
Other deferred tax liabilities due to temporary differences 24 162
Deferred tax liabilities due to unrealised gains 10 11
Netting against tax assets –80 –77

Total (note 39, provisions) 531 706

Deferred tax liabilities , net 338 373
Change during the year –35 –126
of which

Translation differences –7 –21
Acquisitions and others –6 –20
Sale of General Insurance –52 –
Tax on profit for the year 30 –85

Deferred tax concerning shares in subsidiaries has not been recorded while those
are not going to be sold/disposed.

Note 15:
Cash and balances at central banks 

Current assets
This item includes cash and balances at the central banks of
Denmark, Finland, Norway and Sweden available on
demand.

Note 16:
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Current assets
Eligible government securities 3,555 5,796
Other eligible securities 1,919 1,825

Financial fixed assets
Eligible government securities 40 273

Total 5,514 7,894

Maturity information
Remaining maturity (book value) 
Maximum 1 year 4,427 6,879
1–5 years 930 799
5–10 years 157 197
More than 10 years 0 19

Total 5,514 7,894

Average remaining maturity, years 0.8 0.5

Information on issuer category is provided in note 22.

Note 17:
Loans and advances to credit institutions 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Financial fixed assets1

Central bank 0 385
Other Swedish banks 2,509 2,337
Foreign banks 20,640 18,397
Other credit institutions 347 251

Total 23,496 21,370

Maturity information
Remaining maturity (book value)

Payable on demand 3,860 5,284
Maximum 3 months 18,520 5,012
3 months–1 year 110 7,276
1–5 years 57 3,640
More than 5 years 949 158

Total 23,496 21,370

Average remaining maturity, years 0.4 0.2

1 No provision for probable loan losses has been made related to these assets.



Nordea Annual Report 200244

Note 18:
Lending

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Financial fixed assets 145,740 137,570

Total 145,740 137,570

Financial leasing agreements, 
gross investments 3,577 4,661

Financial income not accrued 688 651

Maturity information
Remaining maturity (book value) 
Payable on demand 11,310 15,101
Maximum 3 months 45,420 33,963
3 months–1 year 13,239 11,569
1–5 years 37,320 40,025
More than 5 years 38,451 36,912

Total 145,740 137,570

Average remaining maturity, years 4.3 4.4

Loan portfolio EURm
Impaired

Total loans
31 December 2002 lending net Provisions

Companies 85,089 890 1,764
Personal customers 57,929 213 383
Public sector 2,722 4 6

Total 145,740 1,107 2,153

Impaired
Total loans

31 December 2001 lending net Provisions

Companies 84,088 655 1,866
Personal customers 50,716 200 393
Public sector 2,766 0 0

Total 137,570 855 2,259

Note 19:
Impaired loans

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Impaired loans, gross 3,260 3,114
Provisions for impaired loans –2,153 –2,259
where of

specific –1,698 –1,803
appraised by category –64 –92
general –391 –364

Impaired loans, net 1,107 855

Provisions/impaired loans, gross, % 66 73
Impaired loans, net/lending % 0.8 0.6
Reserves for country risks 130 155

Receivable covered by the country
risk reserve 1,583 2,140

Less reserve for country risks –101 –113

Net 1,482 2,027
Country risk reserve related to guarantees

reported as reserve (note 39) 29 42

Note 20:
Property taken over for protection of claims 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Current assets
Book value/market value
Shares and participations 26 35
Land and buildings (specified below) 2 13
Other 1 1

Total 29 49

Net return 
Land and buildings
Rental income 1 2
Operating expenses –1 –1

Operating net income 0 1

Percentage of average book value
Land and buildings 4 3
Shares and participations 0 0
Other 0 0

Note 21:
Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Current assets
Issued by public entities 6,151 5,536
Issued by other lenders 16,115 18,163

Financial fixed assets
Issued by public entities 0 72
Issued by other lenders 386 1,616

Total 22,652 25,387

Maturity information
Remaining maturity (book value)
Maximum 1 year 11,295 8,823
1–5 years 7,801 10,642
5–10 years 1,577 2,844
More than 10 years 1,979 3,078

Total including portfolio schemes 22,652 25,387

Average remaining maturity, years 3.1 3.9
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Issuer categories

Book value Fair value Amortised cost

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Current assets
Swedish government 1,633 1,374 1,636 1,374 1,621 1,374
Swedish municipalities 37 17 37 17 37 17
Swedish mortgage institutions 2,952 2,877 2,952 2,877 2,929 2,868
Other Swedish issuers
Non-financial companies 567 423 567 423 563 456
Financial companies 12 185 12 185 12 151
Foreign governments 3,156 9,958 3,159 9,958 3,117 9,958
Other foreign issuers 19,383 16,486 19,397 16,486 19,153 16,496

Total 27,740 31,320 27,760 31,320 27,432 31,320

Book value Fair value Amortised cost

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Financial fixed assets
Swedish government 230 243 230
Swedish municipalities 35 36 35
Swedish mortgage institutions 253 255 253
Other Swedish issuers
Non-financial companies 276 277 276
Financial companies 175 176 175
Foreign governments 40 992 40 1,040 40 992
Other foreign issuers 386 382 386

Total 426 1,961 422 2,027 426 1,961

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Current assets
Eligible government securities etc 9,706 11,332
Bonds and other securities 18,034 19,988

Total 27,740 31,320

Financial fixed assets
Eligible government securities etc 40 345
Bonds and other securities 386 1,616

Total 426 1,961

Total book value 28,166 33,281

Total face value 27,870 33,191

Face value is the settlement amount on the maturity date.

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Difference between book and face value:
Book value higher than face value 443 118
Book value lower than face value –147 –28

Net 296 90

Listed securities 26,048 31,276
Unlisted securities 2,118 2,005

Total 28 166 33 281

Maturity information
Remaining fixed-interest period (book value)
Maximum 1 year 15,722 15,702
1–5 years 8,731 11,441
5–10 years 1,734 3,041
More than 10 years 1,979 3,097

Total 28,166 33,281

Average remaining fixed-interest 
period, years 2.6 3.1

Note 22:
Total holdings of interest-bearing securities, notes 16 and 21
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Note 23:
Shares and participations 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Current assets
Trading portfolio 460 394
Shares taken over for protection of claims 26 35
Other shares 1 63 342

Fixed assets
Other shares and participations 1 47 53

Total 596 824

Listed shares 485 603
Unlisted shares 111 221

Total 596 824

1 For a specification, see page 55.

Note 24:
Investments, customers bearing the risk

Nordea Bank Danmark’s liabilities include customers’ port-
folio schemes, return of which correlates directly with the
assets financed by these portfolio schemes. Since the assets
legally belong to the bank, these assets and liabilities are
included in the Group’s  balance sheet. A breakdown is shown
below:

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Assets
Loans and advance to credit institutions 197 50
Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 1,651 1,619
Shares and participations 1,022 1,660
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 13 3
Other assets, banking 26 27

Total assets 2,909 3,359

Liabilities
Deposits 2,881 3,226
Other liabilities, banking 28 121
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 0 12

Total liabilities 2,909 3,359

Return to participants in portfolio schemes –472 –220

Note 25:
Shares in associated undertakings

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Fixed assets
Financial institutions 156 141
Other 371 317

Total 527 458

Of which, listed shares – –

For a specification, see page 55. See also note 50.

Note 26:
Shares in group undertakings 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Fixed assets
Shares, financial institutions – –
Other 11 20

Total 11 20

Of which, listed shares – –

For a specification, see page 56.

Note 27:
Intangible assets

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Group goodwill 1

Nordea Bank Danmark A/S 468 495
Nordea Bank Norge ASA 1,193 1,157
Postgirot Bank AB (publ) 202 226
Kansallisbank 38 50
LG Petro Bank, S.A. 62 –
Insurance companies 292 467
Other group goodwill 104 122

Group goodwill, total 2,359 2,517
Other 68 34

Total 2,427 2,551

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Group goodwill 1

Acquisition value at 1 January 2,738 2,624
Purchases during the year 63 235
Sale of General Insurance –172 –
Adjustment of goodwill purchased  

prior years3 – –114
Accumulated acquisition value for 

goodwill fully depreciated – –7
Depreciation according to plan for the year 2 –171 –147
Accumulated depreciation sold goodwill 23 –
Accumulated depreciation according to plan 

in prior years –278 –131
Translation differences 156 57

Planned residual value/book value 2,359 2,517

Other intangible assets, book value 4 68 34

Total 2,427 2,551

1 Excluding goodwill in associated undertakings. 14 20
2 Excluding depreciation from companies accounted 

for under the equity method. 3 1
3 Goodwill related to Nordea Bank Norge ASA has been adjusted by EUR –114m,

of which EUR –95m after the Norwegian Supreme Court in June 2001 pronounced
judgement in the tax treatment of preference capital the bank received in 1991.

4 Computer software licenses of EUR 36m has been recognised as assets during the
year.
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Note 28:
Tangible assets

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Current assets 3 14
Fixed assets 1,871 1,972

Total 1,874 1,986

Current assets
Taken over for protection of claims1

Land and buildings 2 13
Other 1 1

Total 3 14

1 See note 20 for Property taken over for protection of claims.

Fixed assets
Equipment
Acquisition value at 1 January 1,033 892
Purchases during the year 287 168
Divestments/disposals –226 –27
Depreciation according to plan for the year –147 –140
Accumulated depreciation of divested/

disposed equipment during the year 57 27
Accumulated depreciation according 

to plan in prior years –671 –558

Planned residual value/book value 333 362

Land and buildings
Acquisition value at 1 January 2,938 3,202
Purchases during the year 103 63
Divestments during the year –233 –327
Transfer between asset items 15 –
Depreciation according to plan for the year –24 –29
Accumulated depreciation of buildings sold 

during the year 67 103
Accumulated depreciation according to plan 

in prior years –497 –571
Accumulated write-downs in prior years –842 –842
Accumulated revaluations in prior years 11 11

Planned residual value/book value 1,538 1,610

Tax value on land and buildings,
Swedish properties 359 308

Note 29:
Prepaid expenses and accrued income

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Accrued interest income 1,567 1,737
Other accrued income 259 219
Prepaid expenses 46 46

Total 1,872 2,002

Note 30:
Other assets

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Derivatives
Interest rate 8,666 5,089
Foreign exchange 4,678 3,313
Other 237 116

Claims on securities settlement proceeds 987 466
Deferred tax (see note 14) 193 333
Tax 145 34
Other 937 2,098

Total 15,843 11,449

Note 31:
Balance sheet, insurance activities 1

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Assets
Intangible assets 0 0
Investments

Real estate holdings 1,932 2,253
Shares in group and associated 
undertakings 31 0
Shares 2,642 5,140
Interest-bearing financial instruments 12,839 11,872
Other 25 18

Investments, policyholders bearing the risk
Real estate holdings 125 –
Shares in group and associated 
undertakings 0 9
Shares 2,485 2,583
Interest-bearing financial instruments 197 257
Other 157 7

Receivables and bank balances 539 946
Other assets 562 555

Total assets 21,534 23,640

Shareholders’ equity, provisions 
and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 1,316 1,325
Minority interests 0 10
Subordinated loans 0 259
Technical provisions 16,872 18,453
Technical provisions, policyholders 

bearing the investment risk 2,963 2,856
Other liabilities 383 737

Total shareholders’ equity, provisions 
and liabilities 21,534 23,640

1 Excluding Nordea Life Assurance I Sweden AB (publ), see note 49.
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Note 32:
Assets pledged

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Assets pledged for own liabilities
Leasing agreements 231 236
Securities etc 7,541 10,572
Other pledged assets 2,170 31

Total 9,942 10,839

The above pledges pertain to the following 
liability items

Deposits by credit institutions 6,688 3,848
Deposits 92 1,376
Debt securities in issue 1,061 627
Other liabilities and commitments 32 609

Total 7,873 6,460

Note 33:
Deposits by credit institutions

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Central bank of Sweden 347 1,552
Other Swedish banks 779 771
Foreign banks 24,111 27,253
Other credit institutions 725 667

Total 25,962 30,243

Maturity information
Remaining maturity (book value)
Payable on demand 3,496 4,966
Maximum 3 months 15,894 20,155
3 months–1 year 6,212 4,604
1–5 years 112 242
More than 5 years 248 276

Total 25,962 30,243

Average remaining maturity, years 0.3 0.3

Note 34:
Deposits 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Total 91,663 86,396

Deposits are defined as funds in deposit accounts covered by
the government deposit guarantee but also including
amounts in excess of the individual amount limits. Individual
pension savings (IPS) are also included. Portfolio schemes in
Nordea Bank Danmark A/S of EUR 2,881m (EUR 3,226m) are
also included in Deposits (note 24).

Maturity information
Remaining maturity (book value)
Payable on demand 60,419 60,829
Maximum 3 months 22,155 18,989
3 months-1 year 3,118 3,908
1–5 years 1,232 805
More than 5 years 4,739 1,865

Total 91,663 86,396

Average remaining maturity, years 0.6 0.3

Note 35:
Other borrowings from the public

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Total 2,514 4,686

Maturity information
Remaining maturity (book value)
Payable on demand 4 65
Maximum 3 months 2,198 2,966
3 months-1 year 57 1,368
1–5 years 236 233
More than 5 years 19 54

Total 2,514 4,686

Average remaining maturity, years 0.3 0.2

Note 36:
Debt securities in issue

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Debt securities in issue
Certificates of deposit 21,779 25,170
Commercial papers 2,118 1,565
Bonds 37,961 34,440

Total 61,858 61,175

Maturity information
Remaining maturity (book value)
Payable on demand 369 –
Maximum 1 year 33,349 34,088
1–5 years 16,491 16,807
5–10 years 331 575
More than 10 years 11,318 9,705

Total 61,858 61,175

Average remaining maturity, years 5.1 4.6

Note 37:
Other liabilities 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Derivatives
Interest rate 8,935 5,315
Foreign exchange 5,536 2,717
Other 201 106

Liabilities on securities settlement proceeds 793 327
Sold, not held, securities 6,898 3,360
Customer withholding taxes 63 54
Postal and bank giro 146 160
Accounts payable 118 137
Tax liabilities 107 77
Other 3,333 3,454

Total 26,130 15,707
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Note 38:
Accrued expenses and prepaid income

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Accrued interest expenses 1,470 1,376
Other accrued expenses 357 436
Prepaid income 420 223

Total 2,247 2,035

Note 39:
Provisions

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Deferred tax liabilities (see note 14) 531 706
Reserve for restructuring costs 20 103
Country risks, guarantees (see note 19) 29 42
Pensions 315 297
Other 97 71

Total 992 1,219

Besides contributing to public pension plans, Nordea is gener-
ally carrying defined benefit pension schemes except for in
Denmark, where the schemes are classified as defined contri-
bution. Pension commitments for defined benefit plans are
mainly covered by assets in pension funds. Commitments in
excess of fund assets are recognised as liabilities in the balance
sheet. For Nordea Bank Norway accumulated differences
between actuarial assumptions and actual outcome amount-
ing to EUR 83m are not recognised as liabilities but are amor-
tised over the remaining service period of the employees.

Fund assets fair value
EURm 2002 2001

Pension funds 1,567 1,504
Of which, related to the parent company 9 4

Pension liabilities
EURm 2002 2001

Pension funds 1,521 1,374
Of which, related to the parent company 9 4

Note 40:
Subordinated liabilities 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Dated subordinated debenture loans 4,747 4,271
Undated subordinated debenture loans 1,003 876
Hybrid capital loans 378 780

Total 6,128 5,927

These debenture loans are subordinated to other liabilities.
Dated debenture loans entitle the lenders to payment before
undated subordinated loans and hybrid capital loans. Within
each respective category, the loans entitle lenders to equal
payment rights. Only one loan exceed 10% of outstanding vol-
ume. It was issued by Nordea Bank Sverige AB (publ) in 2002
and has the following conditions: Nominal value USD 800m,
maturity 2012-11-30, coupon 5.25%.

Note 41:
Shareholders’ equity 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Restricted
Share capital 1,183 1,182
Share premium account 4,284 4,271
Reserve for unrealised gains 1 26 29
Restricted reserves 563 569

Unrestricted
Unrestricted reserves 1,361 1,361
Retained profits 3,593 2,839
Net profit for the year 887 1,568

Total 11,897 11,819

1 Of which, pertaining to
Interest-bearing securities 78 42
Equity-related instruments –15 12
Currency-related instruments –29 –14
Allocations (deferred tax) –8 –11

Reserve for unrealised gains 26 29

Movements in shareholders’ equity, 2002

Restricted

Share
Share premium

capital account Other

Balance at beginning of year 1,182 4,271 598
Conversion of convertible 

loans 1 13
Change in reserve for un-

realised gains for the year –3
Transfers between restricted 

and retained profits –33
Currency translation 

adjustment for the year 27

Balance at year-end 1,183 4,284 589

Unrestricted

Retained Net Total
profits profit Share-

and other for holders’
reserves the year equity

Balance at beginning of year 5,768 – 11,819
Dividend –682 –682
Conversion of convertible 

loans 14
Own shares 1 –177 –177
Change in reserve for un-

realised gains for the year 3 –
Transfers between restricted 

and retained profits 33 –
Currency translation 

adjustment for the year 9 36
Net profit for the year 887 887

Balance at year-end 4,954 887 11,897

1 Including Nordea’s repurchase of own shares (see page 11) and change in shares
owned by (formerly) Unidanmark at the time of the merger. Total number of own
shares was 57,088,981 at year-end, whereof in trading portfolio 80,981 shares.



Nordea Annual Report 200250

Note 42:
Contingent liabilities

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Guarantees
Loan guarantees 2,192 4,207
Other guarantees 11,779 9,071

Documentary credits
Unutilised irrevocable import 

documentary credits and confirmed 
export documentary credits 1,543 1,286

Other contingent liabilities 62 131

Total 15,576 14,695

Note 43:
Commitments

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Future payment obligations 0 0
Other interest rate, equity and foreign 

exchange derivatives 1,105,141 871,086
Credit commitments 14,389 14,749
Unutilised portion of approved 

overdraft facilities 15,645 14,279
Other commitments 967 1,698

Total 1,136,142 901,812

Note 44:
Capital adequacy

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Capital base, after proposed
distribution of profits

Tier 1 capital 9,612 9,900
Supplementary capital 5,507 4,753
Less unconsolidated shareholdings and 

subordinated debenture holdings in 
other financial institutions –1,755 –2,300

Total capital base 1 13,364 12,353

Risk-weighted amount for credit
and market risks

Credit risks as specified below 125,881 129,498
Market risks as specified below 8,789 6,523

Total risk-weighted amount 134,670 136,021

Tier 1 capital ratio, % 7.1 7.3
Total capital ratio, % 9.9 9.1

1 See note 40; Hybrid capital loans are included in Tier 1 capital and supplementary
capital includes the undated subordinated loans and the dated subordinated loans
after deduction for short remaining maturities.

Change in share capital (Note 41, continued)

Nominal value Numbers of Nominal Total number Share capital
Date per share SEK of shares issued change SEKm of shares SEKm

17-dec-97 New issue 7.00 1,275,267,441 8,926.90 1,275,267,441 8,927
28-jan-00 Reduction –3,188.2

New issue 4.50 815,800,287 3,671.1 2,091,067,728 9,410 1

25-apr-00 Reduction –2,091.1
New issue 3.50 869,776,488 3,044.2 2,960,844,216 10,363

09-jun-00 New issue 3.50 18,348,501 64.2 2,979,192,717 10,427
29-aug-00 New issue 2 3.50 3,006,359 10.5 2,982,199,076 10,438
11-dec-00 New issue 2 3.50 59,764 0.2 2,982,258,840 10,438

EUR 4 EUR
10-jan-01 Conversion 3 0.40 2,982,258,840 EUR 1,182m 
20-feb-01 New issue 2 0.40 8,408 EUR 3,332.26 2,982,267,248 EUR 1,182m 5

15 May-01 New issue 2 0.40 2,401 EUR 951.56 2,982,269,649 EUR 1,182m 6

14-dec-01 New issue 2 0.40 396,441 EUR 157,117.49 2,982,666,090 EUR 1,182m 7

31 May-02 New issue 2 0.40 2,405,087 EUR 953,184.08 2,985,071,177 EUR 1,183m 8

25-sep-02 New issue 2 0.40 45,050 EUR 17,854.22 2,985,116,227 10 EUR 1,183m 9

1 Anticipated in Balance Sheet 31 Dec, registration 28 January 2000
2 Conversion of bonds
3 From SEK to EUR
4 0.39632 EURO
5 EUR 1,181,925,126.33 
6 EUR 1,181,926,077.89
7 EUR 1,182,083,195.38
8 EUR 1,183,036,379.46
9 EUR 1,183,054,233.68
10 Number of own shares owned by Nordea AB (publ) 57,008,000 excl. Trading portfolios.

On 1 September 2002 Nordea AB (publ) prematurely redeemed the outstanding convertible bond loan amounting to EUR
96,928,426.28.  Subsequently, the company has no outstanding convertible bond loans.
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Specification of risk-weighted amounts, credit risks

Items in the balance sheet

EURm, Risk
end of 2002 Reported weighted

A 0% 94,345 0
B 20% 15,990 3,198
C 50% 49,207 24,603
D 100% 84,651 84,651

Total 244,193 112,452

Off-balance-sheet items

EURm, Risk- Total  risk-
end of 2002 Nominal Adjusted weighted weighted

A 0% 17,090 2,600 0 0
B 20% 29,558 2,695 539 3,737
C 50% 3,889 501 250 24,853
D 100% 69,437 12,640 12,640 97,291

Total 119,974 18,436 13,429 125,881

Risk categories include:
A Claim on, or guarantee by a government/central bank

within the OECD or a Swedish local government. 
B Claim on, or guarantee by local governments or

banks/financial institutions within the OECD, as well as
short-term receivables from other banks/financial institu-
tions. 

C Claim backed by mortgages on residential property. 
D Other assets.

Specification of risk-weighted amounts, market risks

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Interest rate risks
Specific risks 4,911 3,030
General risks

Share price risks 594 1,113
Settlement risks 61 36
Counterparty risks 3,040 2,293
Exchange rate risks 101 51
Commodity risk 82 –

Total 8,789 6,523

Note 45:
Derivatives

Reported in the balance sheet

Total nom         Book value
amount Positive Negative

Interest rate derivatives
Interest rate swaps 421,938 7,065 7,189
FRAs 186,859 239 247
Interest rate futures 24,950 71 89
Options written 76,756 9 1,403
Options bought 82,956 1,282 7

Total 793,459 8,666 8,935

Equity derivatives
Futures and forwards 809 46 31
Options written 5,608 134 34
Options bought 5,263 57 136

Total 11,680 237 201

Currency related derivatives
Currency and interest 

rate swaps 38,324 760 939
Currency forwards 245,606 3,720 4,385
Options written 7,977 3 210
Options bought 8,095 195 2

Total 300,002 4,678 5,536

Total derivatives, EURm 1,105,141 13,581 14,672

Not reported in the balance sheet

Fair value
Positive Negative

Interest rate derivatives
Interest rate swaps 280 212
FRAs 0 0
Interest rate futures 0 0
Options written 0 2
Options bought 0 0

Total 280 214

Equity derivatives
Futures and forwards 0 0
Options written 31 61
Options bought 71 31

Total 102 92

Currency related derivatives
Currency and interest rate swaps 397 280
Currency forwards 77 351
Options written 0 0
Options bought 5 0

Total 479 631

Total derivatives, EURm 861 937

The majority of the Group’s derivative holdings are reported
in the balance sheet and adjusted to fair value with positive
fair value adjustments being reported as other assets and neg-
ative fair value adjustments as other liabilities. Gains and
losses are deferred for derivatives which are used for hedging.
Deferred gains and losses for derivatives not reported in the
balance sheet have offsetting differences between the fair
value and the book value for the respective items which are
recorded in the balance sheet.

The agreements between Nordea and its counter parties
decide whether a contract is affected by netting or not. There
are two major alternatives, firstly through standardised ISDA
agreements, or secondly bilateral agreements.
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Note 48:
Geographical distribution of operating income

Nordea’s operations focus on the Nordic and Baltic markets
and the operating income in its entirety is attributed to it.
Operations outside this area, which are entirely focused on
providing service to domestic customers, are conducted
through representative offices, agents and a network of corre-
spondent banks.

Note 47:
Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies

31 December 2002, EURbn EUR SEK DKK NOK USD Other Total

Assets
Loans and advances to credit institutions 2.0 8.6 6.8 1.7 4.3 0.1 23.5
Lending 37.2 42.0 30.5 21.3 9.3 5.4 145.7
Interest-bearing securities 7.3 7.9 8.8 2.4 1.2 0.4 28.0
Other assets 7.2 5.0 31.8 4.2 3.1 1.1 52.4

Total assets 53.7 63.5 77.9 29.6 17.9 7.0 249.6

Liabilities
Deposits by credit institutions 5.1 7.3 3.9 2.2 6.4 1.0 25.9
Deposits/Borrowings from the public 28.4 24.4 20.1 14.4 4.4 2.6 94.3
Debt securities in issue 14.6 13.1 15.9 3.6 17.7 3.1 68.0
Other liabilities and shareholders’ equity 13.4 10.7 33.2 2.0 2.0 0.1 61.4

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 61.5 55.5 73.1 22.2 30.5 6.8 249.6

Position not reported in the balance sheet 8.3 –8.0 –5.2 –7.4 12.6 –0.2 0

Net position, currencies 0.5 0.0 –0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0

Note 46:
Assets and liabilities at fair value

EURm

For adjustment
31 December 2002 Book value to fair value

Loans and advances to 
credit institutions 23,496 127

Lending 145,740 918
Interest-bearing instruments 28,166 16
Shares and participations 596 173
Investments, customers 

bearing the risk 2,909 –
Group and associated 

undertakings 538 –
Intangible assets 2,427 –
Tangible assets 1,874 5
Other assets, banking 22,339 –
Assets, insurance 21,534 10

Total assets 249,619 1,249

Deposits by credit institutions 25,962 291
Deposits and other borrowings 

from the public 94,177 124
Debt securities in issue 67,986 201
Other liabilities, banking 29,379 210
Liabilities, insurance 20,218 10

Total liabilities 237,722 836

Derivatives, net 0 –75

Net adjustment to fair value 338

In the balance sheet, financial positions are valued at fair
value, with three exceptions: securities classified as financial
fixed assets, instruments included in hedge accounting and
capital investment shares. The summary above shows the
book value and adjustment to fair value at 31 December 2002.
In revaluation of lending, deposits and borrowing, adjust-
ment is made for the value of the fixed interest term, that is the
change in value as a result of changes in the market interest
rate. The discount rates used are based on the market rate for
each term. Securities are revalued at the market price or esti-
mated market price. Properties are valued at estimated mar-
ket price. By applying the above valuation method, the gross
effects of applying hedge accounting and revaluation of finan-
cial fixed assets are shown. The reported net adjustment does
not include the surplus value in pension funds. 

It should be noted that the calculation is not a market valua-
tion of Nordea.
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Note 49:
Unconsolidated Group undertaking 

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Nordea Life Assurance I Sweden AB (publ)
Income statement
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance 132 154
Claims incurred and benefits paid and 

change in provisions –155 –191
Change in bonus equalisation provisions 201 132
Insurance operating expenses, 

net of reinsurance –10 –13

168 82

Investment activities
Interest etc 52 78
Realised and unrealised investment gains –206 –146
Investment expenses –2 –1
Pension yield tax etc –12 –13

Total profit on investment activities –168 –82

Profit before tax 0 0

Tax – –

Net profit for the year 0 0

Balance sheet
Assets
Intangible assets
Investments

Real estate holdings 97 108
Shares 4 538
Interest-bearing financial instruments 1,199 920

Investments, policyholders bearing the risk – –
Receivables and bank balances 273 49
Other assets 39 31

Total assets 1,612 1,646

Shareholders’ equity, provisions 
and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 31 9
Subordinated loans 33 0
Technical provisions 1,536 1,608
Other liabilities 12 29

Total shareholders’ equity, provisions 
and liabilities 1,612 1,646

Average number of employees 48 41

Notes:
Nordea Life Assurance I Sweden AB (publ) is an unconsolidated undertaking because
it operates as a mutual insurance company. In accordance with the Insurance Opera-
tions Act, profits may not be distributed to the shareholders in a life insurance com-
pany. The earnings that arise must be distributed in their entirety to policyholders in the
form of bonus funds.

Note 50:
Nordisk Renting AB (publ)

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Nordisk Renting AB (publ)
Income statement
Net sales 161 140
Property expenses incl depreciation –54 –49

Gross profit 107 91

Other costs –7 –6
Result from participations in 

associated companies 5 2
Profit from sales of properties and 

other investments 14 19
Other income 0 1

Operating profit 119 107

Interest income 1 0
Interest expenses –72 –55

Profit before tax 48 52

Tax –10 –10

Net profit for the year 38 42

Balance sheet
Assets
Tangible fixed assets 0 0
Financial fixed assets 184 132
Investment property 1,591 1,478
Receivables and cash balances 62 29
Other assets 14 24

Total assets 1,851 1,663

Shareholders’ equity, provisions 
and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 206 178
Minority interest 20 16
Provisions 65 59
Long-term liabilities 1,483 1,352
Short-term liabilities 77 58

Total shareholders’ equity, 
provisions and liabilities 1,851 1,663

Average number of employees 32 31

Notes:
Nordisk Renting AB (publ) is from year 2003 a wholly owned company to Nordea AB
(publ), at year end 2002 Nordea AB owned 40%. It is consolidated according to the
equity method due to the temporary holding in the company.



Note 51:
The Nordea share

Share data
2002 2001 2000 1999

Share price SEK 38.40 SEK 55.50 SEK 71.50 SEK 50.00
High/Low 63.50 / 30.20 79.00 / 45.80 76.00 / 41.80 61.00 / 42.30
Mkt.Cap EUR 12.6bn EUR 17.7bn EUR 24.1bn EUR 12.2bn
Dividend EUR 0.231 EUR 0.23 SEK 2.00 SEK 1.75
TSR3 –28.1% –19.8% 46.5% –0.5%
DJ STOXX European banks index –26.7% –10.0% 10.2% 17.2%
P/E (actual) 14 11 14 11
Price-to-book 1.03 1.49 2.16 1.70
Equity per share EUR 4.06 EUR 4.00 EUR 3.74 EUR 2.68
Earnings per share EUR 0.30 EUR 0.53 EUR 0.58 EUR 0.55
Outstanding shares2 2,928,108,227 2,965,666,090 2,982,258,840 2,091,067,728

1 Proposed
2 Excluding own shares
3 See Business definitions page 65

Largest registered1 shareholders in Nordea AB (publ), End of 2002
Share capital

No of shares and votes, %

Swedish state 542,015,102 18.5
Alecta 118,394,426 4.0
Nordea Danmark fonden 102,529,423 3.5
Tryg i Danmark smba 92,609,801 3.2
Robur fonder 87,821,555 3.0
Nordea fonder 60,962,264 2.1
Fjärde AP-Fonden 52,386,590 1.8
SHB/SPP fonder 44,231,416 1.5
AMF Pension 42,805,000 1.5
SEB fonder 41,808,901 1.4
Skandia 36,261,553 1.2
Tredje AP-fonden 33,006,127 1.1
Första AP-fonden 31,047,577 1.1
Andra AP-fonden 30,713,636 1.1
Nordea Bank Sverige vinstandelsstiftelse 18,104,300 0.6
Solidium Oy (Finnish state) 12,474,666 0.4
Länsförsäkringar fonder 11,077,942 0.4
Öms Livförsäkringsbolaget Suomi 10,000,001 0.3
Merita Ab:s Pensionsstiftelse 8,938,708 0.3
Skandia Carlson fonder 8,826,549 0.3
Other 1,542,092,690 52.7

Totel number of shares 2,928,108,227 100.0

Source: Sweden’s and Finland’s securities centres, SIS Ägarservice and Nordea Bank Denmark's register of shareholders

1 Excl nominee accounts.

Distribution of shares, end of 2002

Number of shares Number of shareholders Shareholders, % Number of shares Number of shares %

1–1,000 424,911 83.31% 134,691,243 4.60%
1,001–10,000 80,147 15.71% 192,537,928 6.58%
10,001–100,000 4,153 0.81% 102,627,695 3.50%
100,001–1,000,000 592 0.12% 195,701,342 6.68%
1,000,001– 240 0.05% 2,302,550,019 78.64%

Total 510,043 100.00% 2,928,108,227 100.00%

Nordea Annual Report 200254
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The Nordea Group 

Specifications to the Notes

Specification to Note 23:
Shares and participations 

EURm

Voting
Book Market power of

31 December 2002 value value holding %

Current assets
Other shares

OM AB (publ) 13 13 3.4
Sato-Yhtymä Oy 9 9 9.6
Other, listed 4 4 –
Other, unlisted 37 37 –

Total 63 63

Fixed assets
Other shares and participations

HEX Oy 5 5 11.15
Spontant Oy 2 2 19.90
Other, unlisted 40 40 –

Total 47 47

Specification to Note 25:
Shares in associated undertakings 

EURm Voting
Book power of

31 December 2002 Domicile value holding %

Credit institutions
Eksportfinans AS Norway 83 23
International Moscow Bank Russia 34 22
Luottokunta Finland 28 27
Eurocard  Oy Finland 2 31
Visa Norge AS Norway 1 20
LRF Kredit Denmark 8 39

Total 156

Other
Nordisk Renting AB (publ)1 Sweden 86 40
Oy Realinvest AB Finland 58 49
Dividum Oy Finland 68 47
VPC AB Sweden 24 25
Investeringsselskabet 

af 23. Marts 2001 Denmark 38 50
PBS Holding A/S Denmark 17 28
Axcel IKU Invest A/S Denmark 12 33
Optiomi Oy Finland 10 25
Automatia Pankki-

automaatit Oy Finland 7 33
Bankgirocentralen BGC AB Sweden 3 27
Suomen Asiakastieto Oy Finland 5 32
Other 43

Total 371

Total 527

1 The remaining 60% of the shares in Nordisk Renting AB (publ) were acquired in
January 2003.

The statutory information is available on request from Nordea
Investor Relations.



Nordea Annual Report 200256

Specification to Note 26:
Shares in group undertakings 

This specification includes major group undertakings. The full specification and statutory information are available on request
from Nordea Investor Relations.

Registration Book value Equity 1 Voting power
31 December 2002 Domicile number EURm EURm of holding %

Nordea Bank Finland Plc Helsinki 1680235-8 10,930 100.0
Nordea Bank Danmark A/S Copenhagen 13522197 2,487 100.0

Nordea Finans Danmark A/S Copenhagen 89805910 100.0
Nordea Kredit Realkreditaktieselskab Copenhagen 15134275 100.0

Nordea Bank Norge ASA Oslo 911044110 2,404 100.0
Norgeskreditt AS Oslo 971227222 100.0
Nordea Finans Norge AS Oslo 924507500 100.0
Christiania Forsikring AS Oslo 941219349 100.0

Nordea Bank Sverige AB (publ) Stockholm 502010-5523   2,538 100.0
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ) Stockholm 556091-5448 100.0
Nordea Finans Sverige AB (publ) Stockholm 556021-1475 100.0
Nordea Bank Polska S.A. Gdynia KRS0000021828 97.01
LG Petro Bank S.A. Lodz KRS0000034465 99.70

Nordea Finance Finland Ltd Espoo 0112305-3 100.0

Nordea Asset Management AB Stockholm 556216-3435 317 100.0
Nordea Fonder AB Stockholm 556020-4694 100.0

Nordea Fonder Alfa AB Stockholm 556243-0438 100.0
Nordea Fonder Beta AB Stockholm 556243-0446 100.0

Nordea Investment Management Sweden AB Stockholm 556060-2301 100.0
Nordea Asset Management Holding Danmark A/S Copenhagen 25827074 100.0
Nordea Bank S.A. Luxembourg NOB14157 100.0
Nordea Pension Services AS Oslo 950842393 100.0
Nordea Fondene Norge Holding AS Oslo 984042779 100.0
Nordea Investment Management Norge Holding AS Oslo 984042876 100.0
Nordea Investment Holding Ab Helsinki 1737786-7 100.0
Nordea FM Holding Ab Helsinki 1737785-9 100.0
Nordea Ejendomsinvestering Copenhagen 26640172 100.0

Nordea Securities AB Stockholm 556216-6214 143 100.0
Nordea IB Holding Danmark A/S Copenhagen 25827023 100.0
Nordea Securities Holding Oyj Helsinki 0676271-9 100.0

Nordea Life Holding A/S Ballerup 25762274 799 100.0
Nordea Pension Danmark Livforsikringsselskab A/S Ballerup 24260577 100.0
Nordea Pension Danmark Livforsikringsselskab II A/S Ballerup 16452742
Nordea Link Danmark invest.livfors.selskab A/S Ballerup 15319615 100.0
Livforsikringsselskapet Nordea Liv Norge AS Oslo 959922659 100.0
Fondsforsikringsselskapet Nordea Liv AS Oslo 981 547 195 100.0
Nordea Livförsäkring I Sverige AB (publ) 2 Stockholm 516401-8508 100.0
Nordea Livförsäkring II Sverige AB (publ) Stockholm 516401-6759 100.0

Nordea Life Holding Finland Ab
Nordea Livförsäkring Finland Ltd Helsinki 1737788-3 148 100.0

Nordea Fastigheter AB Stockholm 556021-4917 80 100.0

Shares in group undertakings
Huoneistokeskus Oy 3 Helsinki 0109040-7 8 100.0
Fidenta 3 Espoo 0988412-1 2 100.0
Others 1

Total 11
1 Shareholders’ equity after dividend (group).
2 Unconsolidated group undertaking, see note 49.
3 Consolidated according to equity method.
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Nordea AB (publ)

Board of Directors’ report 2002

Nordea AB (publ) is the parent company of the Nordea Group. 
Company registration number: 556547-0977. 
The registered office of the company is in Stockholm with branches
in Copenhagen, Helsinki and Oslo.

Legal restructuring
The demerger of Nordea Bank Finland Plc on 2 January 2002
resulted in the creation of five new companies directly owned
by Nordea AB (publ): Nordea Bank Finland Plc (after adopt-
ing the name of the demerged bank), Nordea Securities Hold-
ing Oy, Nordea IM Holding Ltd, Nordea FM Holding Ltd and
Nordea Life Holding Finland Ltd. 

By new share issues in kind on 15–16 January 2002 Nordea
Securities AB acquired Nordea Securities Holding Oy,
whereas Nordea Asset Management AB acquired Nordea IM
Holding Ltd and Nordea FM Holding Ltd.

On 16 October 2002, Nordea AB (publ) bought Nordea
Fastigheter AB from Nordea Bank Sverige AB (publ).   

Thus, the parent company had the following wholly-owned
subsidiaries by year-end 2002:

Nordea Bank Finland Plc
Nordea Asset Management AB
Nordea Securities AB
Nordea Life Holding A/S
Nordea Life Holding Finland Ltd
Nordea Fastigheter AB
and
Nordic Baltic Holding (NBH) AB (an inactive company for
name protection).

Earnings and financial position
The net profit of the parent company for the year amounted to
EUR 617m compared to EUR 1,644m in 2001. The company’s
equity capital amounted to EUR 9,511m (EUR 9,727m) at year-
end 2002.

Personnel
The number of employees in the parent company, including
its branches, increased substantially during 2002.

Average number of employees

Full-time equivalents 2002 2001

Denmark 28 4
Finland 32 14
Norway 7 –
Sweden 57 14

Total average 124 32

Of whom, women 48 12
men 76 20

Total end of period 142 95

Share capital and number of shares
The share capital of Nordea at year-end 2002 amounted to
EUR 1,183,054,233.68 represented by 2,985,116,227 shares,
each of a nominal value of EUR 0.39632.

All shares carry equal rights to the company’s assets and prof-
its. Each shareholder eligible to vote at a General Meeting of
Shareholders may vote the full number of shares held without
restrictions. It should be noted that Nordea AB (publ) is not
entitled to vote for own shares at General Meetings. There are
no known shareholder agreements.

Repurchase of own shares
Following the authorisation from the Annual General Meet-
ing on 24 April 2002, the Board of Directors decided on 19
June 2002 that Nordea AB (publ) should repurchase a maxi-
mum of 150 million of its own shares. The purpose of the
acquisition was to redistribute funds to the company’s share-
holders and in this way contribute to more efficient utilisation
of Nordea’s resources.

Thus, during the period 23 August – 18 September 2002,
40,008,000 shares were repurchased, the average price being
SEK 43.50.

In April 2001, Nordea AB (publ) repurchased 17,000,000 of its
own shares for the purpose of achieving a hedge regarding
the company’s incentive programme. This repurchase of
shares followed a separate resolution by the Board of Direc-
tors and does not form part of the current repurchase pro-
gramme.

The total holding in Nordea AB (publ) of own shares is
57,008,000 by year-end 2002. 

Shareholders and share data
Information about the Nordea share is found in Note 51 in the
consolidated financial statements.

Convertible bonds
In 1999, Nordea AB (publ) issued a convertible bond loan.
According to the terms of the loan, the issuer retained the
right to redeem the outstanding loan in full or in part as of
17 August 2002 and at any time thereafter at 30 days’ notice.
On 1 September 2002 the company redeemed the outstanding
loan in full (EUR 96,928,426.28). Subsequently, Nordea AB
(publ) has no convertible bond loans. 
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EURm EURm
Note 2002 2001

Operating income 3 15 2

Operating expenses
Personnel expenses 2 –29 –14
Depreciation 0 –
Other operating expenses 3, 4 –53 –36

Operating loss –67 –48

Net result from financial operations
Dividend income, received 3 – 400
Dividend income, anticipated 3 903 1,000
Group contributions 289 412
Interest income 3 40 22
Write-down of financial fixed assets –370 –
Interest expenses 3 –47 –24
Commission expenses 3 –1 –3
Other financial items –27 14

Profit after financial operations 720 1,773

Allocation to profit equalisation reserve –60 –67
Pension adjustments –3 0

Profit before tax 657 1,706

Tax for the year 5 –40 –62

Net profit for the year 617 1,644

Nordea AB (publ)

Income statement
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EURm EURm
Note 31 Dec 2002 31 Dec 2001

Assets
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 0 –

Financial fixed assets
Shares in subsidiaries 6 9,087 9,307
Long-term receivables 7 851 183

Total fixed assets 9,938 9,490

Current assets 7
Short-term receivables 1,380 1,420
Bank deposits 57 430

Total current assets 1,437 1,850

Total assets 11,375 11,340

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity 9

Restricted shareholders’ equity
Share capital 1,183 1,182
Share premium account 4,284 4,271

Unrestricted shareholders’ equity
Unrestricted reserves 1,362 1,361
Retained profits 2,065 1,269
Net profit for the year 617 1,644

Total shareholders’ equity 9,511 9,727

Untaxed reserves
Profit equalisation reserve 128 67

Provisions
Pensions 8 11 8

Liabilities
Subordinated liabilities 10 – 111
Other liabilities 11 1,725 1,427

Total liabilities 1,725 1,538

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 11,375 11,340

Memorandum items
Bank deposit in restricted account. 0 1

Nordea AB (publ)

Balance sheet
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EURm EURm
2002 20011

Ordinary business
Profit after financial operations 720 1,773
Adjustment for items not included in cash flow 548 –1,397
Adjustment included in cash flow for investment operations 2 –1,388 –1,812
Income taxes paid –50 2

Cash flow from ordinary business before changes in ordinary 
business assets and liabilities –170 –1,434

Change in ordinary business assets and liabilities (net) –146 1,431

Cash flow from ordinary business –316 –3

Cash flow from investment operations 408 131
Cash flow from financial operations –465 273

Cash flow for the year –373 401

Liquid assets at the beginning of the year 430 29
Liquid assets at the end of the year 57 430

1 Due to a minor change of the calculations pertaining to 2002, corresponding adjustments have been made for 2001.
2 Cash flow from group contributions and received dividends have been considered as linked to the investment operations.

Additional information

Liquid assets include bank deposits 
(excluding funds in restricted accounts) 31 Dec 2002 31 Dec 2001

57 430

Bank deposits in restricted accounts 31 Dec 2002 31 Dec 2001

0 1

Interest and dividend payments 2002 2001

Interest received 30 21
Interest paid –54 –13

Dividends received 1,412 1,812
Dividends paid –682 –675

Nordea AB (publ)

Cash flow statement

Significant transactions that did not entail payments

In 2002 anticipated dividends totalling EUR 903m have been
recorded.

Received group contributions accounted for in 2002 were
EUR 359m (of which EUR 289m in the income statement),
whereas group contributions to be paid amounted to EUR
35m.

The legal restructuring of the Group in mid-January 2002
resulted in new issues in kind to the parent company. The net
effect of these transactions on the book value of the shares was
zero, however.

Shares in group undertakings Nordea Life Holding A/S have
been written down by EUR 370m, matching exactly dividends
to be paid to the parent company by the subsidiary.

None of these transactions had any impact on the company’s
cash flow in 2002.

For transactions in 2001 entailing no payments, see last year’s
annual report.

Significant capital contributions and acquisitions

No capital contributions were made by the parent company
in 2002.

One major internal acquisition of a subsidiary took place in
2002 in the course of the restructuring process. Thus, the par-
ent company acquired Nordea Fastigheter AB (EUR 99m). 

For significant capital contributions and acquisitions in 2001,
see last year’s annual report.
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Note 1:
Accounting principles

The financial statements for the year have been prepared in
accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the
recommendations of the Swedish Financial Standards
Council. For further information regarding accounting
principles see page 35 ff.

Note 2:
Personnel expenses

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Salaries and remuneration 
(specification below) 20 6

Pension costs (specification below) 5 7
Social insurance contributions 3 1
Allocations to profit-sharing foundations 0 0
Other personnel expenses 1 0

Total 29 14

Salaries and remuneration:
To Board of Directors and CEO 3 1
To other employees 17 5

Total 20 6

Pension costs:
Actuarial pension costs 0 0
Pension premiums 5 7

Total 5 7

For complete information about remuneration and commit-
ments pertaining to severance payments, pensions or similar
compensation to the Group CEO and members of the Board of
Directors, see Note 6 in the consolidated financial statements.

There are no loans outstanding to the Group CEO or members
of the Board of Directors.

Note 3:
Intra-group transactions

In 2002, operating income, interest income, interest expenses,
commission expenses and received group contributions and
dividend pertained to transactions with group companies,
with the exception of interest expenses pertaining to the
redeemed convertible loan and pension commitments
EUR 4m (EUR 7m).

Interest income on the tax account amounted to EUR 0m
(EUR 0.1m). When it comes to operating expenses EUR 9m
(EUR 1m) consisted of intra-group transactions.

Note 4:
Auditing expenses

During the financial year 2002, remuneration, considering
provisions, to the company’s auditors amounted to EUR 0.4m
(EUR 0.3m) and for other assignments EUR 0.4m (EUR 0.4m).
This amount also includes expenses for the auditor appointed
by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority. For addi-
tional information see Note 7 in the consolidated financial
statements.

Note 5:
Tax on profit for the year and deferred tax1

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Tax on profit for the year
Income tax –41 –63
Deferred tax 1 1 1

Total –40 –62

Effective tax
Profit before tax 657 1,706
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 28% 184 477
Tax effect of:
Income not subject to tax –253 –392
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 109 2
Loss carry-forward according to tax return – –24
Group contributions accounted for in 

shareholders’ equity 10 –6

Net tax charge 50 57

1 Deferred tax asset due to temporary differences.

Nordea AB (publ)

Notes to the financial statements
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Note 6:
Shares

Number
31 December 2002 of shares Book value Voting rights, %

Nordea Bank Finland Plc 1,030,800,000 5,960 100
Nordea Asset Management AB 21,000 1,441 100
Nordea Securities AB 1,000,000 143 100
Nordea Life Holding A/S 2,600,000 1,343 100
Nordea Fastigheter AB 3,380,000 99 100
Nordea Life Holding Finland Ltd 24,480 101 100
Nordic Baltic Holding (NBH) AB 1,000 0 100

Total 9,087

Company Registered Registration number

Nordea Bank Finland Plc Helsinki 1680235-8
Nordea Asset Management AB Stockholm 556216-3435
Nordea Securities AB Stockholm 556216-6214
Nordea Life Holding A/S Ballerup 25762274
Nordea Fastigheter AB Stockholm 556021-4917
Nordea Life Holding Finland Ltd Espoo 1737788-3
Nordic Baltic Holding (NBH) AB Stockholm 556592-7950

EURm
2002

Opening balance 9,307
Acquisitions 99
Write-down of financial fixed assets –370
Other 51

Closing balance 9,087

Note 7:
Receivables

EURm EURm
2002 2001

Financial fixed assets
Debenture loan

Nordea Bank Finland Plc 800 132
Nordea Bank SA Luxembourg 51 51

Current assets
Short-term receivables with group 

undertakings 1,338 1,844
Tax receivable 2 1
Other current receivables 81 1
Prepaid expenses and accrued interest 16 4

Total 2,288 2,033

Note 8:
Provisions

In addition to the reported liability of EUR 11m, Nordea AB
(publ) has EUR 9m fully covered by the Nordea Bank Sverige
Pension Foundation. 

Note 9:
Movements in shareholders’ equity

Share Unre-
Share premium stricted

EURm capital 1 account equity Total

At beginning of year 1,182 4,271 4,274 9,727
Repurchase of own 

shares –190 –190
New issues, 

conversion of 
convertible bonds 1 13 14

Group contribution, net 2 25 25
Dividend –682 –682
Net profit for the year 617 617

At end of year 1,183 4,284 4,044 9,511

1 The company’s share capital on 31 December 2002 was EUR 1,183,054,233.68
(2,985,116,227 shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.39632). On 31 December
2002, Nordea AB (publ) had repurchased 57,008,000 own shares.

2 Including adjustment for tax.
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According to the company’s balance sheet, the
following amount is available for distribution by
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders:

EUR

Unrestricted reserves 1,361,758,541.94
Retained profit 2,065,408,647.23
Net profit for the year 617,431,155.45

Total 4,044,598,344.62

The Board of Directors and the CEO propose that
these earnings be distributed as follows:

EUR

Dividends paid to shareholders, 
EUR 0.23 per share 673,464,892.21
To be carried forward 3,371,133,452.41

Total 4,044,598,344.62

Proposed distribution of earnings

The Group’s distributable earnings amount to EUR 5,841m. After the proposed distribution of earnings,
the Group’s unrestricted shareholders’ equity will amount to EUR 5,168m.

27 February 2003

Hans Dalborg
Chairman

Kjell Aamot Dan Andersson Edward Andersson

Harald Arnkværn Bertel Finskas Lene Haulrik

Claus Høeg Madsen Bernt Magnusson Jørgen Høeg Pedersen

Timo Peltola Kaija Roukala-Hyvärinen Maija Torkko

Lars G Nordström
Group CEO

Note 10:
Subordinated liabilities

EURm EURm
31 December 2002 2001

Convertible bond loan – 111

On 1 September 2002, Nordea AB (publ) redeemed the out-
standing loan in full, in accordance with the terms of the loan.

Note 11:
Other liabilities

EURm EURm
31 December 2002 2001

Long-term liabilities 0 0
Current liabilities to group undertakings 1,649 1,345
Other current liabilities 65 64
Accrued expenses 11 18

Total 1,725 1,427
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We have audited the annual accounts, the consol-
idated accounts, the accounting records and the
administration of the board of directors and the
managing director of Nordea AB (publ) for the
year 2002. These accounts and the administration
of the company are the responsibility of the board
of directors and the managing director. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the
annual accounts, the consolidated accounts and
the administration based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with gen-
erally accepted auditing standards in Sweden.
Those standards require that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
that the annual accounts and the consolidated
accounts are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evi-
dence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the accounts. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and their application
by the board of directors and the managing direc-
tor, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of information in the annual accounts and the
consolidated accounts. As a basis for our opinion
concerning discharge from liability, we examined
significant decisions, actions taken and circum-
stances of the company in order to be able to
determine the liability, if any, to the company of

any board member or the managing director. We
also examined whether any board member or the
managing director has, in any other way, acted in
contravention of the Companies Act, Banking
Business Act, the Annual Accounts Act, the
Annual Accounts Act of Credit Institutions and
Securities Companies or the Articles of Associa-
tion. We believe that our audit provides a reason-
able basis of our opinion set out below.

The annual accounts and the consolidated
accounts have been prepared in accordance with
the Annual Accounts Act and the Annual
Accounts Act of Credit Institutions and Securities
Companies and, thereby, give a true and fair view
of the company’s and the group’s financial posi-
tion and results of operations in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in Swe-
den.

We recommend to the general meeting of share-
holders that the income statements and balance
sheets of the parent company and the group be
adopted, that the profit for the parent company
be dealt with in accordance with the proposal in
the administration report and that the members
of the board of directors and the managing direc-
tor be discharged from liability for the financial
year.

Audit Report

Stockholm, 27 February 2003

KPMG Olle Gunnarsson 
Caj Nackstad Authorized

Authorized Public Accountant
Public Accountant (Appointed by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority)

To the general meeting of the shareholders of Nordea AB (publ)
Corporate identity number 556547-0977
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These definitions apply to the descriptions in the
Annual Report, including the pro forma informa-
tion.

Capital base 
The capital base includes the sum of tier 1 capital
and supplementary capital consisting of subordi-
nated loans, after deduction of the book value of
shares in wholly owned insurance companies.
Insurance companies have separate capital
requirements.

Tier 1 capital 
That portion of the capital base, which includes
consolidated shareholders’ equity excluding
insurance companies, the percentage of equity in
untaxed reserves, reduced by goodwill from non-
insurance companies. Subsequent to the approval
of the supervisory authorities, tier 1 capital also
includes qualified forms of subordinated loans
(tier 1 capital contributions and hybrid capital
loans).

Risk-weighted amounts 
Total assets and off-balance-sheet items, exclud-
ing assets in insurance companies or shares
deducted from the capital base, valued on the
basis of credit and market risks in accordance
with regulations governing capital adequacy.

Tier 1 capital ratio 
Tier 1 capital as a percentage of risk-weighted
amounts.

Total capital ratio 
Capital base as a percentage of risk-weighted
amounts.

Return on equity 
Net profit before minority interests and goodwill
depreciation as a percentage of average share-
holders’ equity (per quarter). Average share-
holders’ equity includes minority interests and
excludes remaining goodwill.

Total shareholders’ return (TSR)
Total shareholder return measured as growth in
the value of a shareholding over a specified
period, assuming that dividends are re-invested
at the time of payment to purchase additional
shares.

Loan losses as percentage of total loans
Loan losses, net (incl. losses on guarantees and
transfer risk) as a percentage of total loans and
guarantees as of previous year-end.

Abbreviation Definition
AGM Annual General Meeting
CPI Consumer Price Index
CRU Customer Responsible Units
ECB European Central Bank
EGM Extraordinary General Meeting
EIU Economist Intelligence Unit
EMU European Monetary Union
GDP Gross Domestic Product
IPS Individual Pension Savings
IRT Investment and Risk Trading
M&A Mergers & Acquisitions
OTC Over-the-counter
PRU Product Responsible Units
TSR Total Shareholder Return

Earnings per share 
Net profit divided by the number of outstanding
shares after full dilution. 

Shareholders’ equity per share 
Shareholders’ equity as shown in the balance
sheet including capital increase after full dilution
divided by the number of shares after full dilu-
tion.

Cost/income ratio, banking 
Operating expenses before loan losses and good-
will as a percentage of operating income and
share of profit/loss from companies accounted
for under the equity method as well as invest-
ment earnings (banking), as reported in the oper-
ational income statement. Operating profit from
insurance activities are excluded.

Exchange rates applied

EUR 1 = SEK 2002 2001

Income statement (average) 9.1381 9.2684
Balance sheet (at end of period) 9.1528 9.3012

EUR 1 = DKK

Income statement (average) 7.4301 7.4515
Balance sheet (at end of period) 7.4288 7.4365

EUR 1 = NOK

Income statement (average) 7.5123 8.0516
Balance sheet (at end of period) 7.2756 7.9515

EUR 1 = PLN

Income statement (average) 21.7574 23.5501
Balance sheet (at end of period) 20.9322 24.7363

Business definitions
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Rating actions

20 August 2002 Standard & Poor’s lowered its long-term counterparty credit and insurer financial
strength ratings on Tryg-Baltica, internationalt forsikringsselsskab A/S and Tryg-
Baltica International (UK) Ltd to BBB from BBB+. The ratings remain on CreditWatch
with negative implications. At the same time S&P revised its CreditWatch implications
on Dansk Kautionsforsikrings-A/S to negative from developing.

20 June 2002 Standard & Poor’s revised the CreditWatch implications on its BBB+ long-term coun-
terparty credit and insurer financial strength ratings on Tryg-Baltica, internationalt
forsikringsselskab A/S and Tryg-Baltica International (UK) Ltd to negative from
developing. The rating of Dansk Kautionsforsikrings-A/S remains unchanged.

19 June 2002 Moody’s downgraded its insurance financial strength rating of Tryg Forsikring from
A1 to A3.

Ratings

Moody’s S & P Fitch
BSFR Short Long Short Long Indiv. Short Long

Nordea Bank Finland Plc B P–1 Aa3 A–1 A+ B F1+ AA–
Nordea Bank Sverige AB (publ) B P–1 Aa3 A–1 A+ B F1+ AA–
Nordea Bank Danmark A/S B P–1 Aa3 A–1 A+ B F1+ AA–
Nordea Bank Norge ASA B– P–1 Aa3 A–1 A+ B F1+ AA–
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ) P–1 Aa3 A–1
Nordea Kredit Realkreditaktieselskab Aa1
Norgeskreditt AS P–1 A1
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Nordea Group
Main legal structure 31 December 2002

Legal structure

Nordea Bank
Sweden AB

(publ)
Sweden

Various
subsidiaries

Various
subsidiaries

Various
subsidiaries

Nordea Bank
Norge ASA

Norway

Nordea Bank
Finland Plc

Finland

Nordea
Securities AB

Sweden

Nordea Asset
Management

AB
Sweden

Nordea AB (publ)
Sweden

Nordea Bank
Danmark A/S

Denmark

Various
subsidiaries

Various
subsidiaries

Nordea Life
Assurance I
Sweden AB

(publ)
Sweden

Nordea Life
Assurance II
Sweden AB

(publ)
Sweden

Nordea 
Liv Holding
Norge AS
Norway

Nordea Life
Holding A/S

Danmark

Vesta Liv
Holding A/S

Norway

Various
subsidiaries

Various
subsidiaries

Nordea Pension
Danmark,

Livforsikrings-
selskab A/S

Denmark

Various
subsidiaries
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Hans Dalborg
Chairman
Board member since 1998. 
Born 1941. Board chairman of the
Royal Swedish Opera, Uppsala
University, Young Enterprise Swe-
den and the Norwegian-Swedish
Chamber of Commerce. Board
member of Axel Johnson AB, AB
Svenska Spel, the Stockholm Con-
cert Hall Foundation. Member of
EFR – European Financial Services
Round Table and IVA – Royal
Swedish Academy of Engineering
Sciences. 
Shareholding: 40,760 Nordea

Board of Directors

Timo Peltola
Vice Chairman
Board member since 1998. 
Born 1946. Chief Executive Officer
of Huhtamäki Oyj. Chairman of
the Supervisory Board of Ilmari-
nen Mutual Pension Insurance
Company and of Instrumen-
tarium Abp. Member of the Super-
visory Boards of the Finnish
Cultural Foundation and the
Finnish Fair Corporation.
Shareholding: 5,187 Nordea

Kjell Aamot
Board member since 2001. 
Born 1950. Chief Executive Officer
of Schibsted ASA. 
Board chairman of Aftenposten
AS, Verdens Gang AS, Schibsted
TV & Film AS, Schibsted Print
Media AS, Schibsted Multimedia
AS.
Shareholding: 0 Nordea

Dan Andersson
Board member since 1998. 
Born 1948. Chief economist at the
Swedish Trade Union Federation.
Board member of Tredje AP-
fonden, AMF Pension Fond-
förvaltning AB, Arbetsmarknads-
försäkringar, pensionsförsäkrings-
aktiebolag och Arbetsmarknads-
försäkringar, ömsesidigt kredit-
försäkringsbolag.
Shareholding: 0 Nordea

Edward Andersson
Board member since 1999. 
Born 1933. Professor Emeritus. 
Board member of Helvar Merca
Corporation and Suomi Life
Insurance Company. Chairman of
Grankulla City Council, Sigrid
Juselius Foundation, Ella and
Georg Ehrnrooth’s Foundation
and Föreningen Konstsamfundet. 
Shareholding: 28,560 Nordea

Harald Arnkværn
Board member since 2001. 
Born 1939. Partner at Advokat-
firmaet Haavind Vislie DA.
Board chairman of AS Vin-
monopolet, Schøyen Gruppen AS
and GIEK Kredittforsikring AS.
Board member of Concordia BV
and Concordia Bus AB (publ).
Chairman of Board of represen-
tatives Orkla ASA.
Shareholding: 0 Nordea

Bertel Finskas
Board member since 2000. 
Born 1948. 
Employee representative. 
Shareholding: 1,400 Nordea

Liv Haug
Board member since 2001. 
Born 1954. 
Employee representative.
Shareholding: 0 Nordea
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Lene Haulrik
Board member since 2000. 
Born 1959. 
Employee representative.
Shareholding: 2,457 Nordea

Claus Høeg Madsen
Board member since 2000. 
Born 1945. Partner at Jonas Bruun
Advokatfirma. Board member of
Genpack A/S, ISS A/S and Singer
Danmark A/S.
Shareholding: 1,803 Nordea

Bernt Magnusson
Board member since 1998. 
Born 1941. Board chairman of
Swedish Match AB and Dyno
Nobel ASA. Board vice chairman
of Net Insight AB. 
Board member of Volvo Car
Corporation, Höganäs AB,
Emtunga International AB.
Adviser to the European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development.
Shareholding: 27,000 Nordea

Jørgen Høeg Pedersen
Board member since 2000. 
Born 1938. Managing Director of
Copenhagen Wholesale Market
for Fruit, Vegetables and Flowers.
Chairman Nordea Danmark
Fonden. Board member of
Ejendomsselskabet Axelborg I/S.
Shareholding: 7,519 Nordea

Kaija Roukala-Hyvärinen
Board member since 2000. 
Born 1953. 
Employee representative.
Shareholding: 135 Nordea

Maija Torkko
Board member since 2002.
Born 1946.
Senior VP and Corporate
Controller, Nokia Corp.
Shareholding: 12,000 Nordea

Shareholdings also include shares held by family members.
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1 Country Senior Executive

Shareholdings also include shares held by family members.

Group Executive Management

Lars G Nordström
Group CEO. 
Born 1943. 
Appointed member 2000. 
Shareholding: 15,000 Nordea.

Christian Clausen
Head of Asset Management & Life. 
Born 1955. 
Appointed member 2001. 
Shareholding: 8,267 Nordea.

Carl-Johan Granvik
Head of Group Credit and Risk
Control, CRO. 
Born 1949. 
Appointed member 2000. 
Shareholding: 4,175 Nordea.

Kari Jordan
Head of Retail Banking. 
Born 1956. 
Appointed member 2002. 
Shareholding: 1,356 Nordea.

Arne Liljedahl1

Head of Group Corporate Centre,
CFO. 
Born 1950. 
Appointed member 2000. 
Shareholding: 11,100 Nordea.

Markku Pohjola1

Head of Group Processing and
Technology, Deputy CEO. 
Born 1948. 
Appointed member 2000. 
Shareholding: 8,080 Nordea.

Tom Ruud1

Head of Corporate and Institutional
Banking. 
Born 1950. 
Appointed member 2001. 
Shareholding: 0 Nordea.

Peter Schütze1

Head of Group Staffs. 
Born 1948. 
Appointed member 2002. 
Shareholding: 7,660 Nordea.



Nordea Annual Report 2002 71

Financial information

Financial reports 2003
Nordea will publish the following 
financial reports during 2003:
January – March 7 May
January – June 20 August 
January – September 29 October 

Investor relations
Investor Relations
SE-105 71 Stockholm, Sweden
Tel: +46 8 614 78 51

Website
All reports and press releases are available on the
Internet at: www.nordea.com

Financial reports published by the Nordea Group
may be ordered via Investor Relations.

The annual reports of Nordea Bank Danmark
A/S, Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Nordea Bank
Finland Plc and Nordea Bank Sverige AB (publ)
can be downloaded at www.nordea.com

The Annual Report 2002
This Annual Report covers Nordea AB (publ) and
pertains to the operations of the Nordea Group,
whose main legal structure is presented on page
63. The original annual report is written in
Swedish. This is an English version thereof.  A
Swedish version may be obtained upon request.

In this Annual Report, the Nordea Group pres-
ents income statements and other financial data
quoted in euro (EUR). 



Nordea AB (publ)
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